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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. CUI Yuzhi (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. ZHU Liang (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Director

Mr. WANG Wenpeng

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Chi Kin
Mr. LU Xiaoma
Mr. JI Yong

AUDIT AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

Mr. WONG Chi Kin (Chairman)
Mr. ]I Yong
Mr. LU Xiaoma

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Jl Yong (Chairman)
Mr. WANG Wenpeng
Mr. WONG Chi Kin

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. CUI Yuzhi (Chairman)
Mr. Jl Yong
Mr. LU Xiaoma

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Mr. WONG Chi Kin (Chairman)
Mr. JI Yong
Mr. CUI Yuzhi
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AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. CUI Yuzhi
Sir KWOK Siu Man KR

COMPANY SECRETARY

Sir KWOK Siu Man KR

LEGAL ADVISORS

Ince & Co
AlIBright Law Offices

REGISTERED OFFICE

The offices of Osiris International Cayman Limited
Suite #4-210, Governors Square

23 Lime Tree Bay Avenue

P.O. Box 3231 |

Grand Cayman KY-1209

Cayman Islands

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS

Room 1106, Block A, Phase |
Innovation Technology Plaza
Tianan Digital City
Chegongmiao, Futian District
Shenzhen

China

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 6, I/F, Trust Centre
912 Cheung Sha Wan Road
Lai Chi Kok

Kowloon

Hong Kong
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ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited HERES RN ESATER A A
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Tricor Investor Services Limited HERSFBETARAA

| 7/F, Far East Finance Centre BE

16 Harcourt Road BB 65

Hong Kong BEReBPOI7E

PRINCIPAL BANKERS FEFREIT

(in alphabetical order) (FENEFHEZ))

Bank of China, Shenzhen branch R ERITIRN DT

China Merchants Bank, Guangzhou branch BRERITEM DT

China Merchants Bank, Hongkong branch BERITEE DT

China Merchants Bank, Shenzhen branch BT RIS 1T

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Hongkong branch [EQRITEEDTT
COMPANY’S WEBSITE AGIE N

www.forgame.com.cn www.forgame.com.cn

STOCK CODE ON THE MAIN BOARD OF THE STOCK ERBERZMERDAERRGLR

EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED

484 484
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Financial Highlights
MBRE '

HRSERRAMEEKER

Year Ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—HLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—ZE-= —E-— —Eo—F ZE-FTF E—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥Frr AREFT ARETFrT AREFT AREFT
Revenue A 60,172 114,116 142,136 53,560 98,283
Gross profit EF 9,041 5,773 13,601 12,960 74,445
(Loss)/profit for the year FA(EE) a7 (17,617) (20,107) 31,581 (38,173) (95932)
Non-IFRSs Measures JE BRI FR B 75 3R 5 E B
iTE
— EBITDA® for the year — ENEBITDAM 9,667 803 32,109 (32,150) (99,142)
— Adjusted EBITDA® - FNLERE
for the year ERITDA® (3,909) 323 (13,420) (32,330) (74.281)
Notes: B 5E:

()] EBITDA means earnings before interests, taxes, depreciation and amortisation.

(2)  The Group defines adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA excluding share-based
compensation, investment related gains or losses and non-recurring events. For
details of EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA, please refer to the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis — Non-IFRSs Measures — EBITDA and
Adjusted EBITDA" in this annual report.

(1) ERITDARERETFIE - Bi1E - EREHEATOFE -

) AEBEBLEAZLERITDA REBIIBRAKRG BERD
e REHBREXNEEUARELCEZTEYEY
EBITDA ° HBRIEBITDAR AL AREBITDARIFFE « F2H
RERIERETHEDN — IEEBRI RS LR 2
EBITDA M AL FA#EERITDA | — &7 ©

EWERERAT FEHE023 D
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Financial Highlights

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL A& B KRR R
POSITION
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—=—-= T T —ZB-TFE —T—AF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Frr AREFT ARETFrT AREFT AREFT
Assets BE
Non-current assets IERENEE 201,323 267,267 55,391 122,765 149,788
Current assets MENEE 454,442 456,750 558,004 555,407 663,570
Total assets EEHAE 655,765 724,017 713,395 678,172 813,358
Equity and liabilities EzRkaE
Total equity R 590,274 643,207 636,656 611,968 663,963
Non-current liabilities FEREBEE 1,282 2,498 5,752 8,001 22,614
Current liabilities EAaE 64,209 78,312 70,987 58,203 126,781
Total liabilities BEAE 65,491 80,810 76,739 66,204 149,395
Total equity and liabilities EaRkEERR 655,765 724,017 713,395 678,172 813,358
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OVERVIEW

Despite the end of the COVID-19 pandemic as a public health emergency,
the world economy has still been suffering from a series of interacting
shocks including a new round of the Palestinian-Israeli conflict, the protracted
stalemate in the Russo-Ukrainian war and international energy crises, soaring
inflation, tightening debt and climate emergency arising therefrom since 2023.
The growth momentum of global economies, including the United States (“U.
S.”), the European Union and other developed economies, has weakened,
and China has also suffered multiple adverse effects, especially U.S. sanctions
and supply chain disruptions. Due to the complex domestic economic
environment and reduced demand, the Group's business faced continuous
challenges during the year ended 3| December 2023. The Board and the
management reviewed the internal operation and management strategies
on a regular basis and proactively dealt with past issues while continuously
improving corporate governance. Under such circumstances, we continued to
invest and develop the online gaming, mobile gaming and electronic device
trading businesses, and improved our management and operation efficiency.
In the year ended 3| December 2023, the Group recorded revenue of
approximately RMB60.2 million, representing a decrease of 47.3% compared
to last year. Such revenue is less than expected, but management is fully
confident that operating revenues, particularly in the gaming business, will
grow significantly and return to more favourable levels in 2024 and beyond.
Due to the direct impact of the payback period of game research and the
pricing cycle of electronic storage products, the Group recorded a loss of

approximately RMB17.6 million during the year.

Chairman’s Statement
FTEREESE

BE

HACOVID-19EBERAREALFEEHELER -
BREZZEZ=FUK  2EH—HENER - B5F
REFABERES|IFNEEEREHK  BIRAA - &
BWBEARRRESMAE-RINEBELENEE -
BYHALEEIVE - DICERBIEER - A
FREFRBIERIDERS - PRENIINZETHF
Z . HRIREEA SR REEEOEE o ARERL
BREEMEATRRY  BEZT_=F1+=-A=+
—HIEFE ASEEBERITERE - EF2 KT
19 B T HATE18 P 2 QAL TR S IS - A TS A B TR 3B 1
BRI FRENREARDAEKE -« ERBERT + A%
BB AN ERASEE - FHRESMNETESN
% UREEELENS HE-ZT-=F+=-A
=+—HIEFE  AEESHBBRANARE02BE
TC o MEFRAD473% o WRATKRIEE - BERER
RAKED EZTZWFRAR - EERARKRR
BEEEFBAGRESR  RERERBHNKE - B
RERAER AR RBERNE FFREERERE
HOWEERETE  ASEEIAFABBOARE 7688
—
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHREE

OUTLOOK

As an ancient Chinese poem goes, “The ocean is boundless for fish to leap

at will, and the sky is unlimited for birds to fly at ease”. Looking ahead to
2024, the Group will face various opportunities and challenges. Although the
pandemic situation in China has stabilized, there are still multiple challenges
facing economic recovery, coupled with market instability factors, such as
geopolitical tensions, international trade frictions and fluctuations or shrinkage

of demand in the economic environment, which will continue to affect the

Company’s development.

Under such circumstances, the Group will continue to strengthen internal
management, improve efficiency, reduce costs and actively conduct business
expansion. At the same time, the Group will continue to increase the
proportion of the game business, combined with the introduction and
application of new technologies such as Al, to improve product quality and
technical standards and explore markets. In addition, the Group will also
continue to improve long-term and stable investment channels, as well as
optimize the business structure and promote business expansion in the

gaming field to achieve stable and long-term sustainable development.

APPRECIATION

The Board would like to express its sincere gratitude to the Shareholders,
the management team, employees, business partners and customers of the

Group for their continued support and contribution to the Group.

CUI Yuzhi

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended

31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in developing and publishing domestic and
overseas webgames and mobile games and trading of electronic devices and

semiconductors in the PRC.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note |9 to the

Financial Statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 3| December 2023 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income on page 99 and page 100 of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 is
set out in the sections headed “Financial Highlights”, “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 5 and page 6, page 7

and page 8 and pages 44 to 55 of this annual report, respectively.

Description of principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing
can be found in the sections headed “Report of Directors — Contractual
Arrangements — D. Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements and
the actions taken by the Company to mitigate the risks” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis — Risks and Hurdles” on pages 29 to 33 and page 54
of this annual report, respectively. An analysis of the Group's performance
during the year using financial key performance indicators is set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 44 to
55 of this annual report. An indication of likely future development in the
Group's business is set out in the sections headed "“Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 8 and page 55 of this
report. In addition, the Group's environmental, social and governance report
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Environmental, Social and

Governance Report”) can be found in the appendix to this annual report.

Report of Directors
EEGHRE

EZeMAREAFRERNAEFHEE T _=F+
“A=T-ALFENKEZEHUIBTRE -

FEXK

AEETZNPTEREEAREINEREBR LD
BEROMERET  UREFRUERFERES -

ARAMEEXBRAREZR - FATZME AN
TEXBHE  SRPBERKRMEE9

ES

AEEBE_T_=—F+t_A=+t—"BLFENEE
BHNARFERFIIENFE 100 APTH & FFiEE L H A2
HEWEKRA °

e qe]

REBHE T _—F+_A=+—HBIEFEZEH
CED RSN AFREARFCR - F7TAREIAR
FHMAZESANMBRE] [TEREEIRIERE
ERmET IZH -

FRAEEEREHEN T ERRMTHREZHE
AR RERAFREVAEEBAREAANEES
BE-AOLH— DANLBHERRER AR KRR FRE
KRR PRI ATTE | R ERE & wED T — ER &
WE =5 - ERERYBHREREESINAKEE
—ERENMAENAFREMBEFSSANEEE
A mEDH B o ARBEBARRABROTFREAR
AREFBARFESAN ETFEREE IRIEREN®
BT |ZE o pHN  AEBBE_T_=F+_A=
T—HLEFEMNRR dHeaREARE(ERE - 4g
REREE ) HNAFROME -
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Report of Directors
EEEHE

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 3| December 2023 are set out in note 33 to the Financial

Statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the year ended
3| December 2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity on page 103 and note 35 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had distributable reserves of
approximately RMB590.2 million (as at 31 December 2022: RMB643.1
million), none of which had been proposed as final dividend for the year

ended 31 December 2023.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

A summary of the condensed consolidated results and financial position for
the last five financial years of the Group is set out on page 5 and page 6 of

this annual report.

10  FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2023 Annual Report
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make charitable donations during the year ended 3|
December 2023.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property and equipment of the Group during
the year ended 3| December 2023 are set out in note |6 to the Financial

Statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of borrowings of the Group during the year ended 3| December

2023 are set out in note 29 to the Financial Statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant unrecorded

contingent liabilities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the amount
of public float as required under the Listing Rules during the year ended 3|
December 2023 and as at the Latest Practicable Date.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the laws
of the Cayman Islands, and there is no restriction against such rights which
would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the

existing Shareholders.

Report of Directors
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Report of Directors
EEEHE

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the

Latest Practicable Date were:

Executive Directors

Mr. CUI Yuzhi (Chairman and appointed as Chief Executive Officer
with effect from 8 December 2023)
Mr. ZHU Liang (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Director

Mr. HAN Jun (resigned with effect from 8 December 2023)
Mr. WANG Wenpeng (appointed with effect from 8 December 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Chi Kin
Mr. LU Xiaoma
Mr. JI Yong

Pursuant to article 99(3) of the Articles, any Director so appointed to fill a
casual vacancy by the Board shall hold office only until the next following
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.
Any Director so appointed as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company
and shall then be eligible for re-election. Accordingly, Mr. WANG Wenpeng,
shall hold office until the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and shall then,
being eligible, offer himself for re-election as Director at the Annual General

Meeting.

Pursuant to article 104(1) of the Articles, at each annual general meeting
of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less
than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years.
Accordingly, Mr. Cui Yuzhi and Mr. Ji Yong shall retire from office by rotation
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and being eligible, have offered

themselves for re-election as Directors at the Annual General Meeting.

12  FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2023 Annual Report
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DIRECTORS” AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the

Group are set out on pages 87 to 92 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company, and each of the Independent Non-executive Directors and the

Non-executive Director has signed an appointment letter with the Company.

The appointment of the Directors, including the Executive Directors, the
Non-executive Director and the Independent Non-executive Directors,
is effective from the respective appointment date for an initial term of
three years and is renewable for a further term of three years. All of these
appointments are subject to the provisions of retirement and rotation of

Directors under the Articles.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting has a service contract or appointment letter with
the Company, which is not determinable within one year without payment

of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE FROM THE
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors (namely Mr. WONG Chi Kin, Mr. LU Xiaoma and Mr. JI Yong)
a confirmation in writing in respect of their respective independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company has reviewed the
independence of each of these Directors and considers all the Independent

Non-executive Directors to be independent.

Report of Directors
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Report of Directors
EEGHRE

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company had any interests and short positions at the relevant time being
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which
were required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or (c) to be notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 3| December 2023, the following are the persons/entities, other than
the Directors or chief executives of the Company at the relevant time,
who had interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares as
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company

pursuant to Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:

ESRIETBAEBRERSG - HERO RE#ER
FHERRAR

RZTE-_=ZF+-A=+—H  BMEZFERTETHK
ABRIBRAR FR AR Bl sk A ARE A B (E & R F
# M EAE EBIEXVER) BIRR D - R ok B F P
BREBEESFRABKINEXVEETRFESHEEME
RNA T RE R m kB (BIEREE S R E K
PlIERAREEEEIR AEENEERAR) * bR
S %&Hﬁiﬂwu%zszﬂ BRI A & S
NE KRB - H()RIBEESFRIEMNSRAR R
Bt FTE M ROR A o

TERRRRORAABROOERR AR

R-ZTE-_=ZF+-"A=+—H  UTAL EEAXAR
AN AR MR E B E BITHA BRRIN IR 48
AR P EEERERRIEES RBAEIEAIEXVEE
BOREBEARFFEN R S Mmook R

Approximate

Number and percentage of

Name Capacity/Nature of interest class of Shares shareholding
=L SO/ERNE vgrig 4= DSE-F:l MAORETDL
Managecorp Limited(" Trustee 29,437,335 20.06%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
SN 29,437,3350%
ERRGFR)
Foga Group!" Beneficial Owner 21,673,338 14.77%

14  FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2023 Annual Report
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Number and

Report of Directors
EEEHRE

Approximate

percentage of

Name Capacity/Nature of interest class of Shares shareholding
=L SO/ERENE B8 B K 85 BMOREFTD
WANG Dongfeng Founder of the Discretionary Trust and 21,673,338 14.77%
Interest of Controlled Corporation(” Ordinary Shares
(long position)
ERE RREFAMARZIEEERO 21,673,3380%
ERER(FR)
Beneficial Owner® 1,500,800 1.02%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
BExBEAAO 1,500,8008%
ERR(ER)
Foga Holdings" Beneficial Owner 7,763,997 5.29%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
BExBEAA 77639978
EREFR)
LIAO Dong" Founder of the Discretionary Trust and 7,763,997 5.29%
Interest of Controlled Corporation Ordinary Shares
(long position)
BRO RRERAIMARZIEEZEELS 77639978%
ERRGFR)
Foga Internet Development® Beneficial Owner 7,785,700 531%

BHREAA

Bl

Ordinary Shares
(long position)
7,785,700/%
EER(ER)

EWERERAT FEHs023 15
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Report of Directors

Number and

Approximate

percentage of

Name Capacity/Nature of interest class of Shares shareholding
=L SO/ERENE B8 B K 85 BMOREFTD
YANG Tao Interest of Controlled Corporation® 7,785,700 531%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
158 Ry A B 7,785,7008%
ERR(ER)
Beneficial Owner® 1,340,000 0.91%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
BExBEAAO ,340,0008%
ERR(ER)
KongZhong Corporation® Beneficial Owner 10,202,168 6.95%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
22200 BExBEAA 10,202,1688%
ERERFR)
Linkedsee Limited® Interest of Controlled Corporation 10,202,168 6.95%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
Ry A 10,202,168/%
ERRGFR)
Linkedsee Group Limited® Interest of Controlled Corporation 10,202,168 6.95%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
Ry A 10,202,168/%
ERRGFR)
WANG Leilei® Interest of Controlled Corporation 10,202,168 6.95%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
ITEEFO Ry AE s 10,202,168/%
EREGFR)
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Approximate

percentage of

Name Capacity/Nature of interest class of Shares shareholding
=L SO/ERENE B8 B K 85 BMOREFTD
Shanghai Changhui Internet Interest of Controlled Corporation 10,202,168 6.95%
Technology Co., Limited*® Ordinary Shares
(long position)
LEREEBREMRBRARO  SEAEER 10,202, 1 680%
ERERER)
Hexie Chengzhang Phase I Interest of Controlled Corporation 10,202,168 6.95%
(YIWU) Investment Center Ordinary Shares
(Limited Partnership)*® (long position)
MERR_H(ES) RS 10,202, 1680%
BREHRL(BRER)® ERERER)
China Create Capital Limited Beneficial Owner 9,584,000 6.53%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
FRIBIEARBRAF BExEAA 9,584,000/%
ERERFR)
BASEWAY CO LTD® Beneficial Owner 9,614,760 6.55%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
BExBEAA 9.614,7608%
ERRFR)
GU Wei® Interest of Controlled Corporation 9,614,760 6.55%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
EEHR© Ry AE s 9.614,7608%
ERRGFR)
Beneficial Owner 3,073,000 2.09%

BHREAA

Bl

Ordinary Shares
(long position)
3,073,000/%
EE(ER)
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Foga Group is wholly owned by Managecorp Limited as the trustee of Wang
Trust. Wang Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Mr. WANG Dongfeng, who
is its settlor and protector, with Managecorp Limited as trustee on |5 March
2013. The beneficiary objects of Wang Trust include Mr. WANG Dongfeng
and certain of his family members. Mr. WANG Dongfeng and Managecorp
Limited are taken to be interested in 21,673,338 Shares held by Foga Group. In
addition, Foga Holdings is wholly owned by Managecorp Limited as the trustee
of Hao Dong Trust. Hao Dong Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Mr. LIAO
Dong, who is its settlor and protector, with Managecorp Limited as trustee on
|5 March 2013. The beneficiary object of Hao Dong Trust is Mr. LIAO Dong
himself. Mr. LIAO Dong and Managecorp Limited are taken to be interested in
7,763,997 Shares held by Foga Holdings.

Mr. WANG Dongfeng was granted 500,000 RSUs under the Restricted Share
Unit Scheme in 2016, all of which vested during the period from | December
2016 to | June 2018. Mr. WANG Dongfeng bought an aggregate of 850,800
Shares during the period from 26 June 2017 to 13 July 2017. He was further
granted 300,000 RSUs under the Restricted Share Unit Scheme in 2018, 50,000
of which vested on | December 2018 and 250,000 of which were cancelled
on 30 June 2019. The Company further granted 250,000 RSUs to Mr. WANG
Dongfeng under the Restricted Share Unit Scheme in 2019, 50,000 of which
vested on | July 2019, 50,000 vested on | January 2020, and 150,000 were
cancelled.

Foga Internet Development is wholly owned by Mr. YANG Tao. Mr. YANG
Tao is taken to be interested in the 7,785,700 Shares held by Foga Internet
Development Ltd.

Mr. YANG Tao was granted 1,340,000 RSUs under the Restricted Share Unit
Scheme in 2016, all of which vested during the period from | December 2016
to | June 2018.

KongZhong Corporation is interested in 10,202,168 Shares, representing
approximately 6.95% of the issued share capital of the Company. KongZhong
Corporation is 100% owned by Linkedsee Limited, which in turn is 73.13%
owned by Linkedsee Group Limited. Shanghai Changhui Internet Technology
Co., Limited* (/& FEE B MR BR A A holds 57.32% of equity interest
of Linkedsee Group Limited. Beijing Wuxing Rongcheng Technology Co.,
Limited* (At RAE@FHEHEEREE QA holds 100% equity interest of
Shanghai Changhui Internet Technology Co., Limited.* (_E/8 % & B B @8R A
FR A &]). Beijing Wuxing Rongcheng Technology Co., Ltd* (Jb R F1 2 s B
BREMTRR]) is 51.11% owned by Mr. WANG Leilei and 40.89% owned by
Hexie Chengzhang Phase II (YIWU) Investment Center (Limited Partnership)*
(MR R ZH(ER)RER O (BRER)). Hexie Chengzhang Phase Il (YIWU)
Investment Center (Limited Partnership)* (R R_HIES)REF L (B
RERE)) is 3% held by Beijing Hexie Xinrong Investment Center (Limited
Partnership)* (L RFGERLIZE PO (BRER)). Beijiing Hexie Xinrong
Investment Center (Limited Partnership)* (At RFIFETREIZE R LERERE))
is 0.1% owned by Hexie Tianming Investment Management (Beijing) Co., Ltd.* (A
RABREERALR)ARAR).
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6) BASEWAY CO LTD is wholly owned by Ms. GU Wei. Ms. GU Wei is taken to
be interested in the 9,614,760 Shares held by BASEWAY CO LTD.

* The English name(s) has/have been translated from its/their respective Chinese
name(s) and is/are for identification purpose only.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company was
not aware of any other person/entity (other than the Directors or chief
executives of the Company at the relevant time) who/which had an interest
or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the
SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the Latest
Practicable Date was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or holding
company or any subsidiary of the Company's holding company, a party to
any arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouses
or children under the age of |18 was granted any right to subscribe for the
equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate or

had exercised any such right.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save for their respective interests in the Group (including the PRC
Operational Entities), none of the Directors was interested in any business
which competes or is likely to compete with the businesses of the Group

for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Contractual Arrangements — F.
Chapter [4A Implications” in this annual report, during the year ended
31 December 2023, no related party transactions disclosed in note 39 to
the Financial Statements constituted a connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction which should be disclosed pursuant to Rules [4A.49

and [4A.71 of the Listing Rules.

LOAN AGREEMENT

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 19
September 2019 and the section headed "“Connected Transactions — The
Loan Agreement” in the 2020 annual report of the Company (2020 Annual
Report”) in relation to, among others, the Loan Agreement entered between
Xigua Huyu and Tianjin Wanke as the borrowers, Beijing Yidong and
KongZhong Youyi as the guarantors, and Yunke (Jiujiang Yunke Information
Technology Consulting Co., Ltd*, formerly known as Jiujiang Yunke Internet
Microfinance Co., Ltd.*) as the lender. As disclosed in the 2020 Annual
Report, the Company made full impairment loss of RMBI5,750,000, being
the amount of the outstanding principal and accumulated interest of the
Loan, for the year ended 3| December 2020. Unless otherwise stated
herein, capitalised terms used in this section shall have the same meaning as
those defined in the abovementioned announcement and the 2020 Annual

Report.

Following Yunke's multiple attempts to recover the Loan through legal means
(including but not limited to issuing written reminders, filing an application for
arbitration with the Beihai Arbitration Commission and obtaining a mediation
letter from the said institution) and the Company’s negotiations with the
other parties to the Loan, in order to reduce the Company's losses, the
Company agreed to a settlement amount of RMB4 million which was paid
by KongZhong Youyi on 8 December 2023. The settlement amount was
determined and negotiated on an arm’s length basis between the Company,
Beijing Yidong and KongZhong Youyi with reference to the likelihood of
recovery of the Loan based on the Company's independent background
checks carried out on the guarantors and borrowers, the estimated legal
costs involved in taking further legal actions against the debtors in lieu of
settlement, and the financial benefit of receiving an upfront payment of the
settlement amount. The Directors and the Audit Committee consider that
the terms of the settlement are fair and reasonable and in the interests of

the Shareholders and the Company as a whole.

* The English name(s) has/have been translated from its/their respective Chinese
name(s) and is/are for identification purpose only.
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As Kongzhong ceased to be a substantial Shareholder of the Company after
the completion of Share Buy-back and cancellation on |9 February on 2021,
the settlement did not constitute connected transactions of the Company

under Chapter |4A of the Listing Rules anymore.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Investment activities in the PRC by foreign investors and foreign-owned
enterprises shall comply with the Foreign Investment Law, the Regulation
on Implementing the Foreign Investment Law and the Special Administrative
Measures (Negative List) for the Access of Foreign Investment (the
“Negative List”). According to the Negative List, the webgame and mobile
game businesses currently operated by the Feidong PRC Operational
Entities, namely Feiyin, Weidong and Jieyou, involve in value-added
telecommunications services (except for e-commerce) and internet cultural
business (except for music), and restricted or prohibited foreign investors to

invest in.

Furthermore, according to the Regulations for the Administration of
Foreign-Invested Telecommunications Enterprises, which were issued on
I'l' December 2001 by the State Council and amended on |0 September
2008, foreign investors are not allowed to hold more than 50% of the
equity interests of a company providing value-added telecommunications
services, including internet content provision services. Internet content
provision services are classified as value-added telecommunications
businesses, and a commercial operator of such services must obtain an
ICP Licence from the appropriate telecommunications authorities in order
to carry on any commercial internet content provision operations in the
PRC. A foreign investor who invests in a value-added telecommunications
business in the PRC must possess prior experience in operating value-
added telecommunications businesses and a proven track record of business

operations overseas (the "Qualification Requirement”).

As advised by the Company’'s PRC legal advisers, as at 31 December 2023,
no applicable PRC laws, regulations or rules had provided clear guidance or
interpretation on the Qualification Requirement, and there was no update to

the Qualification Requirement.
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Feidong Contractual Arrangements

In order for the Company to be able to carry on its businesses in the
PRC, including webgame and mobile game businesses, the Group has
in place the Feidong Contractual Arrangements between Feidong, on
one hand, the Feidong PRC Operational Entities and their respective
shareholders on the other hand, which enable the Company to
exercise control over the Feidong PRC Operational Entities, and to
consolidate the financial results of Feidong PRC Operational Entities in
the results of the Company under IFRSs as if they were wholly-owned

subsidiaries of the Company.

The table below sets out a simplified structure of the Feidong

Contractual Arrangements:

Company
AR
100%
A
E— Foga Tech
BHN
100%
oriwihore Contractual
A
. arrangements
BRI
Feidong | _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _
JEF)
I
| Contractual
| arrangements
: BHRILHE
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Summary of the major terms of the structured contracts under the

Feidong Contractual Arrangements

The following sets out a summary of the major terms of the
structured contracts under the Feidong Contractual Arrangements

which were in place during the year ended 3| December 2023:

Exclusive options agreements dated June and July 2012, which
were amended and restated on |2 September 2013, were
entered into between each of the Feidong PRC Operational
Entities, their respective shareholders, and Feidong, under
which Feidong was granted an exclusive irrevocable option to
purchase from the respective shareholders some or all of their
equity interests in the Feidong PRC Operational Entities at any

time, at a nominal amount subject to applicable PRC laws.

ii. Exclusive business cooperation agreements dated 21 June
2012, which were amended and restated on |2 September
2013, were entered into between each of the Feidong PRC
Operational Entities and Feidong, under which each of the
Feidong PRC Operational Entities agreed to engage Feidong
as its exclusive provider of business support, technical and
consulting services, including network support, business
consultations, intellectual property development, equipment
leasing, marketing consultancy, system integration, product
research and development and system maintenance, in
exchange for a monthly service fee. The monthly fee is, subject
to Feidong's adjustment, equal to 100% of the net income of
the Feidong PRC Operational Entities and may also include
accumulated earnings of the Feidong PRC Operational Entities
from previous financial years. Pursuant to the exclusive business
cooperation agreements, Feidong also has the exclusive and
proprietary rights to all intellectual properties developed by the
Feidong PRC Operational Entities.
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Share pledge agreements dated July 2012, which were
amended and restated on |2 September 2013, were entered
into between each of the Feidong PRC Operational Entities,
its respective shareholders, and Feidong, under which the
shareholders of the Feidong PRC Operational Entities pledged
all of their respective equity interests in the Feidong PRC
Operational Entities to Feidong as collateral security for all of
their payments due to Feidong and to secure performance of
their obligations under the above-mentioned exclusive business

cooperation agreements.

Irrevocable powers of attorney were executed in June and July
2012, which were amended and restated on |2 September
2013, executed by each of the shareholders of the Feidong PRC
Operational Entities to appoint Feidong as the exclusive agent
and attorney to act on their behalf on all matters concerning
the Feidong PRC Operational Entities and to exercise all of
their rights as registered shareholders of the Feidong PRC
Operational Entities.

For details of the Contractual Arrangements, please refer to the

section headed “Contractual Arrangements’ in the Prospectus.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, (i) there were no new

contractual arrangements entered into, renewed or reproduced

between the Group and the Feidong PRC Operational Entities,

(ii) there were no material changes in the Feidong Contractual

Arrangements or the circumstances under which they were adopted,

and (iii) none of the structured contracts under the Feidong

Contractual Arrangement mentioned above has been unwound

as none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of structured

contracts under the Feidong Contractual Arrangements has been

removed.
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Particulars of the Feidong PRC Operational Entities as at 31

December 2023:

Name of the Feidong

PRC Operational Entities

Type of legal entity/
place of establishment

and operation

N @\

N T )
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FEPECEERN _FE-_=5+=-A=+—8H

ZEEE

Registered owners

Business activities

FBFE FEERERR
REmBEE BROL R AR 3 B BREAA EREH
Feiyin Limited liability 41.10% by Mr. Huang Development of webgames and
company/the PRC 24.70% by Mr. Liao mobile games
23.75% by Mr. Wang
9.50% by Mr. Zhuang
0.95% by Mr. Yang
FE BREEAR/FE BILERHA1.10% FEER R BBz
B IR B 24.70%
ERERB2375%
ST AR5 9.50%
BRERB095%
Weidong Limited liability 41.10% by Mr. Huang Development and operation of
company/the PRC 24.70% by Mr. Liao webgames and mobile games
23.75% by Mr. Wang
9.50% by Mr. Zhuang
0.95% by Mr. Yang
HE BEREERE,FEH BRERE41.10% R RREHAE BB IR

B4R H2470%
ERAERH2375%
R ERB9.50%
R EFFF0.95%
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Type of legal entity/

Name of the Feidong place of establishment
PRC Operational Entities and operation Registered owners Business activities
FEBHE EEERER
REBRER PR AR R BRBEEA EXED
Jieyou Limited liability 48.61% by Mr. Zhuang Development and operation of
company/the PRC 20.94% by Mr. Wang webgames and mobile games
17.13% by Mr. Liao
12.37% by Mr. Huang
0.95% by Mr. Yang
s BEREERTH HELERH861% FEMEEEERB B
TR R 2094%
BRERHIT.13%
BRERE1237%
B RERH095%
The Feidong PRC Operational Entities are significant to the Group FHPRLEERHASENSBEEE @ k)
as they hold certain licences and permits that are essential to the HREFEHASETEFRLEERE R REE
operations of the webgame and mobile game businesses in the PRC BREBE 2 THRRBRFTAIE - WICPEFA]
of the Group, such as the ICP Licence, the Network Cultural Business PSRRI BB EREFAE o
Permit, in the PRC. In addition, most of the intellectual property rights IEoh - SEB R EIS S BRI A EMEKE
relating to such businesses, including software copyrights, trademarks, WARED MBERE - BEEERE  BR  F
patents and domain names, are held by the Feidong PRC Operational R IHE o
Entities.
The Feidong PRC Operational Entities have undertaken to the FHFELEEREDRARRARE - PR
Company that, for so long as the Shares are listed on the Stock RETETHME - SESRREEERERAEEE
Exchange, the Feidong PRC Operational Entities will provide the BERANARZEAMZHAGHEBRE - HARQ
Group's management and the auditors of the Company with full R EEIEEENTHE THETHNR S8
access to its relevant records for the purpose of procedures to be BiRT o

carried out by the auditors of the Company on the transactions

contemplated under the Feidong Contractual Arrangements.
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Requirements related to the Contractual Arrangements (other than

relevant foreign ownership restrictions)

As advised by the Company’s PRC legal advisers, requirements
related to the Contractual Arrangements (other than relevant foreign

ownership restrictions) include:

Pursuant to Article 52 of the PRC Contract Law, a contract
is void under any of the following five circumstances: (i) the
contract is concluded through the use of fraud or coercion
by one party and thereby damages the interest of the state,
(if) malicious collusion is conducted to damage the interest of
the state, a collective unit or a third party, (iii) the contract
damages the public interest, (iv) an illegitimate purpose is
concealed under the guise of legitimate acts or (v) the contract
violates the mandatory provisions of the laws or administrative
regulations. As advised by the Company's PRC legal advisers,
the relevant terms of the Contractual Arrangements do not
fall within any of the aforementioned five circumstances, and in
particular, would not be deemed as “concealing an illegitimate
purpose under the guise of legitimate acts” under Article 52 of
the PRC Contract Law, and do not violate the provisions of the
PRC Contract Law or the General Principles of the PRC Civil
Law. However, there are substantial uncertainties regarding the
interpretation and application of PRC laws and future PRC laws
and regulations, and there can be no assurance that any PRC
government agency will not take a view that is contrary to or

otherwise different from the above.
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According to the Contractual Arrangements, when a dispute
arises, any party to the agreements may submit such dispute
to the China International Economic and Trade Arbitration
Commission for settlement pursuant to the effective arbitration
rules at that time, and the arbitration award shall be final
and binding on the parties. Arbitration tribunal may decide
compensation for the equity interests and property ownership
of the on-shore subsidiaries, decide enforceable remedy or
demand liquidation of relevant business or enforceable asset
transfer. Any party is entitled to request the competent court
to execute the arbitration award when it comes into effect. The
courts in Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands also have the right
to grant or execute awards of arbitration tribunal and make
decision or execute temporary remedy on the equity interests
and property ownership of the on-shore subsidiaries. However,
pursuant to the laws of China, in the settlement of dispute, the
arbitration tribunals shall not be entitled to grant an injunctive
order to protect the property ownership or equity interests of
the on-shore subsidiaries, and shall not issue a temporary or
final liquidation order directly. Moreover, the interim remedies
or orders granted by the off-shore courts, including Hong Kong
and the Cayman Islands, may not be recognised or enforced
by the courts in China. Therefore, such terms in the above

agreements may not be enforceable under the laws of China.

Revenue and assets subject to the structured contracts under the

Contractual Arrangements

The revenue and the total asset value of the Feidong PRC Operational

Entities subject to the Feidong Contractual Arrangements amounted

to approximately RMBI2.0 million for the year ended 31 December

2023 and approximately RMB240.2 million as at 31 December 2023,

respectively.
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D.  Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements and the actions  D.

taken by the Company to mitigate the risks

Risk associated with the Contractual Arrangements

BRARHEBRR
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Mitigation actions taken by the Company

RN BRI Z R ERRITE

If the PRC government finds that the underlying
agreements of the Contractual Arrangements that
establish the structure for operating the business of the
Company in the PRC do not comply with PRC laws and
regulations, or if these regulations or their interpretations
change in the future, the Group could be subject to
severe penalties or be forced to relinquish the interests

in those operations.

P ERFERNPERIARREBLEERB LA
LA T 2ERIBETTERBIAEER - Sl
EERREBBERRERED  AAKETRESES
BEAREIR KA REB AR T AR -

X 1>

Pursuant to the relevant exclusive business cooperation
agreements under the Contractual Arrangements, at any time after
the date of such agreements, in the event of any promulgation
or change of any law, regulation or rule of China or any
interpretation or applicable change of such laws, regulations or
rules, the following agreements shall be applicable: If the economic
interests of any party under the agreements suffer a significant
adverse effect directly or indirectly due to the above change of
laws, regulations or rules, the agreements should continue to
operate pursuant to the original terms. Each of the parties shall
obtain a waiver for complying with such change or rule via all
legal channels. If any adverse effect on the economic interests
of any party may not be eliminated according to the relevant
agreement, upon the receipt by the other parties of such notice
from the affected party, all the parties shall promptly discuss and
make all necessary modification to the agreements to preserve the
economic interests of the affected party under the agreement.
REBENZHBET ZAREBREBRERE  ERHEEZLZ
Big  WREEARRER - AXNEATEDER  ERAREN
MOHRKE - FHNEZEER  FRARENHEESER
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Risk associated with the Contractual Arrangements

BHRGERARR

Mitigation actions taken by the Company

AA BRI Z R ERBITE

The Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective
in providing operational control as direct ownership and
the PRC Operational Entities or their shareholders may
fail to perform their obligations under the Contractual

Arrangements.

AT RSB T ER TN EEIEH B
BREEEERERRNELBITERAOLTHT
ZEE -

The Company may lose the ability to use and enjoy
assets held by the PRC Operational Entities that are
important to the operation of the business of the Group
if the PRC Operational Entities declare bankruptcy or

become subject to dissolution or liquidation proceedings.

WP BEEE BB MNEXBBIETER - BIAR
AAREREERRFEHAEEXBELBEALZ
TEKEEREE RS -
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According to the relevant powers of attorney, share pledge
agreements and exclusive business cooperation agreements
under the Contractual Arrangements, the arbitration tribunal
may decide (i) compensation for the equity interests or property
ownership of the PRC Operational Entities or their shareholders,
or (ii) enforceable remedy or to demand bankruptcy of the PRC
Operational Entities or their shareholders for relevant business
or enforceable asset transfer. Any party is entitled to request a
competent court to execute the arbitration award when it comes
into effect.

REGNLHET 2 AREEREE  REERHARERE

BEEBRENARE  MEETUAR()PREEERELHRRD
Pt S R TR E - R()AREG R FIENE
EEBRHERFIRELDSTELLEBIERRBEE - (PR
BORERE - ER— T HERARE EEENER RBEATAH
EHOR -

Pursuant to the relevant exclusive option agreements under the
Contractual Arrangements, in the event of a mandatory liquidation
required by the laws of the PRC, the relevant Feidong PRC
Operational Entities shall sell all of their assets and any residual
interest through a non-reciprocal transfer to the extent permitted
by the laws of the PRC to Feidong or another qualifying entity
designated by Feidong, at the lowest selling price permitted by
applicable laws of the PRC.
REAOTHETZERBRBERRZ @ WHPBDEARENE
TR BER - RIRRSES T RS ERALERSMEE - M
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BHRGERARR
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Mitigation actions taken by the Company

RA TR Z FRERRITE

The Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny
by the PRC tax authorities and additional taxes may be
imposed. A finding that the Group owes additional taxes
could substantially reduce the consolidated net income
of the Group and the value of the investment of the

Shareholders.

BRALHFAFTRTERGHETAERS - S E
EE%EQF%%%% c BOAREEBE BRI AL G EHA
B A AEAE AR BRI B BEARRD

Shareholders of the PRC Operational Entities may
potentially have a conflict of interest with the Group,
and such shareholders may breach their contracts with
the Group, or cause such contracts to be amended in a

manner contrary to the interests of the Group.

TEREERIBRRAGEERFEARBEERE
o MERRRAGEREEAREZMAL - 3k

BEREAREENSREE T NETBREAHD -

As advised by the Company's PRC legal advisers, they took the
view that the Contractual Arrangements will not be challenged by
the PRC tax authorities unless the PRC tax authorities determine
that such transactions are not conducted on an arm'’s length basis,
provided that Feidong and the Feidong PRC Operational Entities
implement the Feidong Contractual Arrangements in accordance
with the terms of the structured contracts.

BIAR R B HBYERBERMER - RERREHNLHETER
FhEMGHEAT R - KIS NFDTELEERAREREE
HaHMIERERIES S NZHE - BRIFhBERBHEAETE R
R G IR N T RAEST o

The shareholders of the PRC Operational Entities have undertaken
to Feidong that during the period when the Contractual
Arrangements remain effective, (i) unless otherwise agreed by
Feidong in writing, the relevant shareholder would not, directly
or indirectly (either on his own account or through any natural
person or legal entity) participate, be interested in, engage in,
acquire or hold (in each case whether as a shareholder, partner,
agent, employee or otherwise) any business which is or may
potentially be in competition with the businesses of the PRC
Operational Entities or any of its affiliates and (ii) any of his
actions or omissions would not lead to any conflict of interest
between him and Feidong (including but not limited to its
shareholders). Furthermore, in the event of the occurrence of a
conflict of interest where Feidong has the sole absolute discretion
to determine whether such conflict arises, he agrees to take any
appropriate actions as instructed by Feidong.
FESEERRRD MIFBEAE - RNABE DR HEEREIRE )
BRIFSEBRTERBE - TRAMBERRTEERIEK(ER
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Risk associated with the Contractual Arrangements

BHRGERARR

Mitigation actions taken by the Company

AA BRI Z R ERBITE

Vi

Vil.

The Group depends on the PRC Operational Entities
to provide certain services that are critical to its
business. The breach or termination of any of these
service agreements or any failure of or significant quality
deterioration in these services could have a material
adverse effect on the business, financial condition and

results of operations of the Group.

AEEKBETESEERRHETHEREM =B
$2 MR7E o (E 3% F AR e B B R AR LE SR e

TAEBRGXEEREFEMEESEHAEE X
% MR R ERBETEATHZE -

The Group conducts its business operation in the PRC
through the PRC Operational Entities by way of the
Contractual Arrangements, but certain of the terms of
the Contractual Arrangements may not be enforceable
under the PRC laws.
REBUEHNRHEAEBTREEERBNPRET
HEBKE  BROTEEE THRFRBTBEDERZA
BREM
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To ensure sound and effective operation of the Group after the
adoption of the Contractual Arrangements, during the period
when the Contractual Arrangements remain effective, the relevant
business units and operation divisions of the Group will report
regularly, no less frequent than on a monthly basis, to the senior
management of the Company on the compliance and performance
conditions under the Contractual Arrangements and other
related matters. In addition, the PRC Operational Entities are not
permitted to terminate the relevant exclusive business cooperation
agreements under the Contractual Arrangements unless Feidong
commits gross negligence or a fraudulent act against them.
RERAEERRAERASOLRHREEREBR - REBE
ML LA RERBEERBEM REEDBER A OTHE
28 RETEAAREMEREEE L8 A —KEHA
ARBFSREEERSE < I - PRLLERTERIEGHNE
B2 BREBE DR - BIFFFSHRERRRHE E/ LK
FFITA o

As advised by the Company’'s PRC legal advisers, save as
disclosed in the paragraph headed “E. Deviation from the guidance
letter in respect of the Contractual Arrangements” below, the
Contractual Arrangements were narrowly tailored to minimise the
potential conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations.
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Risk associated with the Contractual Arrangements

BHRGERARR
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Mitigation actions taken by the Company

AA BRI Z R ERBITE

Vii.

For details of the risks associated with the Feidong Contractual
Arrangements, please refer to the section headed “Risk Factors — Risks

relating to our Feidong Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus.

If Feidong (or its designee within the Group) exercises
the option to acquire equity ownership of the PRC
Operational Entities, the ownership transfer may subject

the Group to substantial costs.

T IFE) (SR E R AR BRI 3 E A L) ITERB AN
BREKEERB IR  AIREESEAESAKEE
EEREA °

Assets (including equity interests) registered under
shareholders of the PRC Operational Entities may be
subject to seizure, confiscation, freezing, auction or sale
by the People’s Court of the PRC due to litigation,
arbitration or other legal proceedings against such

shareholders.

BLRPEREERIBRRE THNEMEE(BRERRK
R T Be A ST EIRZ R AOER AR ~ s R A BDERZ
MEHPEARKMBARERSSH - 08 - RE -

HEREE -

According to the relevant exclusive option agreements under the
Contractual Arrangements, unless valuation is required under the
laws of China before exercising such option, the purchase price of
the equity interests shall be the nominal price, and if the relevant
governmental authorities specify a particular price as the purchase
price of equity interests, the purchaser shall return the surplus or
make up the difference to the vendor, provided that the vendor
and purchaser need to assume such tax incurred by such party or
levied on such party, respectively.
REBEAOZHA T ZAMBRBEE DGR - BRI TRRETEX
RERFEIN - BENBREERRBEER - MiNEHRBA
MPIZRBEBEERSHEMER @ MENERHAMEER K
MENBHEER  EETMESTTEREAEAZTEHENH
HEZBBKRABR o

Regular review to check whether such conditions exist, discover
such conditions and obtain specific details in a timely manner.
Feidong and the Feidong PRC Operation Entities and its
shareholders have signed Share Pledge Agreements pursuant to
which Feidong shall claim that the outstanding amount of money
from the Feidong PRC Operational Entities under the contractual
arrangement shall be paid in priority from the proceeds of auction
and sale of shares if the shares of the Feidong PRC Operational
Entities are auctioned.
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Deviation from the Guidance Letter in respect of the Contractual

Arrangements

Paragraph 16(a) (i) of the Guidance Letter GL77-14 published by the
Stock Exchange in May 2014 (as updated in August 2015 and April
2018) in relation to listed issuers using contractual arrangements for
their businesses (the “Guidance Letter”) requires that structured
contracts shall be narrowly tailored to achieve the issuer's business
purpose and minimise the potential for conflict with relevant PRC laws
and regulations. As advised by the PRC legal advisers, according to
the FITE Regulations, foreign investors are not allowed to hold more
than 50% of the equity interests of a company providing value-added
telecommunications services (except for e-commerce). Furthermore,
to the best knowledge of the Company and the PRC legal advisers,
if a Sino-Foreign equity joint-venture enterprise applies for an ICP
licence, it will be subject to more stringent requirements or additional
requirements imposed by the MIT or its local counterparts (the
“Relevant Authority”) as compared to domestic enterprises in the
PRC. As compared to domestic enterprises in the PRC, the Relevant
Authority will require more information, documents and other
proof from an applicant which is a Sino-Foreign equity enterprise in
various aspects, such as the identity and nationality of its ultimate
individual shareholders, the prior experience of the foreign investor(s)
in operating value-added telecommunications businesses and a
proven track record of its overseas business operations (collectively,
the “Additional Information”). No criteria, standard, guidance or
interpretation documents have been published by the Relevant
Authority on how the Additional Information will be assessed, whether
in qualitative or quantitative aspect, and on the extent or form of

requirements of the Additional Information.
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Chapter 14A implications

Feidong Contractual Arrangements

Waiver from the Stock Exchange and Annual Review

For the purposes of Chapter |4A of the Listing Rules, certain
transactions under the Feidong PRC Contractual Agreements
constitute continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules.
The Stock Exchange has granted a specific waiver to the Company
from strict compliance with the connected transactions requirements
under Chapter |4A of the Listing Rules in respect of the Feidong
Contractual Arrangements. For details, please refer to the section

headed “Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.

The Directors are of the opinion that the transactions under the
Feidong Contractual Arrangements were conducted in the ordinary

course of business of the Group.

Pursuant to Rule [4A55 of the Listing Rules, the Independent
Non-executive Directors have reviewed the continuing connected
transactions under the Feidong Contractual Arrangements and
confirmed that these continuing connected transactions have been

entered into:

0) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Group
than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent

third parties; and

(i) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the

Company and its shareholders as a whole.
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The Independent Non-executive Directors have also confirmed
that (i) the transactions carried out during the year ended 3|
December 2023 have been entered into in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Feidong Contractual Arrangements, (i) no
dividends or other distributions have been made by the Feidong PRC
Operational Entities to the holders of its equity interests which are
not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group,
and (iii) there were no new contracts entered into, renewed or
reproduced between the Group and the Feidong PRC Operational
Entities during the year ended 3| December 2023. Pursuant to Rule
[4A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board has engaged the auditors of the
Company to perform certain agreed-upon procedures in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
(Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transaction
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants on the aforesaid continuing connected
transactions. Based on the work performed, the auditors of the

Company have provided a letter to the Board confirming that:

nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditors
of the Company to believe that the disclosed continuing

connected transactions have not been approved by the Board;

2. for transactions involving the provision of goods or services
by the Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes
the auditors of the Company to believe that the transactions
were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing

policies of the Group;

3. nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditors of
the Company to believe that the transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements under the Feidong Contractual Arrangements

governing such transactions; and

4. nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditors of
the Company to believe that dividends or other distributions
have been made by the Feidong PRC Operational Entities to
the holders of its equity interests which are not otherwise

subsequently assigned/transferred to the Group.
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After the Listing Date and up to the Latest Practicable Date, among
the Founders, (i) Mr. Huang retired as Director on 27 May 2014 and
resigned from all positions held within the Group with effect from |
April 2015, but remains as a 41.10% registered shareholder of Feiyin
and Weidong and a 12.37% registered shareholder of Jieyou, (ii)
Mr. Liao retired as Director on 27 May 2014 and resigned from all
positions held within the Group with effect from | April 2015, but
remains as a 24.70% registered shareholder of Feiyin and Weidong and
a 17.13% registered shareholder of Jieyou, (i) Mr. Zhuang resigned as
Director and from all positions held within the Group with effect from
I April 2015, but remains as a 9.50% registered shareholder of Feiyin
and Weidong and a 48.61% registered shareholder of Jieyou, and (iv)
Mr. Wang resigned as Director with effect from 30 September 2019,
but remains as a 23.75% registered shareholder of Feiyin and Weidong
and a 20.94% registered shareholder of Jieyou.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No Director or his connected entities had a material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to the business of the Group to which the Company, its parent company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year

ended 31 December 2023 and up to the Latest Practicable Date.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into
or existed during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the Latest

Practicable Date.
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REMUNERATION POLICY AND DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

As at 3| December 2023, the Group had 58 full-time employees. The
remuneration to the employees of the Group includes salaries, bonus and
allowances. The Group’s remuneration policies are formulated based on
the performance of individual employees and are reviewed regularly. The
Group offers competitive remuneration packages to the Directors, and the
Shareholders have authorised the Board to fix the remuneration of the
Directors (including but not limited to Directors’ fees) at the Company's
annual general meeting held on |9 May 2023. Other emoluments
are determined by the Board by reference to the Directors’ duties,

responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the remuneration of five highest
paid employees during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in

note |3 to the Financial Statements.

The Group has also adopted Restricted Share Unit Scheme as long-term

incentive schemes of the Group.

THE RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT SCHEME

The Company has approved and adopted the RSU Scheme by a resolution
of its Shareholders on | September 2013 and a resolution of the Board on

| September 2013.

The Company has offered to grant RSUs to subscribe for 4,260,000 Shares,
2,500,000 Shares and 2,500,000 Shares to Directors and employees of the
Group on |3 September 2016, 4 June 2018 and 12 April 2019 respectively.

As of the scheme expiry date, no RSUs were outstanding.
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SUMMARY OF THE RSU SCHEME

2.

3.

4.

Purpose

Participants

Maximum
number of

Shares

Acceptance of
Award

To reward the participants of the RSU Scheme for
their contribution to the success of the Group, and
to provide incentives to them to further contribute to

the Group

(i) full-time employees or officers (including Executive,
Non-executive and Independent Non-executive
Directors), (ii) full-time employees of any of the
subsidiaries and the PRC Operational Entities, (iii)
any suppliers, customers, consultants, agents or
advisers that have contributed or will contribute to
the Company, any of its subsidiaries and/or the PRC
Operational Entities, and (iv) any other persons who,
in the sole opinion of the Board, have contributed or
will contribute to the Company, any of its subsidiaries

and/or the PRC Operational Entities

The maximum number of Shares underlying the RSUs
which may be granted must not in aggregate exceed
[1,290,494 Shares, representing 9% of the number of
Shares in issue on the Listing Date (the “RSU Scheme
Limit”). The RSU Scheme Limit may be refreshed
from time to time subject to prior Shareholders’
approval, but must not exceed 9% of the number of

Shares in issue as at the new approval date

A grant shall be deemed to have been accepted
when in respect of a board lot or an integral multiple
thereof and to have taken effect when notice is given
to the Company by the grantee in accordance with
the instructions from the Company pursuant to the
RSU management agreement, being an agreement
entered into between the Company and the relevant
service provider or any other service agreement to
facilitate the acceptance and vesting of RSUs to the

grantees from time to time
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5. Vesting Subject to the terms of the RSU Scheme and the
specific terms and conditions applicable to each
Award, the RSUs granted in an Award shall be subject
to a vesting period, to the satisfaction of performance
and/or other conditions to be determined by the
Board. If such conditions are not satisfied, the RSU
shall be cancelled automatically on the date on which
such conditions are not satisfied, as determined by the

Board in its absolute discretion

6. Remaining

life of the

[t shall be valid and effective till 31 August 2023, and
hence has expired on | September 2023

scheme

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 3| December 2023, the percentage of the aggregate
revenue attributable to the Group's largest customer and five largest
customers accounted for approximately 2% and 48% of the Group's total

revenue, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the percentage of the aggregate
purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier and five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 15% and 52% of the Group's cost of

revenue, respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which to the best knowledge of the
Directors owned more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital) had

any interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 3| December 2023, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed

securities.
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EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

There was no significant event after the year ended 3| December 2023,

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of its business and
the communities in which it conducts business. It has adopted a proactive
approach to environmental, social and governance responsibility. The
Environmental, Social and Governance Report can be found in the appendix

to this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws,
rules and regulations, in particular, those that have significant impact on
the Group, such as (i) the Copyright Law of the PRC (2010 Amendment),
(i) Provisions on the Administration of Online Publishing Services, and
(iii) Guiding Opinions on Promoting the Healthy Development of Internet
Finance. The Audit and Compliance Committee is delegated by the Board
to monitor the Group's policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements and such policies and practices are regularly
reviewed. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are
brought to the attention of the relevant employees and the relevant

operation units from time to time.

As far as the Company is aware, it has complied in material respects
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the business and operations of the Company during the year ended 3|
December 2023.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions as set out
in the CG Code. Save as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report
under this annual report in relation to the deviations from code provisions
C.1.8 and C.2.1 of the CG Code, the Company has complied with the code
provisions in the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles provide that every Director shall be indemnified out of the
assets and profits of the Company against all liability and loss suffered by him
as such Director in any action, suit or proceeding, whether civil or criminal,
administrative or investigative, in which judgment is given in his favour, or in

which he is acquitted.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company during the

year ended 31 December 2023 or subsisted at the end of the year of 2023.

AUDITOR

The Financial Statements of the Group for the year ended 3| December
2023 have been audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, certified

public accountants.

References are made to the Company’s announcements dated 29 May 2020,
8 June 2020 and the Company’s circular dated |1 June 2020 in relation to
the proposed change of auditors, and the Company's announcement dated 3
July 2020 in relation to the poll results of the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 3 July 2020.
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At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 3 July 2020,
ordinary resolutions were passed by the Shareholders to, among other
things: (i) remove PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditors of the Group with
immediate effect; and (ii) appoint ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited as
auditors of the Group in place of PricewaterhouseCoopers with immediate
effect and to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general

meeting of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there had been no change in the Company's

auditors in any of the preceding three years.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited shall retire and being eligible to offer
themselves for re-appointment, and a resolution to this effect shall be

proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 10 May
2024 to Thursday, |6 May 2024, both days inclusive, in order to determine
the identity of the Shareholders who are entitled to attend and vote at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on
Thursday, 16 May 2024. All transfers of Shares accompanied by the relevant
share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at |7/F,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong before 4:30 p.m. on
Thursday, 9 May 2024.

By order of the Board
CUI Yuzhi

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2023, due to the increasingly intensified geopolitics, and affected by
international situations such as wars and conflicts, sanctions imposed by the U.S.
and supply chain disruptions, global economic growth was still slow, which
has further fueled instability of global social and economic development. The

business operations were under considerable pressure.

In light of such circumstances, the Group reviewed its business development
and operations and carried out a systematic layout in terms of business
strategy. On the one hand, the Group continued to maintain its operation in
respect of the online game business and increase investment while ensuring
the achievement of its established business objectives and subsequent
development. On the other hand, the Group strengthened the development
of its electronic device and semiconductor trading business as well as its
supporting services, so as to utilise the advantages of its resources and
platforms, enabling us to achieve joint development and enhanced long-term
efficiency for the Group’s businesses through accurate strategy positioning
and continuous adjustment and optimization of operation management
for each business segment. The Group recorded a total revenue of
approximately RMB60.2 million in the year ended 3| December 2023,

representing a decrease of 47.3% compared to last year.

In respect of the online game business, the Group’s game business mainly
consists of web games. The strategic focus on game business was mainly
to optimise the return on investment of these businesses. By cooperation
with professional teams to maintain continuous business operations of
existing online games, the Group will continue to maintain the scale of game
revenue, increase investment in games and related businesses as well as
actively explore new cooperation models for game development, operation
and distribution to improve the cost-effectiveness of game business and seek

more returns from future game business.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

In respect of the electronic device and semiconductor trading business,
while maintaining a continuous, long-term and stable cooperation with
major suppliers, the Group has expanded its overseas business scope. The
Group has also continued to provide relevant customers with a full range
of comprehensive supporting solutions such as supporting technical services
and supply chain financial services. Meanwhile, the Group attached great
importance to the operations management and fund utilization efficiency
management of the electronic device and semiconductor trading business,
thereby further improving its delicacy management capabilities. Due to
the impact of the external environment such as international situation, the
logistics of the electronic device and semiconductor trading business was
disrupted, demand was sluggish, sales fell, inventory increased, and the
expected revenue could not be achieved. In the face of challenges, the

Group actively seeks and implements solutions.

The following table sets forth the Group's income statement for the year
ended 31 December 2023 as compared to that for the year ended 3l
December 2022.

EEENWmED N

EEFTRERFEREFEF A  ARBERER
TZHERRBRIBEAFRAENRE - HREN

X% - AEEGRHERBRET P RHEENRIMR
%‘ﬁ@ﬁﬁ@%ﬁgiﬁﬁﬁﬁémﬁﬁﬁ’ﬁ
B AEEBEHRE ﬁ&¥%¥§%%%mk“4
BEMESERAMXRER - K- FRABALCER
*$°m%l%%%w%%%%%%'%¥ﬁﬁ&¥
BRASEBHNYRZE  FRTER  HEF TR -
FEEM  REIEHLY - AHIE - AEEES
SENEBRBRTER

TR AEEBE T _=F+_A=t—HLF
ERERBE_FT_—_F+_A=t—BLEFENK
% o

BX

Year Ended 31 December
BE+=-BA=1+—HLEE

2023 2022 Change
—E_=F —F-—F SFHAIL
RMB’000 RMB’000 %

AREFT ARET T
Revenue A 60,172 14,116 -47.3%
Cost of revenue BRAR (51,131) (108,343) -52.8%
Gross profit EF 9,041 5773 56.6%
Selling and marketing expenses HERTHHEREMX (8,995) (3,474) 158.9%
Administrative expenses THAX (27,165) (31,060) -12.5%
Research and development expenses e > (26,619) (31,586) -15.7%
Other income E Uk 8,077 4,239 90.5%
Other gains — net H AR5 258 13,228 12,090 9.4%
Finance cost BTSN (303) (395) -23.3%
Share of profit of associates FE{GESE = A B A 4,633 4,129 12.2%

Reversal of financial assets measured at RESRKATENSREER

amortised cost — net EpEE] 10,488 20,002 -47.6%
Loss before income tax F%Fﬁ?%ﬁﬁﬁ;&ﬂé (17,615) (20,282) -13.1%
Income tax (expense)/credit FER(Rx) HEx (2) 175 NM
Loss for the year FREE (17,617) (20,107) -12.4%

Note: NM — Not meaningful.
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Revenue. Revenue decreased by approximately 47.3% to RMB60.2 million

for the year ended 31 December 2023 from RMBI 4.1 million for the year

ended 31 December 2022. The following table sets forth the revenue of

the Group by segment for the years ended 3| December 2023 and 2022

respectively:

Management Discussion And Analysis

WA - WABRBE-SE-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE
MARKEI4 I BEBTRDO47I%EBE_S_=F1
ZA=T—HIEFENARK2BET © TRETIE
BT =FRIBFEIFTZA=T—HIEFER
SERHEE D EUBA ¢

Year Ended 31 December
HE+-A=+t—HLEE

2023 2022
—E-=F —F--
% of Total % of Total
RMB’000 Revenue RMB’000 Revenue
AR WA
AR®F BRt ARETT Bt
Revenue by Segment BOEHE D HBA
— Game business — B ET 12,661 21.0 14,692 129
— Electronic device & semiconductor business —BEFRERVEREL 4751 79.0 99,424 87.1
Total Revenue A 60,172 100.0 14,116 100.0

46

Revenue generated from the Group's game business decreased
by approximately 13.8% to RMBI2.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 from RMBI4.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2022. Revenue generated from the online games decreased
“HE” and "&
HERAE" have entered into the mature stage of their lifecycles and

mainly due to the fact that the Group's two games

generated less revenue than the previous year.

Revenue generated from the Group’s electronic device and
semiconductor business decreased by approximately 52.2% from
RMB99.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB47.5
million for the year ended 3| December 2023. Revenue generated
from the Group's electronic device and semiconductor business
decreased mainly because hard disk market prices continued to

decline and the Company scaled down the business.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Cost of revenue. Cost of revenue decreased by approximately 52.8% to
RMBS5 1.1 million for the year ended 3| December 2023 from RMBI108.3
million for the year ended 3| December 2022. Such decrease was in line

with the decrease of revenue.

Selling and marketing expenses. Selling and marketing expenses increased by
approximately 158.9% from RMB3.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to RMB9.0 million for the year ended 3| December 2023. Such
increase was mainly attributable to the assembly of the new game business

team.

Administrative expenses. Administrative expenses decreased by
approximately 12.5% to RMB27.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 from RMB31.I million for year ended 3| December 2022. Such

decrease was primarily due to a decrease of allowances for inventories.

Research and development expenses. Research and development expenses
decreased by approximately 15.7% to RMB26.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 from RMB31.6 million for the year ended 3| December
2022. Such decrease was primarily due to the capitalisation of qualified

development stage expenditure resulting in lower expenses.

Other income. Other income increased by approximately 90.5% from
RMB4.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB8.| million for
the year ended 3| December 2023. Such increase was primarily due to an

increase of interest income for the year ended 3| December 2023.

Other gains — net. Other gains — net increased by approximately 9.4% from
RMBI12.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMBI3.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023. Such increase was primarily due to
net increase of investment-related gains (net of fair value change) and partial

offset by the gain on dilution of investment in an associate in 2022.

Reversal of financial assets measured at amortised cost — net. Reversal of
financial assets measured at amortised cost — net decreased by approximately
47.6% from RMB20.0 million for year ended 31 December 2022 to RMBI10.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. Such decrease was primarily

due to a decrease of recovery of previously impaired corporate loans.
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Loss for the year. As a result of the foregoing, the Group recognised loss
in the amount of RMBI7.6 million for the year ended 3| December 2023,
as compared to a loss of RMB20.| million for the year ended 3| December
2022.

NON-IFRSs MEASURES — EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA

To supplement the consolidated results of the Group which are prepared
in accordance with IFRSs, certain non-IFRSs measures, including EBITDA and
adjusted EBITDA, have been presented. These non-IFRSs financial measures
should be considered in addition to, and not as a substitute for, the
measures of the Group's financial performance, which have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs. The Group’s management believes that these
non-IFRSs financial measures provide investors with useful supplementary
information to assess the performance of its core operations by excluding
certain non-cash and non-recurring items. The EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA

are unaudited figures.
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The following table sets forth the reconciliation of the Group’s non-IFRSs FRBINAEEHE T _=FR T -_—F+— A
financial measures for the years ended 3| December 2023 and 2022, to the =+ —H IEFE A IER R B 753k & ZE B B FS 51 = B1AR

nearest measures prepared in accordance with IFRSs:

IREIFR M T S R R R SR B H R ¢

Year Ended 3| December
BZE+t=-A=+—HILEE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARMFTT ARBTIT

Loss from for the year FREE (17,617) (20,107)
Add: o
Depreciation and amortisation T N g 30,221 21,683
Net interest income FEM = FEE (2,939) (598)
Income tax expense/(credit) ATt (H5) 2 (175)
EBITDA (unaudited) EBITDA(REER) 9,667 803
Add: il
Gain on disposal of investments at fair value through HER AT EF ABRRE K

profit or loss (53,799) (6,574)
Changes in the fair value of investments at fair value BATEF ABRHNRE AT EZE)

through profit or loss 17,497 9,006
Dividends received from investments at fair value WEIE A THEET AB R ARE RS

through profit or loss (163) (187)
Loss on disposal of debt investments at fair value HER AT ER AEMEER R ERE

through other comprehensive income KERERE 26,321 -
Interest arising from debt investments at fair value BATHE AR MR ER G EERE

through other comprehensive income FRE AR FIE (4,641) (2,984)
Loss on deemed disposal/disposal of investment in an  fRIEHE HER —HEE QA RRIEE

associate Hy &8 1,209 259
Adjusted EBITDA (unaudited) EHEEBITDA(REEK) (3,909) 323
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FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 3| December 2023, the total equity of the Group amounted to
RMB590.3 million as compared to that of RMB643.2 million as at 3|
December 2022. Such decrease was primarily due to the loss recognized for
the year ended 3| December 2023 and decreased valuation of investments

at fair value through other comprehensive income.
The Group's net current assets amounted to RMB390.2 million as at 31

December 2023 as compared to RMB378.4 million as at 31 December

2022. Such increase was the effect of normal business operation.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Management Discussion And Analysis

BAFEAR R

RZFBZ=F+=-A=+—0  AEEARZBHELA
E%wmﬁ%ﬁvﬁﬁfg::¢+ A=+—H4I
RARB2BETT - AR DEEHREBEE_ZT =
—F+tZA=+T—HILFEBRRNEBARZATE
FTAEM 2 AR EAIEEGERD

\

R-ZT-=F+=-A=+—8  AEENRHEEF
BAARKENEET MR=ZZ==F+=A=+
—RABARK3I784BETT c ZEMDBIEEEBE
ERER

RBEERHEER

As at 31 December

R+t=B=+—8
2023 2022
—E-= &
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETFr
Cash at bank and on hand FITRFERS 114,054 154,862
Cash at other financial institutions REMSBEENE S 81,895 69,761
195,949 224,623
Bank borrowings HRITER = (3,850)
Net Cash HEFEE 195,949 220,773

The Group’s total cash and cash equivalent amounted to RMB195.9 million
as at 31 December 2023 as compared to that of RMB224.6 million as at 3|
December 2022. The decrease was primarily attributable to an increase of

investments, which resulted in a decrease in the cash balance.

The Group adopts a prudent cash and financial management policy. In order
to achieve better cost control and minimise the cost of funding, the Group'’s
treasury activities are centralised and cash is generally deposited with banks

and denominated mostly in USD, followed by RMB.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s gearing ratio (calculated as bank
(as at 31 December 2022: 0.53%),
which means the Group did not have any bank borrowing balance as at 31
December 2023.

borrowing divided by total assets) was 0%

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

As at 31 December 2023, RMBI137.9 million of the financial resources of the
Group (as at 31 December 2022: RMBI186.4 million) were held as deposits
denominated in non-RMB currencies. Such decrease was the result of the
increased foreign financial investments. The Group will continue to actively
manage its exposure to various foreign currencies and monitor its foreign

exchange risk exposure to better preserve the Group's cash value.
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURES €N
Year ended 3| December
BE+-A=t—HLEE
2023 2022
B = = —
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARETT
Capital expenditures BARE
— Purchase of property and equipment —BEMEREE 485 122
— Purchase of intangible asset -BERFEE 136 —
Total et 621 122
Capital expenditures (excluding business combination) comprise the EARX(MBREBKSH) REBERLRE - EER
purchase of office equipment, an upgrade of operation system and leasehold ~ #tE T RIEEHE -

improvement.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any pledge of assets

(as at 31 December 2022: pledge of RMBO.| million, as restricted cash for

corporate credit card deposits).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant unrecorded

contingent liabilities (as at 31 December 2022: nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group held a significant

investment at fair value through other comprehensive income detailed as

follows:

Management Discussion And Analysis

BEEERA

R-BE-=F+—"A=+—H  A&EELELHAEq
BHREENR-_ZE-_—_F+_A=+—08: HFARE
0.1BETT ' EARRIEAREEMZRHIRE)

HREE

R-TE-_=F+-"A=+—8  AEETETFREKX
REBNIABB(R_ZE__F+=-_A=+—8:
) o

EARE

BHE_TZ-_=F+-_A=1+—RBLEFE  X5EEAE
—ERATFEFAEMEERZNERNEENFHFN
™

Percentage of ownership
interest attributable to the

Group as at 3| December

Rt=A=t+-H
AEBEEERE
BEADL
Carrying
amount as at 31 Investment Registered
Company name Date of incorporation December 2023 Cost capital 2023 2022
R-ZB-=%
+=A=t+-H
AW MR B HREEHE RERE HAMEF —BI=fF T
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARETT  ARETT ARETT
LERAZERAREROBRDA 23 February 201 | 58,291 4000 28,241 8.85% 9.27%
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R D ZEREBERMHD ARG (transliterated as Beijing Share Times
Technology Co., Limited, “Share Times") is a company that develops
and operates intellectual properties (“IPs") of celebrities, including design,
promotion, and sales of IPs. Share Times was recognized as investments in
associates for the first half of 2023. In the second half of 2023, the Group
resigned as director from Share Times' board; as such, it was transferred
to investments at fair value through other comprehensive income. In
2023, the Group recognised share of profit of associates of approximately
RMB4.6 million and loss on deemed disposal of investment in an associate
of approximately RMBI.2 million. The Group will continue supporting the
business development of Share Times, and seek synergy between Share

Times and other investments of the Group to maximize their performance.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 58 full-time employees (as at 31
December 2022: 39), the vast majority of whom are based in the PRC.

For details of the Group’s remuneration policies and training schemes,
please refer to the section headed "Remuneration Policy and Directors’

Remuneration” contained in the Report of Directors in this annual report.

MATERIAL INVESTMENT, ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures for the year ended 31 December
2023.

DISMISSAL OF ALLEGED LAWSUIT

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated 29
December 2023, 2 September 2021, |3 October 2020 and 22 April 2020
(the “U.S. Announcements”) in relation to, among others, the complaint filed
by Ms. Selena Gomez as plaintiff against, among others, the Company and its
certain subsidiaries as defendants, in the Supreme Court of California in the U.S.
in respect of an action for violation of and conspiracy to violate statutory
and common law right of publicity. The Company was notified by its U.S.
legal advisors on |5 December 2023 that the plaintiff had filed the request
for dismissal of the entire action with prejudice. Having made all reasonable
enquiries and having obtained legal advice, the Company confirmed that the

dismissal of the lawsuit action was entered on 9 November 2023.
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RISKS AND HURDLES

The Group is exposed to a number of risks, including macroeconomic and
external risks common to most industries, as well as risks specific to the
industries in which the Group operates. The Group has formulated policies
to ensure continuous identification, reporting, monitoring and management of
significant risks that may affect its business development.

As to the online game business operated by the Group, the Group is mainly
exposed to the following types of risks:

(i) industry policies and regulatory risks. Any changes and adjustments in
polices by governmental or regulatory bodies could affect the market, and
as the online game industry is subject to the supervision of various relevant
authorities, this may have an adverse impact on its business operations;
(i) the risk of declines in current game revenue and profitability. Due to
the life cycle of online games, changes in player's preferences may cause
uncertainties around the Company’s future business performance; (iii) the
rapid market changes from existing webgames to mobile games may have an
adverse impact on its business operations; and (iv) research and development
investment is subject to time lag and uncertainty risks arising from the input-
output cycle.

As to the electronic device and semiconductor business, the Group is mainly
exposed to the following types of risks:

(i) policy impact. The structural changes in the supply chain caused by
the severe impact of U.S. sanctions; (ii) exchange risk. Since the Group's
operations involve settlement in USD, it is exposed to the risk of fluctuations
in exchange rates of the currency; (iii) inventory management risk. Due
to the high value of electronic device and semiconductor products, their
market prices are volatile and vulnerable to external influences, including
macroeconomic cycles and force majeure, which may cause inventory
backlogs and capital occupancy, increasing financial and operational risks; and
(iv) accounts receivable risk. Customer’s delayed payment or inability to pay
on time after the sale of electronic device and semiconductor products or
the provision of related supporting service can incur potential loss.

All of the above may have an adverse effect on the Group’s performance. In
addition, the Group is exposed to risks such as research and development
cost recovery efficiency and impairment loss due to invested companies’
under-performance or contract party becoming insolvent, all of which will
have an adverse effect on the Group's performance.
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FUTURE PLANS

Looking ahead to 2024, the Group will still face many pressures, such as
U.S. sanctions, economic downturn inertia influence, industry competition,
accelerated product update and stricter policy supervision in the game
industry. The Group will continue to maintain active responses, optimize
long-term and stable investment channels and moderately carry out
investment business, expand new areas of existing business, invest in and
operate games and explore new artificial intelligence technologies. The
Group will convert emerging technologies and new market into new business
growth points. The Group will actively explore expansion opportunities
for business areas and implement various business strategies formulated.
The Group will continue to increase income sources, enhance operating
efficiency, improve cost control and strengthen cost management, so as to

improve the return on its assets.

As an ancient Chinese poem goes, “The road ahead is long and has no
ending; yet high and low | will search with my will unbending”. The Group
will continue to actively seek to expand and optimize its business, innovate
its business structure and improve management efficiencies based on a
perspective of sustainable development and a prudent, optimistic and
positive attitude, in an effort to deliver value for our stakeholders and

shareholders (“‘Shareholders”) in the long run.
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Corporate Governance Report
TRERBE

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in the

Company's annual report for the year ended 3| December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE COMPANY

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance
to safeguard the interests of Shareholders and to enhance corporate value of the
Group and accountability of the Board. The Company's corporate governance

practices are based on the code provisions as set out in the CG Code.

Save as disclosed in this Corporate Governance Report in relation to the
deviation from code provisions C.1.8 and C.2.| of the CG Code, the Directors
consider that the Company has complied with all the code provisions as set out

in the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

A.  The Board
l. Roles and Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Group and is responsible for promoting the success of the Group
by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board has established
Board committees and has delegated to these Board committees
various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference which are published on the respective websites of the

Stock Exchange and the Company.
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The Board, after considering the advice and recommendations
from the Board committees, monitors the Group'’s operating and
financial performance and ensures that effective governance and
sound internal control and risk management systems are in place.
Significant matters which may have an impact on the performance
of the Group are reserved for the Board’'s consideration and

approval, including:

- approval and monitoring of all major policies of the Group;

= overall strategies and budgets;

- internal control and risk management systems;

= notifiable transactions and connected transactions (as

defined in the Listing Rules);

- nomination of Directors and company secretary; and

= other significant financial and operational matters.

All the Directors, including the Non-executive Director and
the Independent Non-executive Directors, have brought a
wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and

professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective operation.

To ensure that independent views and input are available to
the Board, the Company has established a mechanism which
specifies that, all Directors have the right to obtain sufficient
resources provided by the Company to perform their duties, and
upon reasonable request, all the Directors can seek independent
professional advice at the Company's expense. The Board will
review the implementation and effectiveness of the mechanism

annually.

All the Directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information as well as the advice and services of the company
secretary of the Company, with a view to ensuring that Board

procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith and
in compliance with the standards of applicable laws, rules and
regulations, and have acted in the best interests of the Company

and the Shareholders at all times.
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Delegation of Management Function

The day-to-day management, administration and operations of the
Group are delegated to the senior management of the Group. The
responsibilities delegated by the Board to the senior management

include:

= execution of overall strategies adopted by the Board;

- monitoring of budgets approved by the Board;

= implementation of internal control and risk management

systems; and

- preparation of the annual and interim reports and the results

announcements for the Board’s approval.

Before entering into any significant transactions or commitments on
the Company's behalf, senior management of the Company should
obtain prior approval and authorization from the Board. The Board
periodically reviews the above delegation arrangements to ensure

the appropriateness of such arrangements.
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Board Composition

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Board consisted of six
Directors, two of whom were Executive Directors, one of
whom was Non-executive Director and three of whom were

Independent Non-executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the Latest

Practicable Date, the Board comprised the following Directors:

Executive Directors Mr. CUI Yuzhi (Chairman and appointed
as Chief Executive Officer with effect
from 8 December 2023)
Mr. ZHU Liang (Chief Financial Officer)
Non-executive Mr. HAN Jun (resigned with effect from 8
Director December 2023)
Mr. WANG Wenpeng (appointed with
effect from 8 December 2023)

Mr. WONG Chi Kin
executive Directors Mr. LU Xiaoma

Mr. Jl Yong

Independent Non-

Biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 87 to 92 of this

annual report.

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time
pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Independent Non-executive
Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications
pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Company maintains on its
website and on the Stock Exchange’s website an updated list of all
Directors identifying their role and function and whether they are

Independent Non-executive Directors.

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and in this annual report,
to the best knowledge of the Company, there are no financial,
business, family or other material relationships among members of
the Board.
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Upon their respective appointments, each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors has submitted a written statement
to the Stock Exchange confirming his independence and has
undertaken to inform the Stock Exchange as soon as practicable
if there is any subsequent change of circumstances which may
affect his independence. The Company has also received a written
confirmation from each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors (namely Mr. WONG Chi Kin, Mr. LU Xiaoma and
Mr. JI Yong) in respect of his independence in accordance with
the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all Independent Non-executive
Directors to be independent in accordance with the independence

requirements set out in the Listing Rules.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and

removal of Directors are set out in the Articles.

All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. Any new Director appointed (i) to fill a
causal vacancy shall hold office until the next following general
meeting of the Company or (ii) as an addition to the Board shall
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the

Company and shall be eligible for re-election by the Shareholders.

For details of the service contracts of the Directors, please refer
to the section headed “Report of Directors — Directors’ service

contracts” in this annual report.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for, inter alia,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and reappointment of Directors and succession planning for the
Directors. For further details on the functions of the Nomination
Committee, please refer to the section headed “Board Committee

— Nomination Committee” in this Corporate Governance Report.
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Induction and Continuing Development for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
so as to ensure that he/she has the appropriate understanding of
the business and operations of the Group and that he/she is fully
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant regulatory requirements. Mr. WANG Wenpeng
who was appointed as a Director during 2023 has received

induction and training upon appointment.

Ongoing training and professional development are arranged by
the Group for the Directors to keep abreast of the latest trends
and issues facing the Group. The Directors receives information
related to the developments in the legal and regulatory regime and
the business and market environments regularly to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills required in performing of their

responsibilities.

For the year ended 3| December 2023, all Directors have
participated in appropriate continuous professional development
activities by way of attending training sessions arranged by
the Group'’s Legal advisors and receiving reading materials
and updates related to corporate governance practices and
directors’ responsibilities. The Company encourages all Directors
to participate in training courses for continuous professional

development at the expense of the Company.

Director’s Liability Insurance

Code provision C.1.8 of the CG Code stipulates that an issuer
should arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal

action against its directors.

As the Company hasn't found an appropriate insurance proposal,
as at the time of this report, the Company has not taken out
insurance covering the Directors’ liability arising from legal

proceedings yet.
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The Board is of the opinion that with the current risk management
and internal control systems in place and the close supervision
of the management, and considering that the previous legal
proceedings of the Company have concluded, the Directors’ risk
of being involved in litigation in their capacity as directors of the
Company is relatively low. The Board will continue to consider and

assess insurance proposals and, if suitable, arrange for appropriate

cover for the Directors in the forthcoming year.

Board Meetings and General Meetings

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

Code provision C5.1 of the CG Code prescribes that at least four
regular Board meetings should be held each year at approximately
quarterly intervals with active participation of a majority of

Directors, either in person or through electronic means of

communication.

The Board held 4 regular Board meetings during the year ended
31 December 2023 for the discussion of the Group's affairs,
reviewing and approving the financial and operating performance,
and considering and approving the overall strategies and policies of

the Group. In total, the Board held 6 Board meetings during the

year ended 31 December 2023.

FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2023 Annual Report

EEgRR  EARRRARREELA
EHEE  UREEENTIEET -
ZREARREAMAERFAD KL

EEUARREEHFNBAFLRHRR $E
HEE  -EFeREESENTERR
& YREENERT Eﬁﬁi%%%t
HREERRR -

ESEEERRRAE
EBNUREFLHEF
EREATATARECS IFRRE - &
ZeEREEFAREIOR AOEF
—R - BRAEEEHELEBETR

wﬁ

AIEERSE -

RBE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HLFE
IR EEERTOREHEHNUE
AEBE %F’ﬁ&ﬁt)&$‘ilﬁ’ﬂﬁ7ﬁ&&
RERE  UWERBRMEAEBEERR

RIRER - E’\\étz_?_zﬁ—F_ﬂ:—F—
BIUEFENHRE  EFTS@RHEBRANNRES

o sk

==



—~" N @\

Corporate Governance Report

EREAHRE |
The attendance records of each Director at the Board meetings REELRHE TS _=F+_A=1+—
and the general meetings of the Company (whether in person or BIEFEERTZESTEEZ AR ARRE
by means of electronic communication) held during the year ended AE(ERBESAETEAML) MR
3| December 2023 are set out below: FIGAT :
Name of Director Board meetings General meetings
ESHR Exgel BRRAE
Executive Directors
HITEF
Mr. CUI Yuzhi (Chairman) 6/6 I/
ETHEEE(EE)
Mr. ZHU Liang 6/6 171
RREE
Non-executive Director
FHTEE
Mr. HAN Jun (resigned with effect from 8 December 2023) 4/4 I/
BERGE(E=—F-=F+=F/\AFHF)
Mr. WANG Wenpeng (appointed with effect from 8 December 2023) 2/2 0/0
EXWERE(E—F_=F 1+ _ANNHEZE)
Independent Non-executive Directors
BIIHTTEE
Mr. WONG Chi Kin 6/6 171
Mr. LU Xiaoma 5/6 1/
EESEE
Mr. Jl Yong 6/6 11
NBRE

EWERERAT FEHE023 03
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Practices and Conduct of Meetings

The annual meeting schedule and draft agenda of each meeting are
made available to Directors in advance. Arrangements are also in

place to ensure that Directors are given an opportunity to include

matters in the agenda.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at
least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board and Board
committee meetings, notice is given to the Directors and Board

committee members in a timely manner pursuant to the Articles

and terms of reference of each Board committee respectively.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before each
Board meeting or Board committee meeting to keep the Directors
apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the
Group and to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board

and each Director also have separate and independent access to

the senior management of the Company whenever necessary.

Senior management of the Company attend meetings of the
Board and Board committees as and when necessary to supply
information on the Group’s business developments, financial and

accounting matters, statutory and regulatory compliance, corporate

governance practices and other major aspects of the Group.

The company secretary of the Company is responsible for
taking and keeping minutes of meetings of the Board and Board
committees, which record sufficient details of the matters
considered by the Directors and decisions made, including any
proposal raised by the Directors or dissenting views expressed.
Draft minutes are normally circulated to Directors for comment

within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is

open for Directors' inspection.

The Articles contain provisions requiring the Directors to abstain
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for

approving transactions in which any such Directors or any of their

associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) have a material interest.
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Chairman and Chief Executive

Code provision C2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be

performed by the same individual.

On 8 December 2023, Mr. DENG Ge resigned as the chief executive
officer of the Company, and Mr. CUl Yuzhi, chairman of the Board and
an executive Director was appointed as the chief executive officer. As
Mr. CUI Yuzhi serves as both the chairman of the Board and the chief
executive officer; such practice deviates from code provision C.2.1 of the

CG Code.

The Board considers that vesting the roles of both the chairman of
the Board and the chief executive officer in the same person has the
benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Company and
enables more effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the
Company. The Board believes that the balance of power and authority
for the present arrangement will not be impaired and this structure will
enable the Company to make and implement decisions promptly and
efficiently. Nevertheless, the Board will continue to monitor and review
the Company's current structure and to make necessary changes at an
appropriate time. The Board will continue to monitor and review the
Company's corporate governance practices from time to time to ensure
compliance with the latest statutory requirements and professional

standards.

Board Committees

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board had four Board
committees, namely the Remuneration Committee, the Audit and
Compliance Committee, the Nomination Committee, and the Corporate
Governance Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the
Group's affairs. All of these four Board committees of the Company are

established with defined written terms of reference.

The majority of the members of each of the Remuneration Committee,
the Audit and Compliance Committee, the Nomination Committee,
and the Corporate Governance Committee during the year ended 3l

December 2023 were Independent Non-executive Directors.
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The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company's

expense.

l. Remuneration Committee

We have established the Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 325 of the Listing
Rules and the code provisions under E.I of the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee comprised three members, of whom
two were Independent Non-executive Directors and one was

Non-executive Director:

Mr. JI Ying (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee)

Mr. WONG Chi Kin

Mr. HAN Jun (ceased to be a member of the Remuneration

Committee with effect from 8 December 2023)

Mr. WANG Wenpeng (appointed as a member of the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 8 December 2023)

The primary roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include, but are not limited to: (i) making recommendations to
the Board on the policy and structure for the remuneration of
the Directors and senior management of the Company and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy, (ii) reviewing and approving
the senior management’'s remuneration proposals by reference
to the Board's corporate goals and objectives and ensuring that
it is consistent with contractual terms and are reasonable and
appropriate, and (i) determining the terms of the remuneration
package of the Directors and senior management by reference to
their time commitment and responsibilities, employment condition

in the Group, and comparable companies.
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The Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings during the
year ended 3| December 2023 to, inter alia, (i) review the
remuneration policy and structure of the Company, (ii) assess
performance of the Executive Directors and approve the terms of
their service contracts, (i) make recommendations to the Board
on determining the annual remuneration packages of the Directors
and senior management of the Company, (iv) consider the
remuneration and the terms of the service contracts of the newly
appointed Directors, and (v) deal with other matters related to the

foregoing.

The attendance records of the Remuneration Committee meetings

held during the year ended 3| December 2023 are set out below:

TRERBE |

BE-Z-_=F+-A=+t—HILFED
R FMEZESHBITRARGEHE - N
(B B8E) ()EHAR B BBUR &4
o ()T EFRRRIEERBE
@%ﬁ*@%%i$@ﬁ%$&%i4
ﬁﬁ%i?%%ikﬁ§$@%fﬁ ,,,,,,,

(VBRI EEEENE M&%WA
mﬁﬁ* Ko (v) B 3 B2 A it =5 T AR B A LAt
£EH -

BE_T_=F+t-_A=+t—"BLFESR
TOFHEEEeR cHFERENT

Meeting attended/

Committee members Total
EZEE2ERE HEEE A
Mr. Jl Yong (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee) 2/2
RBEE(FHNZREELRE)

Mr. WONG Chi Kin 2/2
"ELEBEE

Mr. HAN Jun (ceased to be a member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 8 December 2023) [/1
BEEE (B -FE_=FF+ _ANATHBELHFNZEEKE)

Mr. WANG Wenpeng (appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 8 December 2023) 0/0

FXWE(E=FE==F+ = A/ \HEZERBFTNESHKE)

Please refer to note |3 to the Financial Statements for details of
the remuneration of the members of the senior management. The
remuneration of the members of the senior management by band

is set out below:

Remuneration band

BERARREEABFMOFEEL2HMG
BEMTIZ AaREBABRBEZSH
HENE ST -

Number of persons

FrEN & E AE
Nil to RMB1,000,000 per annum 8

HFARBZILE ARE,0000007T

Note: the above members of senior management include Directors and
other members of senior management of the Company (including |
resigned Director and other members of senior management who
resigned in 2023).

Misk : FlEBEBABRIEAAREETMAE
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Audit and Compliance Committee

We have established the Audit and Compliance Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules and the code provisions set out in paragraphs D.3
and A2 of the CG Code. The Audit and Compliance Committee
comprised three members, all of whom were Independent Non-

executive Directors:

Mr. WONG Chi Kin (Chairman of the Audit and Compliance

Committee)

Mr. LU Xiaoma

Mr. ]I Yong

The Chairman of the Audit and Compliance Committee is
Mr. WONG Chi Kin, who holds the appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 32| of the
Listing Rules.

The primary roles and functions of the Audit and Compliance

Committee include, but are not limited to:

(i) reviewing and monitoring the relationship of the external
auditors and the Group, particularly the independence, objectivity
and effectiveness of the external auditor, (ii) providing an
independent view of the effectiveness of the financial reporting
process and risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, (iii) overseeing the audit process and performing other
duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board from time to
time, (iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the policies and
practices on corporate governance, compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements and the Listing Rules, in particular, the
corporate governance functions set out in the code provision
A2.l of the CG Code, (v) reviewing the financial information of
the Group and ensuring compliance with accounting standards
and reviewing significant adjustments resulting from audit, and
(vi) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct

applicable to the employees of the Group and the Directors.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit and Compliance
Committee has considered and reviewed the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and has discussed matters
in relation to risk management and intemal control systems and
financial reporting function with the management of the Company.
The Audit and Compliance Committee considers that the annual
financial results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 have been prepared in compliance with the relevant
accounting standards, rules and regulations and appropriate

disclosures have been duly made.

The Audit and Compliance Committee held 4 meetings during
the year ended 31 December 2023 to, inter alia, (i) review the
Group's interim and annual financial results and reports, financial
reporting and compliance procedures and consider the report
from the internal auditor on the Group's internal control, (i)
review the Company's corporate governance policies and practices
(including but not limited to training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, the Company's
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, compliance with the Model Code by the Directors,
and the Company's compliance with the CG Code), (iii) review
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group, (iv)
review the effectiveness of the internal audit function of the Group,
(v) consider the re-appointment of the external auditors, and (vi)

deal with other matters related to the foregoing.

The attendance records of the Audit and Compliance Committee
meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set

out below:
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RBE-_T_=F+_"A=+—RHItFE
BWERE  BERRARZTESHETHER
g% UWHPERE) ((BEHAEERHL
FREMBEERRE  WBEBRHREEHRRE
Fr- ZRASENREBZES 2 ABEZR
F(NFEHARACEBERBRRLEER
(BREETRERREZENSREEE 2F
REFEHEEER  ARRETEEREE
MEZBENER  BFETRETRR
ARRRETEERERTRZIER) - (i)
MASERRERRAIDIZES RS @ (iv)
BMAAEBABEZRAENFRE - VE
BRI AZBAD - (vi)BE PR B Bt =
THEANEMEER -

BE-T-_=F+-A=t+—HLEFES
THEZREREZREERZ LFLEN
T

Meeting attended/

Committee members Total
EEEHE HEEE A
Mr. WONG Chi Kin (Chairman of the Audit and Compliance Committee) 4/4
BEBEE(FEREHEZLEETE)

Mr. LU Xiaoma 3/4
BEHEBEE

Mr. Jl Yong 4/4
RELE
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The Group’s annual results for the year ended 3| December 2023
and this Corporate Governance Report have been reviewed and
agreed by the Audit and Compliance Committee in a meeting held
on 28 March 2024.

Nomination Committee

We have established the Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the code provisions under
B.3 of the CG Code. The Nomination Committee comprised
three members, of whom two were Independent Non-executive

Directors and one was Executive Director:

Mr. CUI Yuzhi (Chairman of the Nomination Committee)

Mr. LU Xiaoma

Mr. J | Yong

The primary roles and functions of the Nomination Committee
include, but are not limited to (i) reviewing the composition of
the Board; (ii) identifying, selecting and recommending to the
Board appropriate candidates to serve as Directors and the chief
executive officer of the Company, (iii) recommending succession
planning for the Directors, (iv) overseeing the process for evaluating
the performance of the Board and the Directors, (v) developing,
recommending to the Board and monitoring a nomination
policy for the Group, and (vi) assessing the independence of the

Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee held 2 meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2023 to, inter alia, (i) review the structure,
size and composition of the Board and identify suitable candidates
to become members of the Board, (ii) review and assess
procedures for the nomination of Directors and composition of the
Board by reference to the Company's policy for the nomination
of Directors (the “Nomination Policy”) and board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”) respectively, the summaries of
which are set out in the following paragraphs headed “Nomination
Policy” and "“Summary of the Board Diversity Policy”, respectively
in this section, (iii) assess the independence of the Independent
Non-executive Directors, (iv) consider the appointment of new

Directors, and (v) discuss other matters related to the foregoing.
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The attendance records of the Nomination Committee meetings

held during the year ended 3| December 2023 are set out below:

EEERARE
BE-F-=G+-A=f+—HILFHES

THREZEGE L L EaCek#E 5
™

Meeting attended/

Committee members Total
EZEE2ERE HEEE A
Mr. CUI Yuzhi 2/2
EFELE

Mr. LU Xiaoma 2/2
BEH S eE

Mr. Jl Yong 2/2
MEBERE

The composition and diversity of the Board were considered by
taking into account the necessary balance of skills and experience
to provide effective leadership for the development of the Group's
business. The Executive Directors, the Non-executive Director and
the Independent Non-executive Directors possess professional
knowledge in management, IT, Game investment, finance and
regulatory areas respectively with broad and extensive experience

in business advisory services and management.

Where vacancies on the Board arise, the Nomination Committee
will carry out the selection process in accordance with the
Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy by making

reference to a range of diversity perspectives.

EZEFeNAKEXEZ T - &
ZRI/AEERBERERAUNEE
PR EMXERER - ITES © JFRT
EERBUFNTEZENRIBEEERE &
AR - BEERE  MBEREENTENE
ENE - UHAREZREENEBEAR
BREBLESR

MERGHRZER  REZESHRER
FHRNEEEREZTEBRL 2R —
R Z T cBBAETEEER

EWERERAT FEHE03 /1

Sa N\

RN



Corporate Governance Report
TRERBE

72

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Board Diversity Policy was adopted by the Company
pursuant to the resolutions of the Board. The Board Diversity
Policy aims to set out the approach to assess the diversity of the
Board. The Board Diversity Policy applies to the Board but not
to the diversity in relation to the employees of the Company,
nor the board of directors or the employees of any subsidiary
of the Company. In reviewing and assessing the composition of
the Board, the Nomination Committee will consider a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge, industry expertise and length of service. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board. The Nomination Committee
will review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure
the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and will discuss
any revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval. As at the
date of this report, the Board comprises six Directors, all are male.
The Company values gender diversity, and the Board targets to
appoint at least one Director of different gender no later than 31
December 2024 to comply with the Diversity Requirement set out
in Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules. The Company aims to maintain
an appropriate balance of diversity of the Board in supporting the

attainment of its strategic objectives and sustainable development.

In addition, as of 31 December 2023, the percentage of female
members in all employees (including senior management) of
the Company was 27.59%. The Company will continue to take
gender diversity into consideration during recruitment, identify and
select potential female talents with different skills, experience and

knowledge to join the Company.
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The Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy was adopted by the Company pursuant
to Board resolutions. The Nomination Committee will review the
Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of
the Nomination Policy and will discuss any revisions that may be
required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval. The Nomination Policy is set out as

below:
Objective
This policy sets out the criteria and procedures to be
adopted when considering candidates to be appointed or
re-elected as directors of the Company.

2. Selection Criteria
The factors listed below would be used as reference by
the Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a
proposed candidate:
. Reputation for integrity;
. Accomplishment and experience in the financial

services industry, in particular, in the securities,

commodities and futures markets;

. Commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest;
. Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited

to gender, age (I8 years or above), cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

and
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Requirement for the Board to have Independent
Non-executive Directors in accordance with the
Listing Rules and whether the candidates would
be considered independent by reference to the

independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be

exhaustive and decisive.

Nomination Process

3.1. Nomination by the Nomination Committee

301

312

The Nomination Committee reviews the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board periodically and make
recommendation on any proposed changes to the
Board;

When it is necessary to fill a causal vacancy or
appoint an additional Director, the Nomination
Committee identifies or selects candidates as
recommended to the Committee, with or without
assistance from external agencies or the Company,

pursuant to the criteria set out in section 2 above;

If the process yields two or more desirable
candidates, the Nomination Committee shall rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of
the Company and reference check of each candidate

(where applicable);

The Nomination Committee makes recommendation
to the Board including the terms and conditions of

the appointment;

The Board deliberates and decides on the appointment
of Directors based upon the recommendation of the

Nomination Committee; and
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In order to provide information of the candidates
nominated by the Board to stand for election
at a general meeting, a circular will be sent to
Shareholders. The names, brief biographies (including
qualifications and relevant experience), independence,
proposed remuneration and any other information
of the proposed candidates as required pursuant to
the Listing Rules and other applicable laws, rules and

regulations will be included in the circular.

3.2.  Re-election of Director at Annual General Meeting

321

322

323

In accordance with the Articles, every Director shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years and shall be eligible for re-election

at each annual general meeting;

The Nomination Committee shall review the overall
contribution and service to the Company of the
retiring Director. The Nomination Committee
shall also review the expertise and professional
qualifications of the retiring Director who offered
himself/herself for re-election at the annual general
meeting to determine whether such Director
continues to meet the criteria as set out in section 2

above; and

Based on the review made by Nomination
Committee, the Board shall make recommendations
to shareholders on candidates standing for re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company, and
provide the available biographical information of
the retiring director in accordance with the Listing
Rules to enable Shareholders to make the informed
decision on the re-election of such candidates at

annual general meeting of the Company.

3.1.6
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3.3, Nomination by Shareholders

The Shareholders may propose a person for election as a
director in accordance with the Articles, the Listing Rules
and applicable law, details of which are set out in the
“Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director” of the Company (please refer to the

website of the Company).

Corporate Governance Committee

The Company has established the Corporate Governance
Committee on 22 May 2020. During the year ended 3| December
2023, the Corporate Governance Committee comprised three
members, of whom two were Independent Non-executive

Directors and one was Executive Director:

Mr. WONG Chi Kin (Chairman of the Corporate Governance

Committee)

Mr. CUI Yuzhi

Mr. ] | Yong

The primary roles and functions of the Corporate Governance
Committee include, but are not limited to: (i) formulate and review
the Company's corporate governance policies and practices, and
make recommendations to the Board, (i) review and monitor the
training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management, (i) review and monitor the Company's
compliance with the law and regulatory requirements, policies and
practices, (iv) formulate, review and monitor codes of conduct and
compliance manuals (if any) applicable to employees and Directors,
(v) make recommendations to the Board on major projects of
the Company, and (vi) review the Company's compliance with
the code provisions contained in the CG Code and disclosure of
corporate governance reports contained in the annual reports of
the Company. During the year ended 3| December 2023, the

Corporate Governance Committee held | meeting.
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The attendance records of the Corporate Governance Committee BE_Z-_=F+-A=+—HIFEE
meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set THEXEERZEZER I BLEDN
out below. N

Meeting attended/
Committee members Total
EZEE2ERE HEEE A
Mr. WONG Chi Kin (Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee) [/1
BEBEE(PFELRLZERTE)
Mr. CUI Yuzhi I/
EFHEE
Mr. Jl Yong [/
MBRAE

Model Code for Securities Transactions BEXZWEETA

The Company has adopted the code of conduct and procedures
governing Directors’ securities transactions in stringent compliance with
the Model Code. Specific enquiries have been made to all the Directors
and the Directors have confirmed that they had complied with the Model
Code during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company has also established its management system on trading
securities of the Company by its employees, which is not less exacting
than the Model Code, for securities transactions by employees who
are likely to possess inside information of the Company. No incident
of non-compliance of such system by the employees was noted by the

Company.
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AN\ A = A
EERERBRE
E.  Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Group and the Company for the year ended 3|
December 2023.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other financial disclosures required by

the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The senior management has provided such explanation and information
to the Board as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the financial information and position of the

Group.

External Auditor and Auditor’s Remuneration

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities for the Financial Statements is set out in the “Independent

Auditor's Report” from pages 93 to 98 of this annual report.

The external auditor of the Company will be invited to attend the annual
general meeting to answer questions about the conduct of the audit,
the preparation and content of the auditor’s report and the auditor's

independence.

For the year ended 3| December 2023, the fees paid/payable to the
Company's external auditor ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited for the

audit service was RMBI.7 million.

Fees paid/payable to the Company's external auditor ZHONGHUI
ANDA CPA Limited for non-audit services provided to the Group for
the year ended 3| December 2023 was RMBO0.2 million. Such non-audit
services mainly included professional service in relation to the review of

the 2023 interim report of the Company.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control

systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems include
a well-established organisational structure with clearly defined lines
of responsibility and authority. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the Group’s business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance

against material misstatement or loss.

The day-to-day departmental operations are entrusted to the individual
department which is accountable for its own conduct and performance
and is required to operate its own department’s business within the
scope of the delegated authority and to implement and strictly adhere
to the strategies and policies set by the Board from time to time. Each
department is also required to keep the senior management informed of
material developments of the department's business and implementation

of the policies and strategies set by the Board on a regular basis.

The Group has systems and procedures in place to identify, control and
report on major types of risks the Group encounters. Each department
is responsible for the assessment of individual type of risks arising under
its areas of responsibilities. Relevant risks identified are reported to the
Board for overseeing and monitoring of the respective types of risks. The
Group’s risk management and internal control systems are monitored
and reviewed regularly (at least three times a year) by the Board, which

covers the full financial year.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has reviewed the
effectiveness of the risk management and interal control systems of the
Group. The review has covered the financial, operational and compliance
and risk management aspects of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems implemented during the year ended 31 December 2023.
The review included discussions with the management of the Company,
its external and internal auditors. In addition, the Board has also reviewed
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the

Company's accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.

The Board was satisfied with the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk

management and internal control systems of the Group.
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The Group has put in place a robust framework for the disclosure of
inside information in compliance with the SFO. The framework sets out
the procedures and intemal controls for the handling and dissemination of
inside information in a timely manner so as to allow all the stakeholders
to apprehend the latest position of the Group. Under the procedures, any
Director or employee of the Company (especially the senior management
and unit heads, etc.) who is aware of any potential inside information
shall initiate the reporting procedures as soon as practicable. The Board is
responsible for accessing and determining the nature of such information
and for making relevant disclosure in accordance with the SFO and the
Listing Rules. The framework and its effectiveness are subject to review

on a regular basis according to established procedures.

Internal Audit

The Group has in place an internal audit function. The primary role of the
internal audit function is to help the Board and the senior management
of the Group to protect the assets, reputation and sustainability of the
Group. The internal audit function provides independent and objective
review on the design and operational effectiveness of the Group's
framework of internal control and risk management systems, as well
as the Group's governance practices. The internal audit function of the
Group is independent of the internal control systems of the Group.
The internal audit function also reviews the Company’s management's
action plans in relation to audit findings and verifies the adequacy and

effectiveness of the mitigating controls before formally closing the issues.

The internal audit function of the Group reports results and findings in its
audit work together with assessment of the overall risk management and
internal control framework to the Audit and Compliance Committee as

appropriate.
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Investor Relations and Shareholders Communications

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential to enhancing investor relations and their understanding to
the Group's business performance and strategies. The Company also
recognises the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to

make informed investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The chairman
of the Board, the chairman of each of the Remuneration Committee,
Audit and Compliance Committee and Nomination Committee, or, in
their absence, other members of the respective Board committees shall
attend and be available to answer questions at the general meetings of

the Company.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 9 May 2023,
separate resolution was proposed by the chairman in respect of each
separate issue which was itemised on the notice convening the annual
general meeting. Procedures for conducting a poll were explained by the
chairman at the annual general meeting of the Company. The chairman
of the Board and the chairman of each of the Board committees were
present to answer questions from the Shareholders. Representatives
from external auditors of the Company also attended the annual general
meeting of the Company. All resolutions were voted by way of poll.
The Company appointed its Hong Kong branch share registrar to act as
scrutineers of the annual general meeting of the Company and to ensure
that votes cast at the meetings were properly counted and recorded,
and the Company has announced the poll results of the annual general
meeting of the Company on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company in accordance with the Articles and the
Listing Rules. Save as disclosed above, no other general meeting of the

Company was held during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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To promote effective communication with Shareholders and investors, the
Company maintains a website at www.forgame.com.cn, with a dedicated
investor relations section and where information and updates on the
Group’s business developments and operations, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for

public access.

The Company has established a shareholders’ communication policy
since 3 October 2013 to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns
are appropriately addressed and will review it on a regular basis to
ensure its effectiveness. During the year, the Company has reviewed
the shareholders’ communication policy and confirmed that it has been

effectively implemented.

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong (presently at Unit 6, |/F, Trust Centre, 912 Cheung Sha Wan
Road, Lai Chi Kok, Kowloon Hong Kong) by post for the attention of the

Board Secretarial Department of the Company.

Upon receipt of written enquiries from Shareholders, the Company will

make responses to the Shareholders as soon as possible.

Dividends Policy

The Company's policy on payment of dividends (the “Dividend Policy”)
was adopted by the Company pursuant to the resolutions of the Board.
The Company will review the Dividend Policy, as appropriate, to ensure
the effectiveness of the Dividend Policy. The Dividend Policy is set out as

below:

Subject to the Cayman Islands Company Law and the Articles, the
Company may declare dividends in any currency through a general
meeting, but no dividend may be declared in excess of the amount
recommended by the Board. The Articles provide that dividends may be
declared and paid out of the profit, realized or unrealized, or from any
reserve set aside from profits which the Directors determine is no longer
needed. With the sanction of an ordinary resolution, dividends may also
be declared and paid out of a share premium account or any other fund
or account which can be authorized for this purpose in accordance with

the Cayman Islands Company Law.
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Except as provided under the terms of a particular issue, or with respect
to the rights attached to any Shares, (i) all dividends will be declared and
paid according to the amounts paid up on the Shares in respect of which
the dividend is paid, but no amount paid up on a Share in advance of
calls may for this purpose be treated as paid up on the Share; and (ii) all
dividends will be apportioned and paid pro rata according to the amount
paid up on the Shares during any portion or portions of the period in
respect of which the dividend is paid. The Directors may deduct from
any dividend or other monies payable to any of the Shareholders or in
respect of any Shares all sums of money (if any) presently payable by

such Shareholder to the Company on account of calls or otherwise.

In addition, the declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of the

Board, and the amounts of dividends actually declared and paid will also

depend on:

J our general business conditions;

o our financial results;

0 our capital requirements;

. interests of the Shareholders; and

g any other factors which the Board may deem relevant.

The future dividend payments to the Shareholders will also depend upon
the availability of dividends received from our PRC subsidiaries. PRC laws
require that dividends be paid out of the net profit calculated according
to PRC accounting principles. PRC laws also require PRC enterprises
to set aside part of their net profit as statutory reserves before they
distribute the net proceeds. These statutory reserves are not available for

distribution as cash dividends.

The Board has the absolute discretion in whether to declare any dividend
for any year and, if it decides to declare a dividend, how much dividend

to declare.
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The Company will continue to re-evaluate the Dividend Policy in light
of the financial condition and the prevailing economic climate. However,
the determination to pay dividends will be made at the discretion of the
Board and will be based upon the Company's eamings, cash flow, financial
condition, capital requirements, statutory fund reserve requirements and
any other conditions that the Directors deem relevant. The payment
of dividends may also be limited by legal restrictions and by financing
agreements that the Company may enter into in the future. There can be
no assurance that dividends of any amount will be declared or distributed

in any year.

Shareholder Rights

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution is
proposed at Shareholders' meetings on each substantial separate issue,
including the election of individual Director. Meanwhile, the procedures
for Shareholders to (i) convene an extraordinary general meeting, (ii)
direct their enquiries to the Board and (iii) put forward proposals at

Shareholders’ meetings are set out below.

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to
the Company's Hong Kong branch share registrar, namely Tricor Investor
Services Limited at |7/F, Far East Finance Centre, |6 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong. Shareholders who wish to put enquiries to the Board can
send their enquiries to the company secretary of the Company in writing
to the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong, who will
ensure these enquiries to be properly directed to the Board. Shareholders
may at any time make a request for the Company's information to the
extent such information is publicly available. Corporate communications
of the Company will be provided to Shareholders in plain language
and in both English and Chinese versions to facilitate Shareholders’
understanding. Shareholders have the right to choose the language (either
English or Chinese) or means of receipt of the corporate communications

(in hard copy or through electronic means).
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General meetings shall be convened on the written requisition of any two
or more Shareholders deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong, specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company, which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. General meetings may also be convened on the written
requisition of any one Shareholder which is a recognized clearing house
(or its nominee(s)) deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong, specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company, which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. The same procedures also apply to any proposal to be
put forward at the general meetings. If the Directors do not within 2|
days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene
the meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s)
themselves or any of them representing more than one-half of the total
voting rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened
by the Directors provided that any meeting so convened shall not be
held after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the
requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the

Company.

All resolutions put forward at a general meeting will be taken by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules. In addition, the poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange after the

Shareholders’ meeting in the manner as required by the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company's Articles
of Association were amended to (i) conforming with new Listing
Rules requirements regarding core shareholder protection standards
(if) provide flexibility to the Company in relation to the conduct of
electronic meetings, and (i) make other corresponding and housekeeping
amendments. The latest version of the Company’s Articles is available on

the respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Company Secretary

The Company engages an external service provider to provide secretarial
services and appointed Sir KWOK Siu Man KR (“Sir Seaman Kwok”) as

the company secretary of the Company.

Sir Seaman Kwok's main contact person at the Company is Mr. ZHU
Liang (Chief Financial Officer). All Directors have access to the advice
and services of the company secretary of the Company to ensure that
the Board procedures and all applicable laws, rules and regulations, are

followed.

Sir Seaman Kwok is a fellow member of each of the Chartered
Governance Institute in England, The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute, The Institute of Financial Accountants in England, the Institute
of Public Accountants in Australia, The Association of Hong Kong
Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and the Hong Kong
Society of Registered Financial Planners, as well as a member of the Hong
Kong Securities and Investment Institute. For the financial year ended
31 December 2023, Sir Seaman Kwok had complied with Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules by taking no less than |5 hours of relevant professional

training.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

CUI Yuzhi, aged 58, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
on 7 May 2020. With effect from 4 June 2021, Mr. Cui was redesignated as a
Non-executive Director, and was appointed as the chairman of the Board and
the authorised representative of the Company. He was further redesignated
as an Executive Director and appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company with effect from 25 August 2021. Mr. Cui ceased to act as the Chief
Executive Officer on |7 December 2021 but was re-appointed as the Chief
Executive Officer with effect from 8 December 2023.

Mr. Cui is a seasoned independent investment advisor. Mr. Cui has more than
20 years' experience in finance with deep expertise in international capital
market and enterprise operations. Mr. Cui held senior positions at various
organizations, including the executive president of Tendcare Medical Group,
the Portfolio Manager at Atlantis Investment Hong Kong, the general manager
of investment and operations at China Dili Group (formerly known as Renhe
Commercial Holdings Company Limited), whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1387.HK), the chief financial officer of Zhong An Group
Limited (formerly known as Zhong An Real Estate Limited), whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 672. HK), the chief financial officer of
Excellence Group, the chief financial officer of Treasury Holdings China Limited
and the vice president of Shanghai Forte Group. Since 2016, Mr. Cui has served
as an independent nonexecutive director, the chairman of the audit committee
and member of the nomination committee of Sino ICT Holdings Limited, the
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 365.HK). Mr. Cui

also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Cui holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Applied Physics from the
University of Notre Dame in the United States (graduated with highest honor),
and MBA from the University of Chicago Booth School of Business in the
United States.
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ZHU Liang, aged 56, was appointed as a joint Chief Financial Officer and Vice
President of the Company on 7 May 2020. He became the Chief Financial
Officer after the other joint chief financial officer resigned on 30 June 2020. Mr.
Zhu was appointed as an Executive Director with effect from |3 October 2020.

From 1990 to 1993, Mr. Zhu served as a statistician at Wuhan Iron and Steel
(Group) Corporation in the PRC. From 1994 to 2012, Mr. Zhu assumed various
positions, such as an accountant, financial officer, director and legal general
manager at Synnex Technology International Corporation, a company principally
engaged in the distribution of information, communication, consumer product,
and semiconductor products, and the shares of which are listed on the Taiwan
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2347.TW). From 2012 to 2019, Mr. Zhu was the
chief financial officer of Shanghai Evendata Digital Technology Co., Ltd. in the
PRC. From 2019 and prior to joining the Company, Mr. Zhu served as the
general legal advisor of Shenzhen Jiuli Supply Chain Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhu currently

also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Zhu graduated from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law in the PRC

in October 1990, where he obtained a bachelor's degree in Accounting.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. WANG Wenpeng, aged 48, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of
the Company on 8 December 2023.

Mr. Wang has over 20 years of experience in the internet industry. Mr. Wang
worked as senior vice president at Xunlei Limited from 2016 to 2022, the
shares of which are listed on NASDAQ, and as manager of cloud service
department at JOYY Inc. from 2012 to 2016, the shares of which are listed
on NASDAQ. He also worked as the manager of e-commerce department at
Tencent Holdings Limited from 2005 to 2006, the shares of which are listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 700.HK) and as senior software engineer of
Yahoo China from 2004 to 2005, the shares of which are listed on NASDAQ.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

WONG Chi Kin, aged 50, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director on 27 April 2020.

Mr. Wong has over 25 years of accounting, banking and finance experience in
international investment banks and commercial banks as well as various listed
companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Tsui Wah Holdings Limited (“Tsui Wah"), whose shares
are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: I314.HK), on 5 November
2012 and was re-designated as a nonexecutive director of Tsui Wah on |
November 2016 till now. Besides, Mr. Wong has been an independent non-
executive director of Modern Chinese Medicine Group Co., Ltd. (Stock Code:
1634.HK) with effect from |3 April 2023, the deputy chief executive officer of
Orient Victory Smart Urban Services Holdings Ltd (Stock Code: 265.HK) with
effect from 6 July 2023 and an independent non-executive director of Jiu Rong
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2358 HK) with effect from 24 August 2023,

respectively.

From March 2017, to June 2023, Mr. Wong was a non-executive director of
Asiaray Media Group Limited, whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1993.HK). From November 2021 to February 2022, Mr. Wong
was an independent non-executive director and a member of the independent
investigation committee of Mayer Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: |16, HK). From July 2018 to July 2019,
Mr. Wong was an independent non-executive director of Shenzhou Space
Park Group Limited (“Shenzhou Space”), mainly responsible for providing
independent advice to Shenzhou Space on listing resumption. The shares of
Shenzhen Space were listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 692.HK) The
listing of Shenzhou Space Shares has been cancelled with effect from 9:.00 a.m.
on 10 December 2019 under Rule 6.01A of the Listing Rules. Mr. Wong was
also the chief financial officer of various listed companies in Hong Kong. From
October 2014 to October 2018, Mr. Wong was the chief financial officer of
Orient Victory Travel Group Company Limited, whose shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 265.HK). From September 2011 to October 2014,
Mr. Wong was the chief financial officer of China Qinfa Group Limited, whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 866.HK)

Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Science (Honours) degree in Finance from
City University of Hong Kong in 1996, a master’s degree in Practicing Accounting
from Monash University, Australia in 2001, an executive master of Business
Administration degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2010.
Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a fellow member of CPA Australia and an associate member of

The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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LU Xiaoma, aged 57, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
on |13 October 2020. Mr. Lu has been a managing partner of East Stone Capital
Limited Partners, an investment management company focusing on cross-
border opportunities, since January 2018, where he is primarily responsible for
overall management and project sourcing. Further, Mr. Lu has been the chief
executive officer and director of East Stone Acquisition Corporation since
February 2020, where he is primarily responsible for acquisition target sourcing
and compliance. Mr. Lu has also been an independent director of Yango Group
Co, Ltd and BOC Intemational (China) Co., Ltd since April 2017 and October
2018, respectively, where his job duties mainly include risk management and
compliance monitoring. He has rich experience in investment, financing and

strategic mergers and acquisitions.

Mr. Lu joined State Street Bank & Trust Corporation since 1999, and was
appointed as its vice president and the chief representative in China from May
2005 to August 2007 and August 2007 to August 2010, respectively, where
he was mainly responsible for participating in merger and acquisition projects
and managing the development of a new business line with annual revenue
over US$100 million, as well as setting up a branch in Beijing and leading all
market development activities in China, respectively. Mr. Lu was employed as
a dedicated non-executive director of China Construction Bank Corporation,
representing Central Huijin Investment Corporation Limited, the domestic
branch of China Investment Corporation from August 2010 to November
2012, where he was primarily responsible for overseeing risk management
strategy and focusing on credit risk and operational risk and leading management
structure and strategy in managing domestic banking investment. Mr. Lu also
served as the deputy general manager of The Shenzhen Stock Exchange from
November 2012 to May 2015, where he was primarily responsible for managing
information disclosure, regulating more than 1,000 listed companies and leading
all fixed income product operations and market establishment. From May
2015 to December 2016, Mr. Lu was appointed as the group vice president
of Wanda Financial Group Limited and chief executive officer of Wanda
Investment Company, where he was mainly responsible for setting up overall
business plan and strategy for a new business and in charge of all corporate
strategic acquisition and financial investments. Subsequently from March 2017
to November 2017, Mr. Lu served as the executive vice president of Kangde
Investment Group Limited, where he was primarily in charge of all investment

and merger and acquisition activities.

Mr. Lu graduated with a bachelor's degree and a master's degree in Thermal
Engineering from Tsinghua University in the PRC in 1988 and 1993, respectively,
and a master's degree in business administration from Boston College in the
United States in 1999.
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JI Yong, aged 43, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
on 6 September 2021. Mr. Ji obtained a bachelor's degree in international
business administration and a master's degree in international business law
from the University of Central Lancashire in UK in 2005 and 2006, respectively.
Mr. Ji worked in Kingfisher Group as an assistant in the investment decision
department and a marketing specialist from 2006 to 2007. From 2007 to 2009,
Mr. Ji worked as an assistant to chief financial officer in Excellence Group. From
2009 to 2014, Mr. Ji served as an executive director and project vice president
of LongTree Capital, where he was mainly responsible for project investment
and operations, and had successfully facilitated the investment, execution,
operation and exit of various projects. Since 2014, Mr. Ji has been the vice
president and general manager in China of Impulse Dynamics, Motorika Ltd,
where he holds full responsibility for the establishment and expansion of the

company's business in China.

GENERAL

Save as disclosed, none of the Directors:

0) held any other positions in the Company or other members of the

Group as at the Latest Practicable Date;

(i)~ had any other relationship with any Directors, senior management or
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company as at

the Latest Practicable Date;

(i) held any directorship in any other public companies, the securities of
which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the

three years prior to the Latest Practicable Date; and

(iv)  had any interest in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO
or is a director or an employee of a company which has an interest or

short position in the Shares and underlying shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, to the best of the knowledge, information and belief of
the Directors after having made all reasonable enquiries, there were no other
matters with respect to the appointment of the Directors that needs to be
brought to the attention of Shareholders and there was no information relating
to the Directors that was required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of
the Listing Rules as at the Latest Practicable Date.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EELEAEEERRE

ot

SENIOR MANAGEMENT SREEE

The biography of Mr. CUI Yuzhi and Mr. ZHU Liang have been disclosed under EFEHERRREECZEREEIATES |ZEHFE
the paragraph headed “Executive Directors". E -
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Independent Auditor’s Report

ol

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Forgame Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 99 to 191, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 3|1 December 2023, and consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including

material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 3| December 2023,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the
“IASB") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Intemational Standards on Auditing
(“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the I[ESBA Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for

our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R ST

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Trade receivables

Refer to Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of trade receivables for impairment. This
impairment test is significant to our audit because the balance of trade
receivables of RMB66,352,000 as at 31 December 2023 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment test
involves application of judgement and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

= Assessing the Group's procedures on granting credit limits and credit

periods to customers;

= Assessing the Group's relationship and transaction history with the

customers;
- Evaluating the Group's impairment assessment;
= Assessing ageing of the debts;
= Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;
= Checking subsequent settlements from the customers; and

= Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit risk in the

consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group's impairment test for trade receivables is supported

by the available evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Property and equipment

Refer to Note |6 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of property and equipment for impairment.
This impairment test is significant to our audit because the balance of property
and equipment of RMB63,224,000 as at 31 December 2023 is material to
the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment test

involves application of judgement and is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

Assessing the identification of the related cash generating units;

= Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the value-in-use calculations;

= Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow projections;

- Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions (including revenue

growth, profit margins, terminal growth rates and discount rates); and

= Checking input data to supporting evidence.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for property and equipment is

supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information in the Company's annual report, but does not

include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R ST

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required

to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the
IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concemn, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic atternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes
our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic

decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement

and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concem. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R ST

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions

and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit and Compliance Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in intemal control that we identify

during our audit.

We also provide Audit and Compliance Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate treats of safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with Audit and Compliance Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number PO7374

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024

98  FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2023 Annual Report

- TEAHUBHREANEEIFRAIR EEAA
BREFEE  URAHMERRREETAER
Bz HMEIE o

- BESREAEBXEHLBNMBEEMEDNT
R EENENERE  AEHEHMBRRE

RER - ESREEEETRINIMA BB
1T - BEERBEFTBRARRZEEE -
BREMEIRIN  BEEEBHEARTE BRI
METHE  FRZHE  EXFAHERE  BRES

R BRI A RS R E R E AR o

BEFRENFTEHARZEGRREN  HABFLEHN
ARBBYMMNBRERERER  YRMFMERE

AR EMER A EESEB Y ENMEEEME
EIE - U REEAMNERT « REEELURE R
SERER L &3 FE e o

MHEBFFESRZEGEBENEIED - BFHEEML
FRHUAMEHVBERRNEBARRER - AMBK
FRBTFR - EEAERBENREP LG LER

BRIPERERTANARBEEELEEE  FAERRF

AOBERT  MRAEBEHEESFRETBBRER
ERNEHARRBBELNARNE  EFRETE
ERETEBZLEFR -

FERESTMERAERAT
HEDIED

BER

EZIHHEE
HEFEEZRIP07374

-—=F

&E  —_E-_WF=A=+/\H



N— _ &

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

\\
RN

SO EaEREtEEEER |

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE

2023 2022
—Eo=F T
Notes RMB’000 RMRB'000
Kzt ARET T ARBETT
Revenue WA 7 60,172 14,116
Cost of revenue PR AR (51,131) (108,343)
Gross profit EF 9,041 5,773
Selling and marketing expenses SHE RIS HEER (8,995) (3474)
Administrative expenses TR (27,165) (31,060)
Research and development expenses e (26,619) (31,586)
Other income E itz 8 8,077 4,239
Other gains — net HibF 5558 13,228 12,090
Finance cost R IDN 10 (303) (395)
Share of profit of associates JEAE & R R A 4,633 4,129
Reversal of financial assets measured REMRKAGT 2R E E R RFHE
at amortised cost — net 12 10,488 20,002
Loss before income tax MRFTSHB AT 18 (17,615) (20,282)
Income tax (expense)/credit FTesti (X)) HEk I'l ) 175
Loss for the year attributable to the owners of AR FEE AEGEFREIE
the Company 12 (17,617) (20,107)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: Ht2mE (&)W
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: NEEH B EmIER -
Changes in fair value of equity investments at fair 22 F(EFE A A 2 E e iz 15
value through other comprehensive income B AT EES (12,654) (9,756)
Deferred tax effect arising from changes in fair BRAFEF AR MR ERR
value of equity investments at fair value through & Z AFEEBFTEA 2 IELERIA
other comprehensive income T - 2012
Currency translation differences HNEBITE = 2,819 18316
(9,835) 10,572
EREERARAT g0z 99
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-=F1-A=+-HIZFE

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

2023 2022
—Eo=F T
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Hrat ARETT ARBETT
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss: BEF B EmaIER -
Changes in fair value of debt investments at fair ~ #E AT EFFAEMEE IS ERIE
value through other comprehensive income B AT EES (11,688) 16,086
Reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal of BEEAFEF AL MBS E
debt investments at fair value through other BIREREN Y HEEER
comprehensive income (13,793) =
(25,481) 16,086
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, FREMZE (EE) Wi - Nk
net of tax BiE (35,316) 26,658
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year AT HEEABLEREE (FIE),
attributable to the owners of the Company W4 E (52,933) 6551
Basic and diluted loss per share (RMB) BREARBEEE(UARYETE) I5 0.12) (0.14)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
S PSR R &R

As at 3| December 2023

R=E-=F+-A=+-H

2023 2022
—E-= =
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
liopza AR¥T T AREFT
ASSETS ’E
Non-current assets FREEE
Property and equipment EYSE T 16 63,224 93,108
Intangible assets BmIZAE 17 32,986 18,523
Right-of-use assets FREEE /18 3,386 3,461
Investments in associates B E DRI E 20 - 62,909
Investments at fair value through other BEAFEGFAEMEEKZENIZE
comprehensive income 2/ 91,048 73,975
Prepayments and other receivables TR FRIE R B A R IR 24 10,679 15291
201,323 267,267
Current assets mENEE
Inventories =8 22 16,245 35396
Trade receivables B 5 RWFIR 23 66,352 77,06
Prepayments and other receivables TR FRIA J B fth FE U FRIE 24 37,443 16,359
Financial assets at fair value through profit or BERAFEFAEENCREE
loss 25 124,999 83,726
Investments at fair value through other BAHER A B 2 E WK E
comprehensive income 2/ 13,454 18,565
Restricted cash ZRHIRE 26 - 1,020
Cash and cash equivalents B RIREEEY 26 195,949 224,623
454,442 456,750
Total assets BERE 655,765 724,017
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Consolidated Statement of Finanil Position
| PR IS AR R R

As at 31 December 2023
R-B_=F+_A=+—H

2023 2022
ZEZE —_=__
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
HaE AR¥ET T ARETTT
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES E=REE
Equity R
Share capital [N 33 93 93
Reserves i 35 590,181 643,114
Total equity fEsAE 590,274 643,207
Liabilities =L
Non-current liabilities ERBERS
Lease liabilities HEEE 3/ 1,282 2,498
Current liabilities RBERE
Trade payables 2 S ER IR 27 11,965 11,399
Other payables and accruals HAh B 5RIE R ESHE R 28 44,881 58,826
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or EAY EFF ABZHNSREE
loss 25 1,938 848
Bank borrowings RITER 29 - 3,850
Contract liabilities aBHBE 30 3,017 2,148
Lease liabilities HEAE 3/ 2,408 1241
64,209 78312
Total liabilities EEHAE 65,491 80,810
Total equity and liabilities EEkEERE 655,765 724,017
Net current assets BEREBEE 390,233 378,438
Total assets less current liabilities EEHAEHRBRRBERS 591,556 645,705

The consolidated financial statements on pages 99 to 191 were approved and ~E99H Z 19| AA) S I B HEAHEFER T 1
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2024 and signed on ~ F=H =1+ /\A#EREZETIZEWHX T HHEEE:
its behalf by:

Cui Yuzhi Zhu Liang
EFEH KR
Director Director
BZ EZ
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BOHEREER

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE-Z-=41t-A=1-BLEE

Shares
Held for Debt
Restricted Share-based  Investments
Share Share  Share Units Capital  Statutory  Compensation  Revaluation  Translation Other  Accumulated
Capital ~ Premium Scheme ~ Reserve  Reserves Reserve  Reserve Differences  Reserves Losses Total
RERH
RHER R
RN RERN RERE
Bx  RyeR R E4RE iRRE  MERE EMRE FEEE  AfRE  ZHEE &3t
RMBO0O  RMBO0O  RMBOOO  RMBO0O  RMBA000 RMBO0O  RMBO0O  RMBOOO  RMBI00O RMBO0O  RMBO00
ARBTT ARRTT ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETn ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARFTR
At | January 2022 NZEI2-F-A 93 1146603 (28900) 30000 20730 208483 = 454 (404949)  (1379158) 636,65
Total comprehensive income/(loss) EhzEhs/ (B8)
for the year 25 = = = = = = 16,086 18316 (7,744 (20,107) 6,351
Changes in equity for the year ~ ETEREE) - - - - - - le0s6 18316 (744 (010) 6551
A 31 December 2022 and RZE--E+-A=1-AR
| January 2023 Z3Z=E-R-A 93 2146603 (28900) 30000 20730 208483 16,086 62070 (412693) (1399265 643207
Total comprehensive (loss)fincome ER2 T (1) /K&
for the year a5 = = = = = = (25481) 2819 (12.654) (I7617)  (52933)
Changes in equiy for the year ~ EAERS - - - - - - (540 W9 (2654 (1767 (529%))
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=E+ZA=1-H 93 2,146,603 (28,900) 30,000 20,730 208483 (9,395) 64889 (425347)  (1416882) 590274
EEERARAR £xszo3 103



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EHEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-=F1-A=+-HIZFE

2023 2022
—EC=F —EF=-—
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR AR¥ET T

Cash flows from operating activities RETHABRENE
Loss before income tax BR P15 %0 & 18 (17,615) (20,282)
Adjustments for: AT ZIEEL A -
Depreciation of property and equipment M KR EITE 27,686 19,961
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAEEENE 1,476 1,226
Amortisation of intangible assets fE B 1,059 496
Allowance for inventories FEEME 1,993 6,532
Dividends received from investments at fair value through WHIZ A ERT AB=NRER
profit or loss xS (163) (187)
Dividends from debt investments at fair value through REZAFET AR EERER
other comprehensive income BEBERERE (4,641) (2,984)
Interest income F B Wa (3,242) (993)
Finance cost IR IDWIN 303 395
Gain on dilution of investment in an associate A N R 8 & B E e - (8,126)
Change in fair value of investments at fair value through BAFEFABRNEE 2 AFE
profit or loss 2H) 17,497 9,006
Gain on disposal of investments at fair value through HERA AT ABRHIREDN
profit or loss s (53,799) (6,574)
Loss on disposal of debt investments at fair value through &R A FET ARt 2 EUREEAY
other comprehensive income BRI EREE 26,321 =
Share of profit of associates JE(RESE & X B A (4,633) (4,129)
Reversal of financial assets measured at amortised RN EN S REERD
cost — net HER (10,488) (20,002)
Loss on disposal of property and equipment HE M KRB EE 12 -
Loss on deemed disposal/disposal of investments in BIEHE, /DS R — & A A6
an associate HEMEE 1,209 259
Exchange (gain)/loss, net [E X (Was ),/ E5i8 F 5 (3,379) 243
Operating loss before changes in working capital LiEE P ERIMLEERE (20,404) (25,159)
Change in inventories GFEZE) 17,158 (15,436)
Change in trade receivables B 5 EWRIBEE) 11,103 (18,628)
Change in prepayments and other receivables TR RRIR Ko H th fE MR E (27.833) 13,224
Change in trade payables H S ENRIBES) 566 1711
Change in other payables and accruals Hib e RIBRIEFTEREE) (19,994) 36,128
Change in contract liabilities SREEEE) 869 (26,734)
Change in loan receivables EWE &S 15,050 2,278
Cash used in operations EFTRR S (23,485) (32,616)
Interest received B HFIE 3242 3220
Income tax paid EASFTEH (2 )
Net cash used in operating activities RETHMARSEHE (20,245) (29,398)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EHRERER

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE

2023 2022
—EC-=F —ZE-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMFR  ARMTF
Cash flows from investing activities RETHFBRENE
Purchases of property and equipment BEYMEREE (485) (122)
Proceeds from disposals of property and equipment HE W R BB HIE 23 -
Purchases of intangible assets BERTERE (136) =
Proceeds from disposal of investments, net SR E S RIEFEE 452,692 8,682
Purchases of debts investments at fair value through BEEREATEFAEMEEKER
other comprehensive income EREE (47,203) (47,474)
Purchases of equity investments at fair value through BERATEFAEMEAREL
other comprehensive income R E - (4,306)
Payments for investments at fair value through profit or loss & A {EFT AB AR E IR (414,454) (92,128)
Dividends from debt investments at fair value through REAEATHE AR E =
other comprehensive income BEFRERE 4,247 -
Dividends received from investments at fair value through WHZ A P ERT ABENRER
profit or loss i85\ 163 187
Proceed from disposal of an associate o & — REEsE & R R FTS 5R08 - 4,162
Withdrawal for restricted cash PR IIER £ 1R ER 1,020 649
Net cash used in investing activities REZEFTARESFHE (4,133) (130,350)
Cash flows from financing activities REFEMESRERE
Bank loans raised E5RITER - 4,000
Bank interest paid EAFIHRITHE (115) (187)
Repayment for bank loans R IRTTER (3,850) (4,150)
Payments for lease liabilities HEAENR (1,894) (1,162)
Payments for lease interest HEFBR (188) (208)
Net cash used in financing activities METEFTARES TR (6,047) (1,707)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RERBEESEEYRD B (30,425) (161,455)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year FYRe MRS EFEY 224,623 370,266
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes R )7 1,751 15,812
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FEREESRREEEY 195,949 224,623
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RERREEEBYHN
Cash and cash equivalents BHe MREEEY 195,949 224623
EREERARAR £xszo3 105
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Forgame Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 26 July 2011 as an exempted company with limited
liability. The address of its registered office is at the offices of Osiris
International Cayman Limited, Suite #4-210, Governors Square, 23 Lime
Tree Bay Avenue, P.O. Box 32311, Grand Cayman KY[-1209, Cayman
Islands. The address of its principal place in Hong Kong is Unit 6, I/F,
Trust Centre, 912 Cheung Sha Wan Road, Lai Chi Kok, Kowloon, Hong
Kong. The address of its headquarters is Room 106, Block A Phase |,
Innovation Technology Plaza, Tianan Digital City, Chegongmiao, Futian
District, Shenzhen, China. The Company's shares (the “Shares”) in issue
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are principally engaged in developing
and publishing domestic and overseas webgames and mobile games (the
"Game Business”) and trading of electronic device and semiconductor (the
“Electronic Device and Semiconductor Business”) in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC"). The details of principal activities of its subsidiaries

are set out in note |9 to the consolidated financial statements.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) that are relevant to
its operations and effective for its accounting year beginning on | January
2023. IFRSs comprise International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS™);
International Accounting Standards; and Interpretations. The adoption of
these new and revised IFRSs did not result in significant changes to the
Group’s accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements and amounts reported for the current year and prior

years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised IFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective. The Group has already commenced an
assessment of the impact of these new and revised IFRSs but is not yet
in a position to state whether these new and revised IFRSs would have a

material impact on its results of operations and financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with IFRSs issued by International Accounting Standards Board, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of investments

which are carried at their fair values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with
IFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and estimates. It also
requires the directors of the Company to exercise its judgements in the
process of applying the accounting policies. The areas involving critical
judgements and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to these consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 4 to the

consolidated financial statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these

consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries
are entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity
when the Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct
the relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s

returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights as
well as potential voting rights held by other parties, to determine whether
it has control. A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has

the practical ability to exercise that right.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Consolidation (Cont'd)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date the

control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss
of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained
in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company's share of the net assets of that
subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any

related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency

with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position
and consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year between the non-

controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a

deficit balance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Consolidation (Cont'd)

Changes in the Company's ownership interest in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions
(i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised

directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

Business combination and goodwiill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of a
subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition is measured
at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred and contingent consideration. Acquisition-related
costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are
incurred and the services are received. Identifiable assets and liabilities of
the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date fair

values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share of
the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Company's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase

which is attributed to the Company.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Goodwill
is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The method
of measuring impairment losses of goodwill is the same as that of other
assets as stated in the accounting policy below. Impairment losses
of goodwill are recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not
subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition for the

purpose of impairment testing.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Business combination and goodwill (Cont'd)

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured at the
non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate share of the net fair value of

the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition date.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of an entity but is not control or joint control
over those policies. The existence and effect of potential voting rights
that are currently exercisable or convertible, including potential voting
rights held by other entities, are considered when assessing whether the
Group has significant influence. In assessing whether a potential voting
right contributes to significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial

ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements by the equity method and is initially recognised at cost.
Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are
measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the
cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair value of the
associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is
tested for impairment together with the investment at the end of each
reporting period when there is objective evidence that the investment
is impaired. Any excess of the Group'’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised

in consolidated profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Associates (Cont'd)

The Group’s share of an associate's post-acquisition profits or losses
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share of the post-
acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the consolidated
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against
the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's share of losses
in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including
any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the Group
resumes recognising its share of those profits only after its share of the

profits equals the share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a loss of
significant influence represents the difference between (i) the fair value
of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment
retained in that associate and (ii) the Group's share of the net assets
of that associate plus any remaining goodwill relating to that associate
and any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture, the
Group continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure

the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its associates
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency

with the policies adopted by the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Foreign currency translation

(9

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the Company's presentation currency
and the functional currency of the principal operating subsidiaries
of the Group. The functional currency of the Company is United
States dollars (“US$"”). The directors of the Company consider that
choosing RMB as the presentation currency best suits the needs of

the shareholders and investors.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency on initial recognition using the exchange rates prevailing
on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this translation

policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in foreign
currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the dates

when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
other comprehensive income, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in profit

or loss.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd) 3. FEBTBEAE)
Foreign currency translation (Cont'd) INEIRE ()
(c)  Translation on consolidation (c) EURERE

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have
a functional currency different from the Company's presentation
currency are translated into the Company’s presentation currency

as follows:

0) Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of

that statement of financial position;

(i) Income and expenses are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the transaction dates);

and

(i) All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the

exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation
of the net investment in foreign entities and of borrowings are
recognised in the exchange reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in consolidated

profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign

entity and translated at the closing rate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Property and equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation

and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the period

in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated at rates sufficient
to write off their cost less their residual values over the estimated useful

lives on a straight-line basis. The principal useful lives are as follows:

Land and building 20 years
Furniture and office equipment 5 years
Servers and other equipment 3 -5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of estimated
useful lives or remaining terms of

the lease

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed

and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
The gain or loss on disposal of property and equipment is the difference

between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant

asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Leases

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding lease
liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by the Group.
Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at
rates to write off their cost over the shorter of the asset's useful life and
the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as
follows:
Properties 20% — 50%

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of the
initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments prepaid, initial
direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the lease payments discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or otherwise the
Group's incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic

rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an initial lease term of

|2 months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value below US$5,000.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred. An internally generated intangible asset
arising from the Group's games business development is recognised only

if all of the following conditions are met:

— An asset is created that can be identified (such as software and

new processes);

= It is probable that the asset created will generate future economic

benefits; and

= The development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Internally generated intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of |0 years. Where
no internally generated intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is

incurred.

Computer software licenses

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the
costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. These
costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives of 2-10 years, and
recorded in amortisation within operating expenses in the consolidated

statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income.

Patents
Patents are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over their useful

lives of 10 years.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined using the weighted average basis. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make

the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the statement of
financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual

provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets; or the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On derecognition
of a financial asset, the difference between the asset's carrying amount

and the sum of the consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and

the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis
where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract whose terms
require delivery of the asset within the timeframe established by the
market concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly
attributable transaction costs except in the case of investments at fair
value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of investments at fair value through profit or loss are

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

B OB B ERAR M AL

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE

TEERBE(E)

BRRKLEEIAEHMIA
TREELTBABRAKBEKRATAGOK
XHETRITT R - R RER -

EREERBRRESRENANENSER - A
SEEREERERNBAN SRR N @ HE
% dASEYBEEBMREEEREENER
BB B K B 3R 18 2 R AR B 38 E RO 4 -
AeMEERKRIRER REUILBIASHEE
B AEREEEEKRAELMAEZENIES
R -

REBEHNNEEEEERR  BUEXE
ﬁ ASBMARRKRILEER - KLLEINSHE
Eﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ NREZFANZENBESHE

TREE

HRE S NIRFRERARBETSMRTEHR
NBASHLEERE @ MeREERRSAHE
EERREILER  WRAFEMNEEEER
ZRENFTHER - EIRAFEFABRENRE
ABRON - BN FEFAABSENREBREH
B 5 B AN BB 48 25 P FERR.

EWERERAT FEHs023 117

N @®>.

[

RN



B OB SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-=F1-A=+-HIZFE

3.

118

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Financial assets (Cont'd)

Financial assets of the Group are classified as under the following

categories:

(@)

Financial assets at amortised cost;

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive

income;

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive

income; and

Investments at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are classified under this category if they satisfy both

of the following conditions:

= the assets are held within a business model whose objective
is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows;

and

= the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected credit

losses.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd) 3. FEBTBEAE)
Financial assets (Cont'd) ERMEEE)
(b)  Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (b) BERAFHEFTAAMEZENZWEZERE
Debt investments are classified under this category if they satisfy fi i & FHIRMIAGRN - BRREESER
both of the following conditions: ZHAR
- the assets are held within a business model whose objective - LNEMRERNEENRERER
is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and HEEENEBEAFANEE :
selling assets; and IS4

= the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified = BESKHIRTREE B BE &£ K
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and RENEAERAREERSF SR
interest on the principal amount outstanding. BME °

They are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income EHAEBBERARNTETE - ERERA

calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in profit TR ENNBRARIBERPHER -

or loss.

The assets are treated as monetary items. A foreign currency ZEEWRAEKIEE - INEEERKRA

asset is treated as an asset measured at amortised cost in the NS SR ARG BB E © B

foreign currency. Exchange differences on the amortised cost are P RN R P R o

recognised in profit or loss.

Other gains or losses are recognised in other comprehensive Hin MG EERN Kt mhER
income and accumulated in the debt investment revaluation WHREFBIREEMFEED RIE - NEIERE
reserve. On derecognition of an investment, the cumulative gains RIEER - BHERESHHBEBEPENRE
or losses previously accumulated in the debt investment revaluation KRN EHEREENHEEER -

reserve are reclassified to profit or loss.

The loss allowance for expected credit losses is recognised in EHEEEENEEREN A M2 E R
other comprehensive income and does not reduce the carrying FRERETFHSEENREE °

amount of the assets.
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3.

120

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Financial assets (Cont'd)

(©

(d)

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income

On initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable election
(on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate investments
in equity instruments that are not held for trading as at fair value

through other comprehensive income.

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the other reserve. On
derecognition of an investment, the cumulative gains or losses
previously accumulated in the other reserve are not reclassified to

profit or loss.

Dividends on these investments are recognised in profit or loss,
unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the

cost of the investment.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they do not
meet the conditions to be measured at amortised cost and
the conditions of debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income unless the Group designates an equity
investment that is not held for trading as at fair value through

other comprehensive income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
measured at fair value with any gains or losses arising from changes
in fair values recognised in profit or loss. The fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss are net of any interest income
and dividend income. Interest income and dividend income are

recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses on
financial assets at amortised cost and debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Expected credit losses are the
weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of a default

occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the loss
allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the expected
credit losses that result from all possible default events over the expected
life of that financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”) for trade
and loan receivables, or if the credit risk on that financial instrument has

increased significantly since initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables) has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial instrument at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime
expected credit losses that represents the expected credit losses that
result from default events on that financial instrument that are possible

within 12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the loss
allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required amount is

recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits
with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash

and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.
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3.

122

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under IFRSs. An
equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are

set out below.

Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective

interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12

months after the reporting period.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised
and subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or losses arising

from changes in fair values recognised in profit or loss.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which

case they are stated at cost.
Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds

received, net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract
with a customer with reference to the customary business practices and

excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation
by transferring control over a product or service to a customer.
Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that apply to that
contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a point

in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time fif:

= the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits

provided by the Group's performance;

— the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that the

customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

= the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable

right to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is recognised
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in

time when the customer obtains control of the product or service.

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive

payment are established.
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3.

124

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Employee benefits

(9

(b)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave is recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability
for annual leave and long service leave as a result of services

rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and matemnity leave are not

recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group's subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC contribute based
on certain percentage of the salaries of the employees to a defined
contribution retirement benefit plan and other defined contribution
social security plans organised by relevant government authorities in
the PRC on a monthly basis. Employees of the Group in the PRC
are required to participate in a defined contribution retirement
scheme administered and operated by the local municipal
government. The Group contributes funds which are calculated on
a fixed percentage of the employees’ salary (subject to a floor and
cap) as set by local municipal governments to each scheme locally
to fund the retirement benefits of the employees. The government
authorities undertake to assume the retirement benefit obligations
payable and other social security payables to all existing and future
retired employees under these plans and the Group has no further
obligation beyond the contributions made. Contributions to these
plans are expensed as incurred. Assets of the plans are held and
managed by government authorities and are separate from those

of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Employee benefits (Cont'd)

(c) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs and

involves the payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they are incurred.

Government grants
A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable assurance
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to it and that

the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and recognised in
profit or loss over the period to match them with the costs they are

intended to compensate.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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3.

126

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Taxation (Cont'd)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects

neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that

the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part

of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in
the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in

other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Taxation (Cont'd)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the

carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and

liabilities on a net basis.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item reported
in the financial statements are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purpose of allocating resources and assessing the performance of the

Group's various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of productions processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they

share a majority of these criteria.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-=F1-A=+-HIZFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd) 3. FEETBEAE)
Related parties B
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group. B REAEBEEEAMNATHES o
(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to (@) fWEBLATAL @ BIZALSEZALRIIR
the Group if that person: iz SEIPS )
() has control or joint control over the Group; ()  PEEISIEREIARER
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (il HEAEBAEBEEATE 3
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the (i) ARARAXARATHATNEEE
Company or of a parent of the Company. BEAE -
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions (b) fWfFEATNEERY - NERBEANEES
applies: B2
() The entity and the Company are members of the same 0] EREANAER -—SEHNKE

/

Al WD A RKE

IR
fzz|

>
3l

group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow

S 05 8
el
=12

el
is
= 92y
=<
i
%

o

E=SS

N
o

subsidiary is related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other (ih —HEBRS EROBERQFK
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a BERA(HE—ERBRBKERAN
group of which the other entity is a member). SEETKERARNBE AT HE

ERA) e
(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. (il MEEBHRR-—F=AMaER
\) o

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other vy " HERBRE=ZFEBNEGZED

entity is an associate of the third entity. Al ME—ERAZE=HEREN
/NI

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit (v) ZEBANSEBENEARSEEE HH
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to WE B IE S P& a8 7 8BB4 T
the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring FTEl - MAKEARS SZTE - 8l
employers are also related to the Group. RALE B R E TR B A R o
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Related parties (Cont'd)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies: (Cont'd)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person

identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of

the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

vii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
W Y group
part, provides key management personnel services to the

Company or to a parent of the Company.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets except goodwill, investments,
inventories and receivables to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which

the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the

risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or
cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated

as a revaluation decrease.
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130

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Impairment of assets (Cont'd)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal

of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount
when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation arising as a
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated

at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation
is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is

remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information about
the Group's position at the end of the reporting period or those that
indicate the going concemn assumption is not appropriate are adjusting
events and are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in

the notes to the consolidated financial statements when material.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Ciritical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors of the

Company have made the following judgements that have the most

significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements.

()

Contractual Arrangements

The Group's Game Business is carried out through several
domestic operating companies, incorporated in the PRC,
namely Guangzhou Weidong Internet Technology Co., Ltd.
(BM @B BB B R AR, “Weidong”), Guangzhou Feiyin
Information Technology Co., Ltd. (BMIESEEREHR
A 7], “Feiyin"), and Guangzhou Jieyou Software Co., Ltd.
(BINEERHEBRAA], “lieyou”). Mr. Wang Dongfeng,
Mr. Huang Weibing, Mr. Liao Dong, Mr. Yang Tao and Mr.
Zhuang Jieguang (collectively as the “Founders”) are their
respective legal shareholders. Those domestic operating
companies are collectively defined as the “PRC Operational

Entities” thereafter.

Pursuant to applicable PRC laws and regulations, foreign
investors are restricted from conducting value-added
telecommunications services or holding equity interest in
an entity conducting such services in China. In order to
enable investments be made into the Group's game business,
the Company established a subsidiary, Guangzhou Feidong
Software Technology Co., Ltd. (BMIEBEHHRIEERA
Al, “Feidong’) which is wholly foreign owned enterprises

incorporated in the PRC.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Cont'd)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Cont'd)

(i

Contractual Arrangements (Cont'd)

Feidong has entered into a series of contractual arrangements (the
"“Contractual Arrangements”) with the PRC Operational Entities
and their respective equity holders, which enable Feidong and the

Company to:

= exercise effective financial and operational control over the

PRC Operational Entities;

- exercise equity holders’ voting rights of the PRC Operational
Entities;

= receive substantially all of the economic interest returns
generated by the PRC Operational Entities in consideration
for the business support, technical and consulting services

provided by Feidong, at Feidong’s discretion;

- obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase the
entire equity interest in the PRC Operational Entities from
the respective equity holders. The right automatically renews

upon expiry until Feidong specify a renewal term;

= obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of the PRC
Operational Entities from their respective equity holders as
collateral security for all of the PRC Operational Entities'
payments due to Feidong, and to secure performance of the
PRC Operational Entities” obligations under the Contractual

Arrangements.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Cont'd)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Cont'd)

(i

Contractual Arrangements (Cont'd)

The Company does not have any equity interest in the PRC
Operational Entities. However, as a result of the Contractual
Arrangements, the Company has rights to variable returns from
its involvement with the PRC Operational Entities and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the PRC
Operational Entities and is considered to control the PRC
Operational Entities. Consequently, the Company regards the PRC
Operational Entities as consolidated structured entities under IFRSs.
The Group has included the financial position and results of the
PRC Operational Entities in the consolidated financial statements.
The corresponding net assets of Weidong and Feiyin included in
the consolidated financial statements of the Group amounted to
RMB44,373,000 and RMBI21,460,000 respectively, while the net
liabilities of Jieyou was RMB2,126,000, as at 3|1 December 2023 (31
December 2022: net assets RMB45,200,000, RMB 102,407,000 and
RMB3, 157,000 respectively).

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as
effective as direct legal ownership in providing the Group with
direct control over the PRC Operational Entities and uncertainties
presented by the PRC legal system could impede the Group's
beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities of the PRC
Operational Entities. However, the directors of the Company,
based on the advice of its legal advisor, consider that the
Contractual Arrangements are in compliance with relevant PRC

laws and regulations and are legally binding and enforceable.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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4.

134

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Cont'd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a)  Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
based on assessments of the recoverability of the trade, loan and
other receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the
past collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise where
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may
not be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the actual
result is different from the original estimate, such difference will
impact the carrying value of the trade, loan and other receivables
and doubtful debt expenses in the year in which such estimate
has been changed. If the financial conditions of the debtors were
to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make

payments, additional allowances may be required.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Cont'd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Contd)

(b)

(9

Impairment assessment of non-financial assets

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment. Other non-financial assets, mainly including property
and equipment, other intangible assets and right-of-use assets
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been determined
based on value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs to sell.

These calculations require the use of judgments and estimates.

Judgement is required to determine key assumptions adopted in
the valuation models for impairment review purpose. Changing the
assumptions selected by management in assessing impairment could
materially affect the result of the impairment test and as a result

affect the Group's financial condition and results of operations.

Fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active

market

The fair value of financial instruments includes unlisted investments
and the compensation option on non-fulfilment of profit guarantee
are not traded in an active market are determined by using
valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select a
variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based
on investees' performance and conditions existing at the end of

each reporting year.
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5.

136

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign

currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.

The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the

unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential

adverse effects on the Group’'s financial performance.

@

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The
Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the

need arise.

Price risk

The Group’s investments at fair value through profit or loss
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity security price risk. The
directors of the Company manage this exposure by maintaining a

portfolio of investments with different risk profiles.

At 3| December 2023, if the fair value of the investments
decrease/increase by 10%, loss before tax for the year would
have been RMB4,063,000 (2022: RMB9,213,000) higher/lower
respectively, arising as a result of the fair value loss/gain of the

investments.

The Group's debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to bonds
price risk. The directors of the Company manage this exposure by

maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risk profiles.

At 31 December 2023, if the fair value of the debt investments
decrease/increase by 10%, other comprehensive (loss)/income for
the year would have been RMB3,174,000 (2022: RMB:4,747,000)
higher/lower respectively, arising as a result of the fair value loss/

gain of the investments.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

()

Credit risk

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash,
trade and other receivables, investments and loan receivables
included in the consolidated statement of financial position
represents the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in

relation to the Group's financial assets.

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash
are limited because the counterparties are reputable financial
institutions in the PRC and reputable international financial
institutions outside of the PRC. There has been no recent history

of default in relation to these financial institutions.

The credit risk on investments is limited because the counterparties

are well-established securities broker firms in Hong Kong.

For loan receivables, in order to minimise the credit risk, the Group
has established policies and systems for monitoring and control
of credit risk. The management has delegated different divisions
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring processes to ensure that follow up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, management reviews
the recoverable amounts of loan and interest collectively at each
reporting date to ensure that adequate allowance for impairment

losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

For trade and other receivables, management makes periodic
collective assessments as well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of trade and other receivables based on historical
settlement records and past experience. The directors of the
Company believe that there is no material credit risk inherent in

the Group's outstanding balance of other receivables.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

HEZZZ
5
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138

Credit risk (Cont'd)

The Group considers whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period by comparing the risk of a default occurring
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information. Especially the following information

is used:

- internal credit rating;

- external credit rating (if available);

= actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower's ability to meet its

obligations;

- actual or expected significant changes in the operating

results of the borrower;

= significant changes in the value of the collateral or in the

quality of guarantees or credit enhancements; and

= significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the

payment status of borrowers.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group. The Group normally categorises
a loan or receivable for write off when a debtor fails to make
contractual payments greater than 365 days past due. Where loans
or receivables have been written off, the Group, if practicable and
economical, continues to engage in enforcement activity to attempt

to recover the receivable due.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

()

(d)

(©)

Credit risk (Cont'd)

The Group uses two categories for non-trade loan receivables
which reflect their credit risk and how the loan loss provision is
determined for each of the categories. In calculating the expected
credit loss rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each

category and adjusts for forward looking data.

i \/\ \\ ’

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OB B ERAR M AL '

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE

BMERKRERE(Z)

(c) REERKRE)
AEEGRIBSEBERERMMESLE -
ZEHBRMEGEERR RS ERE
BREEEEESHE - TEEMERAEA
R AEEERZHHENBEIERE -
7 74 AT 1 SR (E L AR o

Category Definition Loss provision
P EE RS
Performing Low risk of default and strong capacity to pay |2 month expected losses

RyF K2 KRR S 58 S S RE
Non-performing Significant increase in credit risk

TR ERREBRARIE N

All of these loans are considered to have low risk and under the
‘Performing’ category because they have a low risk of default and

have strong ability to meet their obligations.

Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer

term. All of the Group's financial liabilities are due within one year.

Interest rate risk
As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities,
the Group's operating cash flows are substantially independent of

changes in market interest rates.

The Group's exposure to interest-rate risk arises from its bank
deposits. These deposits and borrowings bear interests at variable
rates varied with the then prevailing market condition. The
directors of the Company consider that the changes in interest
rates of bank balances have no significant impact to the Group due
to the low interest rates and short-term maturities and therefore

no sensitivity analysis is presented for bank balances.

121 A ERIEREE
Lifetime expected losses

BEFEMERERER
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

®

(8

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. MBEMEERGE)

Categories of financial instruments at 31 December ) MRT-ZA=+—HWERMIAESE
2023 2022
—EC-=4F T F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBFT
Financial assets: SRIEE
Investments at fair value through profit or loss: & AFEFT ABZMLE
Mandatorily measured R E 124,999 83,726
Debt investments at fair value through other  ZAFEFT A E M 2 EK R
comprehensive income BRI E 22,600 64317
Equity investments at fair value through other & A(HET A B Ath 2 EWEEHY
comprehensive income RN E 81,902 28,223
Financial assets at amortised cost R ENEREE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BEAeRESEEY) 283,598 334,490
Financial liabilities: SRIBE:
Financial liabilities at fair value through BRATHE AB&EA
profit or loss =L
Held for trading FHEER 1,938 848
Financial liabilities at amortised cost RESRK AT ENeRBE 56,563 74,640

Fair values

(8)

Except as disclosed in note 6 to the consolidated financial

statements, the carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets

and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of

financial position approximate their respective fair values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value measurements
use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs to

valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level | inputs:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can

access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within
level | that are observable for the asset or

liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of any

of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in circumstances

that caused the transfer.

B OB B ERAR M AL

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financl Staements
SOt SRR M BT

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-=F1-A=+-HIZFE

6.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Contd) 6. ATEIEE)
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 3|1 December: @ RTZA=1+—B®AFEERRNE
5%

Fair value measurements using: Total

A TFHIE AN AT AR : @it

Description Level | Level 2 Level 3 2023

R £—& EZ& F=HR =—F-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR®TRT AR%¥®TR AR®BTR

Recurring fair value measurements:  &EM NEZEHFE :
Equity investments at fair value through IR AFEFTAHMEE

other comprehensive income WM R E
Private equity investments LB E - - 81,902 81,902

Debt investments at fair value through 1ZAFEFTAEMEE

other comprehensive income Was BRI E
Over-the-counter debt securities HHNZ B (B 7558 5 - 22,600 - 22,600

Financial assets at fair value through BRATFESABRD

profit or loss CEEE
Equity securities TS
Listed in US FERE LT 53,762 - - 53,762
Derivatives — fixed coupon note PTETHE—FER
=g - 68,622 - 68,622
Options ity 2,615 - - 2,615
56,377 68,622 - 124,999
56,377 91,222 81,902 229,501
Financial liabilities at fair value through 1&ZAF (BT ABm=A
profit or loss TRIBE
Options HARE (1,938) - - (1,938)
Total recurring fair value REMAFETE
measurements Feb] 54,439 91,222 81,902 227,563
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For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Cont'd) 6. ATEIEE)
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 December: @ RTZA=1+—B®AFEERRNE
(Cont'd) = (&)
Fair value measurements using: Total
ERTIIRENATEE et
Description Level | Level 2 Level 3 2022
it F—R FH £=H ZFT-=F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARKTT

Recurring fair value measurements:  &ZLEMHAFETE :
Equity investments at fair value through & A EFT AEMEME

other comprehensive income Wes R I E
Private equity investments TLhEERIRE 4,306 23917 28,223
Debt investments at fair value through 1ZAFEFTAEMZEHE
other comprehensive income Was VBRI E
Over-the-counter debt securities SBINR GIETE 5 64,317 = 64317
Financial assets at fair value through BA AT ABZRR
profit or loss TRIEE
Equity securities U Fa o
Listed in US EXE ™ 23216 - - 23216
Listed in Hong Kong BB L™ 13910 = = 13910
Listed in PRC FEFRE T 16,034 = = 16,034
Derivatives — fixed coupon note PTETH-—FERRE 27,098 = 27,098
Options ARt 3,391 - - 3,391
Securities lending BHEE 77 = = 77
56,628 27,098 = 83,726
56,628 95,721 23917 176,266
Financial liabilities at fair value through 1&ZAF(EFT AB&=A
profit or loss TRIBE
Options HArE (848) = = (848)
Total recurring fair value REMAFETE
measurements L] 55,780 95,721 23917 175418
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-=F1-A=+-HIZFE

6.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Contd) 6. ATEIEE)
(b)  Reconciliation of assets and liabilities measured at fair value (b) HBUE=RAEENATEAENEER
based on level 3: BEHEK
Equity investments
at fair value through
other comprehensive
income
BATEFA
Hitb 2 K28
BHRRE
RMB’000
ARBT T
At | January 2023 RZZT=Z=F—H—H 23917
Total gains or losses recognised [mECEAVALS o e HCE]
in other comprehensive income REAM 2R (12,654)
Transfer from level 2 B2 — A uE R 4,306
Transfer from investments in associates BREE A RIRIREE A 66,333
At 31 December 2023 R-F-_=%+-A=+—H 81,902
Equity investments
at fair value through
other comprehensive
income
BATERA
Hith 2 HE A
RERIRE
RMB'000
ARBETT
At | January 2022 R-_ZE-_—_F—H—H 24,873
Total gains or losses recognised EERAGEERRE
in other comprehensive income REME2EIE (9,756)
Settlements @ (1,200)
Transfer from Level 2 R —AREE R 10,000
At 31 December 2022 R-F-_—_F+-A=1+—H 23917
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Cont'd)

(b)

Reconciliation of assets and liabilities measured at fair value

based on level 3: (Cont'd)

During the year ended 3| December 2023, private equity
investments amounting to RMB4,306,000 (3| December 2022:
RMB10,000,000) were transferred from measurement based on
level 2 to level 3. The valuation technique was changed from
“Investment cost” to "“Market comparable approach” as the
transaction price was arrived at for more than a year ago and no
longer constituted an appropriate reference for the most recent
valuation. As the investee company is under development stage
with great potential for growth in the future, market comparable

approach is a more appropriate approach to value the fair value.

The total gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive
income are presented in changes in fair value of equity investments

at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurements at 3| December 2023:

The Group’s chief financial officer is responsible for the fair
value measurements of assets and liabilities required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value measurements. The
chief financial officer reports directly to the Board of Directors for
these fair value measurements. Discussions of valuation processes
and results are held between the chief financial officer and the

Board of Directors at least twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group has a team that
manages the valuation exercise of level 3 financial instruments
for financial reporting purposes. The team manages the valuation
exercise of the investments on a case-by-case basis. At least twice
every year, the team would use valuation techniques to determine
the fair value of the Group's level 3 financial instruments. External

valuation experts will be involved when necessary.

6.
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For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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6.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Cont'd) 6. ATEIEE)
Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (0 RZE_=F+-_A=+—A4FK%EMmHA
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value HEEFARATFEFEMAGERT R
measurements at 3| December 2023: (Cont'd) WABIROIE  (8)
Level 2 fair value measurements FRNFETE
Fair value
Valuation 2023
Description technique Inputs AEE
R hERM BARE —BC=f
RMB’000
AR%TT
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
RATENABSOEHAE
Derivatives — fixed coupon note N/A traded prices for 68,622
identical instruments
in the markets
TTETIA-EERE TEA s LA T AN
RSB’
Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income
BAVERAHMEERENERIRE
Over-the-counter debt securities N/A traded prices for 22,600
identical instruments
in the markets
BHRGEHES TERA % LR T AN
R B
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SOt SRR MR 1

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Cont'd) 6. ATEIEE)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (0 RZE_=F+-_A=+—A4FK%5EMmH
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value HEEFARATFEFEMAGERMT R
measurements at 3| December 2023: (Cont'd) WABIRE I EE ()

Fair value

2022

Valuation NEE

Description technique Inputs —E-—F
g fh{ERMT AR RMB'000
AR®TTT

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
BAFEFABSNSREE
Derivatives — fixed coupon note N/A traded prices for 27,098
identical instruments

in the markets

TETHE-FERE NEH Mm% LR TAR
R5ER

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income

BAFEFARMEEKRRNERIRE

Private equity investments cost approach investment cost 4,306
LSRR E RRAE REKA

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
BATES AR MEERENEBIRE
Over-the-counter debt securities N/A traded prices for 64317
identical instruments

in the markets

BN B B E 5 NEH M5 LR T A
R5ER
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-=F1-A=+-HIZFE

6.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Cont'd)
(©)

6.

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group

and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurements at 3| December 2023: (Cont'd)

Level 3 fair value measurements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AFEFEE)

(00 RZEZ=F+ZA=+—BAKEFMHA
HEEFARATFEFEMAGERT R
BABBRNORE (&)

B=RAVEFGE

Effect on fair

value for Fair value
Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range increase of inputs A¥E
TABE WABBR Y 2023
i b fE R WARE HEYE AVENRE ZEC=F
RMB’000
AR®TR
Equity investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income
WA ERTARMEE RSN
RmRE
Private equity investments Adjusted net assets Lack of marketability 40% Decrease 2,972
discount
SRR E RRAREERE R W5 L
TBETE
Private equity investments Market comparable ~ Change in market 12% Decrease 3,753
approach capitalization
FLERER A WS EE mEEE By
Private equity investments Discounted cash Weight average cost 29% Decrease 6,665
flow of capital
eI E RRRERE MEFIIER KA B
Lack of marketability 14% Decrease
discount
B®REW5 L
RBETE
Non-controlling 30% Decrease
shareholder discount
FEBRRRITE By
Private equity investments Market comparable Lack of marketability 29%-40% Decrease 68,512
approach discount
eI E k1243973 ®Em5 B
TBETE

148
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B OB B ERAR M AL '

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE

ATEE(E)
Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (c)
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value

BABBORE  (8)

measurements at 3| December 2023: (Cont'd)

Effect on fair

R_E_=F+_A=+—HBAKEMA
HERFARAFEFTEMBEERT R

value for Fair value
Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range increase of inputs NFE
TABR BABBE MY 2022
s RERM BABE HEFE QATENTE —T-=
RMB'000
AR®TT
Equity investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income
BATEFARMEEK R
RERIRE
Private equity investments Adjusted net assets Lack of marketability 40% Decrease 5289
discount
EERRE R EERME RZ M5 B
MBIETE
Private equity investments Market comparable Lack of marketability 40% Decrease 8311
approach discount
EERRE [REZ 124297 RZ M5 B
MBIETE
Private equity investments Discounted cash flow ~ Weight average cost 28% Decrease 10317
of capital
EERRE BIRRERE IS E AR A B
Lack of marketability 19% Decrease
discount
RZ M5 B
MBIETE
Non-controlling 31% Decrease
shareholder discount
TR R AT B
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7.

150

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's business activities, for which discrete financial statements
are available, are regularly reviewed and evaluated by the chief operating
decision maker (the "CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the executive directors of the Company that make

strategic decisions.

During the year, the CODM reassessed the performance and operations
of the Group and concluded that the Group has two operating segments

as follows:

- Game Business; and

- Electronic Device and Semiconductor Business

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments
mainly based on segment revenue, and adjusted earnings before interest
expense, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (theadjusted EBITDA™)
excluding share of profit of associates and gain on dilution of investment

in an associate, of each operating segment.

Specifically, the revenues from external customers reported to the
CODM are measured as segment revenue, which is the revenue derived
from the customers in each segment. In addition, the adjusted EBITDA
excludes the effects of significant items of income and expenditure which
may have an impact on the assessment of operating segments’ results,
primarily with respect to investment-related gains or losses and non-

current event.

Other information, together with the segment information, provided
to the CODM, is measured in a manner consistent with that applied in
these consolidated financial statements. There were no separate segment
assets and segment liabilities information provided to the CODM, as the
CODM does not use this information to allocate resources or to evaluate

the performance of the operating segments.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 7.
The segment information provided to the CODM for the reportable
segments for the years ended 3| December 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

B OB B ERAR M AL '

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE

WARDIBER(EZ)
HAEHROTRNEBLEEAREBERENEE
T =FRZEFFA=F+—HLEEE

W RERIAT
2023 2022
—E=HE —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AREFT
Revenue ['ON
Revenue from contracts with customers EFEAHMA
Game Business P 12,661 14,692
Electronic Device and Semiconductor Business B8 R LB 74 47,511 99,424
Total revenue FELION 60,172 114,116
Adjusted EBITDA EFEEBITDA
Game Business HHSES (3,864) (7,132)
Electronic Device and Semiconductor Business 8- a% 8 M - B8 375 (4,678) (4,800)
Share of profit of associates FE(REE N BlE A 4,633 4129
Gain on dilution of investment in an associate R R Bl S e - 8,126
Total adjusted EBITDA KT EEEBITDARREE (3,909) 323
Adjusted EBITDA reconciles to loss before KTEEBITDABERR AT 5B AT B 18
income tax is as follows: HERWT :
Total adjusted EBITDA ERBEBITDAREE (3,909) 323
Net interest income RSNl e R 2,939 598
Depreciation and amortisation HrEs i (30,221) (21,683)
Gain on disposal of investments at fair value HERA AR ABmAIRER
through profit or loss Wz 53,799 6,574
Dividends received from investments at fair WER A EF A B =R ER
value through profit or loss [¥5) 163 187
Changes in the fair value of investments at fair ~ Z A AT ABZAIRE A TE
value through profit or loss g (17,497) (9,006)
Loss on disposal of debt investments at fair HERAFER A 2K
value through other comprehensive income BRI A K B8 (26,321) —
Interest arising from debt investments at fair BRATHEFT AEMEZERENE
value through other comprehensive income R E PEERFLE 4,641 2,984
Loss on deemed disposal/disposal of investment fR{EH & /&R —EE & A A
in an associate RIEREE (1,209) (259)
Loss before income tax KR PRS2 BB 18 (17,615) (20,282)

EEZERERAF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financl Staements
SOt SRR M BT

For the year ended 31 December 2023

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 7. WARDSBER(E)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers EFEHWADHT
Geographical information: WEER :
2023 2022
—E-=F T CF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBETTT
PRC (excluding Hong Kong) FE(TEEEB) 32,437 80,07
Other regions Hipih & 27,735 34,045
60,172 14,116

The Group also conducts operations in Hong Kong and other regions.

The geographical information on the non-current assets (other than

investments in associates and investments at fair value through other

comprehensive income) is as follows:

REETREEREMEEITEE - IR

HEENBREM(RBER

AR E RIE AT

Bt AEMEERERIRERINEINWT

2023 2022
—EC=HF T —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBFT

Non-current assets JEMENE E
PRC (excluding Hong Kong) FE(TBEEES) 65,543 58,153
Hong Kong B 44,732 72,230
110,275 130,383
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For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Contd) 7. WARSIER(E)
Timing of revenue recognition: WA TR

2023 2022
—EC=HF —E__F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETTT
At a point in time RIERE R 48,920 100,519
Over time R—ERFRER 11,252 13,597
60,172 114,116

Revenue from major customers: REFTEEZEFHRA :

Revenue from major customers individually accounting for 0% or more

of total revenue is as follows:

ERKEE2EPHWAMERKAFTRHER

10%E0R :

2023 2022
—BC=F —T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETT
Customer A (sales of electronic device and BEPAGHEE FREREE)
semiconductor) 7,403
Customer B (sales of electronic device and EPB(HESFRIENTERE)
semiconductor) (Note) (BtsE) 6,998
Customer C (sales of electronic device and BEFCHEETRERTEE)
semiconductor) - 41,848
Customer D (sales of electronic device and EPD(HESFHRERFEE)
semiconductor) (Note) (BH&E) - 26,145

Note: Customer B did not meet the threshold of accounting for 10% or more of
total revenue during the year ended 31 December 2022. Customer D did
not meet the threshold of accounting for 10% or more of total revenue

during the year ended 31 December 2023.

s : REPRREBE-—E-—F+=-_RA=+—RBILEE
REBHAUA 0% A L TRE - EEDR
HE-_Z-_=#F+-_A=1+—RHILFEXRZZ

WA 0% A EEY T RRIE ©
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 7. WARDSBER(E)
Revenue recognition LON
HERBEERFER

Webgame and Mobile Game Business

154

Game Product

The Group provides game product development services through
game platforms, which are either selfowned or operated by third

parties.

The Group'’s games are free-to-play and players can pay for virtual
items for better in-game experience. Players purchase game credits
(“Paying Players”) through the platform's charging system and
use the game credits to exchange in-game virtual items. Paying
Players usually exchange their game credits for the virtual items
shortly after purchases. The monetary value of the virtual items
sold is shared between the Group and the platforms, which is pre-
determined in revenue sharing arrangements (“Revenue Sharing
Arrangements”) enacted between the Group and each of the
platforms. The platforms collect the payments made by Paying
Players and remit the cash to the Group according to the Revenue

Sharing Arrangements.

Upon the sales of virtual items, the Group typically has an implied
obligation to provide the service which enables the virtual items
to be displayed and consumed in the respective games. As a
result, the proceeds from the sales of virtual items are initially
recorded in deferred revenue and are then recognised as revenue
subsequently only when the services have been rendered either
upon consumption or ratably over the average playing period of

Paying Players (““Player Relationship Period”).
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

Webgame and Mobile Game Business (Cont'd)

Game Product (Cont'd)

For the purposes of determining when services have been
rendered to the respective Paying Players, the Group has

determined the following;

0) Consumable virtual items represent items that will be
extinguished shortly after consumption by a specific game
player action. The Paying Players will not continue to benefit
from the virtual items thereafter. Revenue is recognised (as

a release from deferred revenue) when items are consumed.

(i) Durable virtual items represent items that are accessible
and beneficial to Paying Players over an extended period of
time. Revenue is recognised ratably over the average Player
Relationship Period, which represents the best estimates of
the average life of durable virtual items for the applicable

game.

The Group determines the Player Relationship Period on a game-
by-game and platform-by-platform basis by tracking the player data,
such as log-in data and purchase/consumption records. If there is
insufficient player data to determine the Player Relationship Period,
such as in the case of a newly launched game, it estimates the
Player Relationship Period based on other similar types of games
of the Group or third-party developers, taking into account the
game profile, target audience and its appeal to Paying Players of
different demographic groups, until the new game establishes its
own history, which is normally up to |2 months after launch. The

Group re-assesses such periods semi-annually.
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For the year ended 3| December 2023
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 7. WARDSBER(E)
Revenue recognition (Cont'd) WATRR(E)
Webgame and Mobile Game Business (Cont'd) HWERBEFERER (&)
Game Product (Cont'd) PERLE m ()

156

The Group has evaluated the roles and responsibilities in the
delivery of game experience to the Paying Players and concluded
that the Group takes the primary responsibilities in the game
product service. The Group is determined to be the primary
obligor and reports gross revenue. Due to the fact that the
third party platforms may offer various marketing discounts from
time to time to Paying Players, the actual prices paid by any
individual paying player may be lower than the standard prices
of virtual items purchased, with the balance being subsidised by
the platforms, accordingly, the Group has to attempt to make
a reasonable estimation for the gross revenue amount through

tracking third party platforms” marketing activities.

Nevertheless, for the Group’s webgames which are published
through a large number of domestic third party platforms, since
those platforms would offer various market discounts to Paying
Players, it is difficult for the Group to make a reasonable estimation
for the gross revenue, as such, the Group reports revenue to
the extent of the amounts received and receivable from those
domestic third party platforms under the Revenue Sharing

Arrangements.

However, if the Group is able to make a reasonable estimate of
the gross revenue for some of webgames published on certain
reputable international platforms, such as Facebook, and for the
Group's mobile games published through various mobile platforms,

the related revenue is recognised on a gross basis.

The Group also derives revenue from licensing and technical
support services on a game-by-game basis. Licensing revenue is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the respective licensing
periods. Technical support revenue is recognised when the services

are rendered.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 7. WARDSBER(E)

Revenue recognition (Cont'd) WATRR(E)

Webgame and Mobile Game Business (Cont'd) HWERBEFERER (&)
Game Platform ERF &

The Group provides game platform service through cooperation
with game developers to Paying Players. The Group publishes its
self-developed and third party games on its platform. As described
in above, the games are free-to-play and players can pay for in-

game virtual items for better in-game experience.

The Group’s Game Platform revenue mainly derives from Revenue
Sharing Arrangements (details described in above) from game
developers. The games published on self-owned platform are
hosted, maintained and updated by the game developers, and the
Group mainly provides access to the platform and certain basic
and limited after-sale technical support to the Paying Players. The
Group has evaluated and determined it is not the primary obligor
in the services rendered to the Paying Players as a platform.
Accordingly, the Group records its revenue, net of the portion of

sharing of revenues with the game developers.

The Group believes that it has an implied obligation to the game
developers; which corresponds to the implied obligation of the
game developers’ to provide the services to game players to
enable the virtual items to be displayed and consumed/used in the
games. Given that games are hosted, managed and administered by
the game developers, the Group does not have access to the data
relating to the consumption details; as well as the types of virtual
items being purchased by the Paying Players. However, the Group
maintains individual Paying Player's purchase history of game credits
which are used for exchange for virtual items. As such, the Group
has adopted a policy to recognise revenues for both consumable
and durable items exchanged by game credits over the Player
Relationship Period (details described in above) on a game-by-

game basis.

Paying Players make payments through various online and mobile
payment channels, which in turn charge handling fees at a certain
percentage on the gross purchase amounts. The Group recorded

the charges in “cost of revenue”.
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7.

158

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Contd)
Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

Electronic Device and Semiconductor Business

The Group sells electronic device and semiconductor to the customers.
Sales are recognised when control of the products has transferred, being
when the products are delivered to a customer, there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products

and the customer has obtained legal titles to the products.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms of |5 to 90
days. For new customers, deposits or cash on delivery may be required.

Deposits received are recognised as a contract liability.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered to
the customers as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the

payment is due.

The Group eamed interest income from a loan lent to borrowers in
supporting solution services for electronic device and semiconductor
business. Such interest income is recognised and accrued using the

effective interest rate.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

KARDEBER(F)
W AR (&)
BEFRERFEREE

AEERAEFHEEFRERLER - HER
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HEFPHHE —MIBEISEORNEED - 5
BEFAREFEZMTcRETNR - 2WFET 2
ERRANARE -

EUFBERERINELEHER - WEENKE
R EGHENEREE  BRENKIIMAES

e

DEFRBRA

AEEERTERAAAIEEFREBEREE
B XA M AR T R RS ) B SUREVK B -
%A BIWARBER A KR R R -

OTHER INCOME Hfth Wy 28
2023 2022
—EB=F S S
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT

Dividends from debt investments at fair value BEATEGF AR EEYE

through other comprehensive income WEBIRERE 4,641 2984
Interest revenue M E MW 3,242 993
Government grants BTN 143 140
Others Hit 51 122
8,077 4,239
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OTHER GAINS — NET

9. HtREEHE

2023 2022
—Bo=fF —T-—fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETT
Gain on disposal of investments at fair value HERA AT ABROIRER
through profit or loss & 53,799 6,574
Dividends received from investments at fair WEZE A ERT ABERRER
value through profit or loss &S 163 187
Changes in the fair value of investments at fair ~ EAF(BEFT ABRARE AFE
value through profit or loss 28 (17,497) (9,006)
Loss on disposal of investments at fair value HERATER AH M2 K
through other comprehensive income KR E &R (26,321) -
Loss on deemed disposal/disposal of investment fR{EHI &/ H &R —REH & A R
in an associate IR EHEE (1,209) (259)
Gain on dilution of investment in an associate A —fEHEE A AR E #E s - 8,126
Loss on disposals of property and equipment HE W KR EHEE (12) =
Litigation settlement related to right of publicity — E3/X BA1ER BRYEF AR AR (6,698) -
Others Hft 5,994 -
Exchange gain, net PE 5 W a5 =58 5,009 6,468
13,228 12,090
FINANCE COST 10. MABMAE
2023 2022
—EC=F S 2
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFR ARBFT
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBEN SR 188 208
Interest expense on bank borrowings RITERFEFX 15 187
303 395
EEERERAT FEgsz0s 139
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) FrigBipas (K &)
2023 2022
—EC=F T F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARBETTT
Current tax — PRC and oversea enterprise BT 18 — B Kb 2 P
income tax S0
Provision for the year FNEE 2 4
Over-provision in prior years AEFEEERE - (4,560)
2 (4,556)
Deferred tax (note 32) EER A (M15E32) - 4,381
2 (175)

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of Cayman

Islands and accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in Hong
Kong was provided at 8.25% on assessable profits up to HK$2,000,000,
and the applicable tax rate is 16.5% on any part of assessable profits over
HK$2,000,000 based on the assessable profit for the years ended 3l
December 2023 and 2022.

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in the
PRC was calculated at the tax rate of 25% on the assessable profits for
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, based on the existing

legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Cont'd)

Shenzhen Xingyun Data Technology Co. Ltd. (RIITIITEEE F
BRRAT]) was qualified as High and New Technology Enterprises’
under PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (“EIT Law”) in 2020. Thus, the
applicable tax rate was 5% for the years ended 3| December 2023 and
2022.

According to the relevant EIT Laws jointly promulgated by the Ministry
of Finance of the PRC, State Tax Bureau of the PRC, and Ministry of
Science of the PRC that became effective from 2018 onwards, enterprises
engaging in research and development activities are entitled to claim
175% of their research and development expenses so incurred as tax
deductible expenses when determining their assessable profits for that

year (“‘Super Deduction”).

According to the applicable PRC tax regulations, dividends distributed by
a company established in the PRC to a foreign investor with respect to
profits derived after | January 2008 are generally subject to a 10% PRC
withholding tax (“WHT"). If a foreign investor incorporated in Hong Kong
meets the conditions and requirements under the double taxation treaty
arrangement entered into between the PRC and Hong Kong, the relevant

withholding tax rate will be reduced from 10% to 5%.

No deferred income tax liability has been recognised in respect of WHT
on the undistributed earings of the subsidiaries incorporated in the
PRC as those PRC subsidiaries with foreign immediate parent are all
with accumulated losses (i.e. without any distributable earnings) as of 31
December 2023 and 2022.

B OB B ERAR M AL

For the year ended 3| December 2023
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HE-Z-=F1-A=+-HIZFE

I'1.  INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Contd)
The tax on the Group's loss before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate applicable

to losses of the consolidated entities as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. F8Himx(E&) (&)
HERAERRAHERBNBENEERNEE
BHME RS R R ALK B SRR TS B ATE
BEBNRENT

2023 2022
—Eo=F T CF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBETT

Loss before income tax KR PTG TR &R (17,615) (20,282)
Tax calculated at statutory income tax rates REANE R ERENEHER

applicable to loss of the consolidated entities BB E A PTIS B R AT H Y

in their respective jurisdictions HiIE (4,600) (4,149)
Tax effects of: THIBRENRBEZE
Preferential income tax rates applicable to BARKBARNERMGEHE

subsidiaries (69) 3,113
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses &) F 5C B AR TERR < T IEE5 18 (1,731) (15,697)
Tax losses and timing differences for which no  RIERIELATISHE & E KT IEES

deferred income tax asset was recognised BREEEER 9,148 11,613
Tax effect of (income not taxable)/expenses not (T EFWA ),/ TAIFIRF L

deductible, net RIS R 2R (2,208) 5,523
Tax losses previously recognised and reversed 4t ATHERR N Bl KT B & 18 - 4,381
Over-provision in prior years iR R A - (4,560)
Super Deduction pliE il (538) (399)
Income tax expense/(credit) PriSEiRA, (%) 2 (175)

162  FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2023 Annual Report



= N N

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SOt SRR MR

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) the

following:

For the year ended 3| Decem

ber 2023

BE_Z_=F+_A=+-HIEE

12. FREE

AEBFERNBRIIENG, (GTA) T35 EE
IR

2023 2022
—E-=F —T-—fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETT
Amortisation of intangible assets IR 1,059 496
Allowance for inventories FERME 1,993 6,532
Cost of inventories sold BEFEZKA 41,704 96,922
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 1,476 1226
Depreciation of property and equipment YERBEBITE 27,686 19,961
Auditor's remuneration ZERD &
— Audit services —EZRH 1,650 1,820
— Non-audit services — BB 220 200
Reversal of financial assets measured at REARKATENSREERD
amortised cost — net R
— (Reversal)/provision of impairment for trade ~ — & S EUGRIERE (E),
receivables, net g T (394) 84
— Provision of impairment for other — H A FEUGRIB R E B
receivables 4,956 1,249
— Reversal of impairment for loan receivables — B ERRERE (15,050) (21,335)
(10,488) (20,002)
Staff costs including directors’ emoluments BRESMEMHE THRA
— Fees, wages, salaries and bonus —e I8 - #FeRIEA 11,266 13,133
— Pension costs — defined contribution plans — RIS — EHRETE 573 673
— Social security costs, housing benefits and —RERERAR - EEEFN R
other employee benefits Hfih & B 12 A 533 520
12,372 14,326
EEERARAT £EHz03 163
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3. DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS AND 13. EERFETHRAEMEUREERSH

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES MEIA L
(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (@) EBRIETHAEMS
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, FRNEERFETHRAEMSBRBER
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules, is as follows: MRABELAT
2023
t Sk
Estimated
Employer’s monetary
contribution to  value of other
Discretionary ~ a retirement benefits
Name of directors Fees Salaries bonus  benefit scheme (note i) Total
EftRAIH
RIENHE HEBER
EEfF e F&  BERA  HEIMR (&) @t

RMB'000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR ARRTR ARRTR ARETR ARETR

Executive directors: HITEE .

Zhu Liang KR - 600 50 - 12 662
Cui Yuzhi EFE - 653 55 - - 708
Non-executive directors: FHTEE .

Han Jun (i) 5 i) 303 - - - - 303
Wang Wenpeng (i) B¢ () 19 - - - - 19
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHTES:

Wong Chi Kin s 303 - - - - 303
Lu Xiaoma BHE 303 - - - - 303
Ji Yong RE 303 - - - - 303

1,231 1,253 105 - 12 2,601
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS AND

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Contd)

(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Cont'd)

B OB B ERAR M AL

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE

13. EEREFETHRAEMEUARAEBRRSH

ey AL (&)
() EBERTFETBAEME(E)
2022
ZZCICF
Estimated
Employer's monetary

contribution to value of other

Discretionary ~ a retirement benefits
Name of directors Fees Salaries bonus  benefit scheme (note i) Total
EftAERle
RIVERE EtEBEE
ESith e He  BEREL  WEZER (FirzE) &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETL  ARETT ARETT AREMTT ARETR ARETE
Executive directors: HITEE
Han Jun (i) BE i) - 239 - 2 E)) 294
Zhu Liang RE - 600 50 - 10 660
Cul Yuzhi EFE - 624 52 - - 676
Non-executive directors: FHTEE
Han Jun (i) B j) 174 - - - = 174
Independent non-executive directors: BUHHTEE
Wang Dong (iv) FH(v) 214 - - - - 214
Wong Chi Kin BEE 393 - - - = 393
Lu Xiaoma BES 29 - - - - 2%
Ji Yong RE 290 - - - - 290
1,361 1,463 102 23 2 291
Notes: B 5%
0) Other benefits mainly include contributions to social security plans 0) H g4 = 20 5EmBARPIRLE
that are organised and administered by the governmental authorities. BRIt ERERT IR o
(ii) Mr. Han Jun was re-designated from an executive director to a non- (i) FEE 9@95 B_ZT__%F ﬁﬁ 0B i
executive director on 24 May 2022. He resigned from the position HRTESHTERIENTES ﬁi S
of non-executive director with effect from 8 December 2023. Bo=F+ZAN\BREHEFNITES -
(iif) Mr. Wang Wenpeng was appointed as a non-executive director (i) EXBEER ;g —=F+ZRANB
with effect from 8 December 2023. BEERENTES -
(v)  Mr. Wang Dong resigned as the independent non-executive director (iv) E®REEE :2 ::i TAZ+THABER
with effect from 24 May 2022. BHEB L IEBAT

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive

waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

CBEEENE ROTRABRBEMLH
ﬁﬁzﬁ‘kﬂ R AEE MM
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13.

166

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Cont'd)

(b)

()

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or
contracts

No other significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at

any time during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
included 2 directors (2022: 2 directors) whose remuneration are
set out in note [3(a) above. Details of the remuneration for the
year of the remaining 3 (2022: 3) highest paid employees are as

follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EERFTETHRAEMESURAERSH
e AL (&)
(b) EBERXS  RHEIRESHANEARES

MEARREETRERNARFTE] L EHARE
EEKERAREBE T _=F+-_fF=
T BIEFEARKSIEPEMRKRTE
NEARS - RHREHTREESEEE
BEAEARR (T -_—F: &) -

(c) HEESHFMHAL
FRAREELEESTMALEEREE
F(ZEZZF - MEBES)  AMeERN
EXMFEIZGR) A T=&(=ZF ==
ZH)E=HFMATREANT M FIEN
T

2023 2022

—EC-=F T

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETT

Fees, wages and salaries we  ITERFS 1,546 1,885

Pension costs — defined contribution plans
Social security costs, housing benefits and other

HAitbE B 155

employee benefits

RIRE R — R E G2 131 120
HERERAE - FEEMNR

124 149

1,801 2,154

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors of Company and whose remuneration falls within the

following bands:

BRTIIFMEENLFARBEETNRDH
AL ABIT -

Number of individuals

A
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 ZTITE 1,000,000/ 7T 3 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DIVIDENDS 14.
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the
Company during 2023, nor has any dividend been proposed at the end

of the reporting period (2022: nil).

LOSS PER SHARE 15.
Basic loss per share

The basic loss per share for the years ended 3| December 2023 and

2022 is calculated based on the loss attributable to the owners of the
Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

during the year, calculated as follows:

B OB B ERAR M AL

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE

Hﬁlu\

RZBo=F  HEAARDELBRFR X
RAEMRE - RS HR I R AR
(CE——%F &) o

BREE

BREXER
BE_ZT_=fRk_F__%+-_H=+—H
LTFEENERERBETIERATRRIEEG AR
HERRFABRZETEBRINEFOHAEN
T

2023 2022
—EC=F T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREBFT
Loss attributable to the owners of the Company ZANA &) #EA A FE(L E518 (17,617) (20,107)
2023 2022
—EB-=HF T CF

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for HZ+=-A=+—HI-FEHE
the year ended 31 December RN 143,350,090 143,350,090
Basic loss per share (RMB) BREAREBE(UARE ) 0.12) (0.14)

Diluted loss per share

The diluted loss per share equals to the basic loss per share, as the
Company did not have any dilutive potential ordinary shares for the years
ended 3| December 2023 and 2022.

SREBEER

HRARRBE T_—E&fg::¢+—
R=+—BI-FEETAELES LA
WEREETFERENTRERES -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-=F1-A=+-HIZFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

16. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 16. MERRZE
Furniture Servers
Land and and office and other Motor Leasehold
building equipment equipment vehicles  improvements Total
TR BRR  BREBER HE
BEYM BAERE  HUERE RE ES:3E st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETE ARETT ARETR
Cost R
At | January 2022 RZZFZ=—F—H—H = 1,204 39,677 840 2,875 44,596
Additions NE 19,057 37 54477 — 43 73614
Currency translation differences HNE T =5 = = 3,197 — — 3,197
At 31 December 2022 and i
| January 2023 +=ZA=+—AK
—E-=%—H—H 19,057 1,241 97,351 840 2918 121,407
Additions NE - 485 _ _ _ 485
Disposals HE - (68) - (840) - (908)
Currency translation differences SN T E Z R - - 1,509 - - 1,509
At 31 December 2023 R=F_=4F
+=—A=+—H 19,057 1,658 98,860 - 2918 122,493
Accumulated depreciation and EFERRE
impairment
At | January 2022 RZZT=Z=—F—H—H = 467 5715 840 623 7,645
Charge for the year F AR 715 185 18,46 = 600 19,961
Currency translation differences HNEEITE ZRR = = 693 = - 693
At 31 December 2022 and i ——c
| January 2023 +ZA=+—AK
— T =F—HA—H 715 652 24869 840 1223 28,299
Charge for the year FANHIBR 952 215 29,614 - 605 31,386
Disposals HE - (33) - (840) - (873)
Currency translation differences HNEE T R - - 457 - - 457
At 31 December 2023 prA
+=ZA=+—H~ 1,667 834 54,940 - 1,828 59,269
Carrying amount BREE
At 3| December 2023 R-SE-_=F
+=HA=+—H 17,390 824 43,920 - 1,090 63,224
At 3| December 2022 A — e
+=—A=+—H 18,342 589 72,482 — 1,695 93,108

168
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SOt SRR MR

7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

For the year ended 3| December 2023

BE_Z_=F+_A=+-HIEE

17. EREE

Computer
software
Patents licenses Goodwill Total
E B
=5 Bk [i5k3 #at
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETRT
Cost J5%N
| January 2022, 31 December 2022 R-_TE-_—4—HF—H -
and | January 2023 —ECF+TA
=+-AR-E-=F
—H—H - 10,079 17,301 27,380
Addition B 15,386 136 - 15,522
Expired FI|HA - (5,122) - (5,122)
At 3| December 2023 R-SE-=F&
+=A=+—H 15,386 5,093 17,301 37,780
Accumulated amortisation and ATHEERRE
impairment
At | January 2022 R —F—H—H — 8,36l - 8361
Charge for the year F AR - 496 - 496
At 31 December 2022 and | January R-ZT-—F+_H
2023 =t+—BR-EB-=F
—HA—H - 8,857 - 8,857
Charge for the year F AR 563 496 - 1,059
Expired FIHA - (5,122) - (5.122)
At 3| December 2023 R-B-=F
+=B=+—H 563 4,231 - 4,794
Carrying amount BRE{E
At 31 December 2023 N-E-_=5
+=A=+—H 14,823 862 17,301 32,986
At 31 December 2022 P, —
+=A=+—H - 1,222 17,301 18,523
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-Z_=6+-A=+—-RALFE
I7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Contd) 17. BELEEE)
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, fEE TS & OF 15 89 B R W i 9 fid = 78
to the cash generating units (“CGUs") that are expected to benefit from BieZEHBeHIaReELEEN([BHeE
that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill had been £BA]) EMNKREBERESRAT :
allocated as follows:
2023 2022
—E=F T —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTFTT
Electronic device and semiconductor business: ETRERFEREER
Shenzhen Xingyun Data Technology Co., Ltd.  RIIMITEEHRR M AR A 17,301 17,301
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined on the basis REeEABUMNAIKESELEERURERER®

170

of their value in use using discounted cash flow method. The key
assumptions for the discounted cash flow method are those regarding
the discount rates, growth rates and budgeted gross margin and revenue
during the period. The Group estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates
that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on long-term
average economic growth rate of the geographical area in which the
businesses of the CGUs operate. Budgeted gross margin and revenue are

based on past practices and expectations on market development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent
financial statements approved by the directors of the Company. The cash
flow contained five years forecast with the growth rate of 1.0% (2022:
2.6%). This rate does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for

the relevant markets.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows from the Group'’s

electronic device and semiconductor business is 209% (2022: 20%).

FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2023 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

B OB B ERAR M AL

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE

18. HERFEHAEEE

Disclosures of lease-related items: HEEREENIRESE
2023 2022
—EB-=F T F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETTT

At 31 December R+=—B=+—H

— Properties — 3,386 3461
Lease commitments of short-term leases HRH E R EAE 4,565 2,958

The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted
cash flows, of the Group's lease liabilities is as
follows:

AEENEERERBERTRAS
MENDAAHLT

— Less than | year —— LR 2,523 1,392
— Between | and 2 years ——Z5=&= 1,050 |,435
— Between 2 and 5 years ——FhE 273 [,196
3,846 4023

Year ended 3| December 2023 2022
BEt+t-H=+—HLEE —BC-=HF —EF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AREETTT

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEENERX 1,936 1,226
Lease interests HEFE 188 208

Expense relating to short-term leases (included
in administrative expense and research and

SIS MEERBORX
GFTATTH RS RiTERS)

development expense) 1,563 9,495
Total cash outflow for leases HERIR G425 2,082 1,370
Additions to right-of-use assets NEERREEE 1,845 -
Currency translation difference HNEETE R ) =
The Group leases properties. Lease agreements are typically made for AEEHEME  -HEBZRBEE - BEN
fixed periods of 2 — 5 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual FZE=RF - BEGRKEREEFIERHEM
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The T EREESKBEBIARIMNIKET RIESE - HEH
lease agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased assets may =2WELMRE  MEEEETEREEEIE

not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

A% -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HEZZZ

19.

172

ZE+-A=T-RILFE

SUBSIDIARIES AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

Particulars of the Group's principal subsidiaries and controlled structured
entities as at 3|1 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

19.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MEARKRZEGEEER
AEER-_E-_=GR-F-__F+-A=+
— BT EHE A R R RS
T

Percentage of ownership interest/
voting power/profit sharing

fiagRE REE/

Place of incorporation/

registration and BRNAREAL
Name operation Issued and paid up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
ERAL/ ) )
£ ERREELY BRTRARRE E# B TEER
Guangzhou Feidong Software The PRC US$15,000000 = 100% Software development and provision of information technology
Technology Co, Ltd (Note i) B services
BAFBEENRERLT  E 15000000570 QI SR R B B RS
(R
Guangzhou Feiyin Information The PRC RMBI0,000,000 - 100%  Development of webgames and mobile games
ng@ology Co, Ltd* Note i) ) B o )
BMSFEEEMRARAR B ARE100000007C M BEBRIRBDER
\WE)
Guangzhou Weidong Internet The PRC RMBI0,000,000 = 100%  Development and operation of webgames and mobile games
Technology Co, Ltd* (Note i) ) B
\%@%@ﬂ&ﬁi hE ABRH100000007 HERELRREREBSER
\MT&I
Guangzhou Jieyou Software Co,  The PRC RMBI0,000,000 - 100% Development and operation of webgames and mobile games
Ltd* (Note i) . ) B ) )
BMEERAERAAGE) & ARE100000007C & RARBEEREEDER
Shenzhen Xingyun Data Technology The PRC RMB20,000,000 - 100% Trading of electronic device and semiconductor
Co, Ltd. (Note i
MITHERERIERAT  FE ARE200000007C ETRERTERES
(GiED)
Netcloud (Hong Kong) Technology Hong Kong HKSI 100% - Trading of electronic device and semiconductor
Limited
BAZEMBAERAT & 7T STRERTEEES
@ These companies are the Group's consolidated structured entities. * ZERNAAAEENEHEBEER -
Notes: BT -
0] These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-domestic-owned enterprises (i) EZ EHBARRBIBEZREIMRANEBE L
under the laws of the PRC. °
(if) This subsidiary is registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the (i) ZMBARBEPBEEIMAIEEERE -

laws of the PRC.

The English names of certain companies referred herein represent
management'’s best effort at translating the Chinese names of these
companies as no English name has been registered.

The Company has set up a structured entity (“Restricted Share Units
Scheme Trust”) solely for the purpose of purchasing, administering and
holding the Company’s shares for the Restricted Share Units Scheme, the
Company has the power to direct the relevant activities of the Restricted
Share Units Scheme Trust and it has the ability to use its power over the
Restricted Share Units Scheme Trust to affect its exposure to retumns.
Therefore, the assets and liabilities of the Restricted Share Units Scheme
Trust are included in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position and the shares it held are presented as a deduction in equity as
Shares held for Restricted Share Units Scheme.

FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2023 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

B OB B ERAR M AL

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE

20. REZNTIMNERE

2023 2022
—E-=F B F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBF T ARBETTT
Unlisted investments in PRC: RARBRIEETRE
Associates /N - 62,909

Particulars of the Group’s major associates as at 3| December 2022 are

as follows: el /NCIEES PN
Percentage of ownership interest/
voting power/profit sharing
Place of in 2022
incorporation/ “EoEHAERR
registration BRER/RAAREA
Name and operation Issued and paid up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
AR,
Bk
L EEHE ERTRAZRE B# M TEEK
Beijing Sharetimes Technology Co, Ltd. The PRC RMB26,982,124 9.27% — Develops and operates
ERAZRRBBEROERR intellectual properties
("Beijing Sharetimes”) (Note) of celebrities
AR ZHABERNERAT & AE#26982,1247C FAEREERA
(MERDERR ) (HzE) MAERE

Note:

Although the Group holds less than 20% of the voting power of Beijing Sharetimes,
the Group exercised significant influence over Beijing Sharetimes because the
Group was entitled to appoint director into the board. During the year ended 3|
December 2023, the Group entered into an agreement with Beijing Sharetimes to
withdraw the right to appoint director into the board. Therefore the Group lost
the significant influence over Beijing Sharetimes and transferred from investments in
associates to equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income.

FeE

BEAEEPNIERD ZERPEE DR20%IZRE
ﬁ‘ilﬁitﬁ'"mﬁﬂ‘sﬁﬁikwaﬂ RESARE
BEREZEEESMAESE - BE_T_=F1+_#
=t+—HALFEE - Kggéﬁiib‘?‘““ﬂﬂ#uTﬁTﬁﬁ%'

MEZEEEMAESGAOER - Bl - AREERE
THERSZRANEARE « WHREEDRNEK

BB ARAFEFAREBEERSNESIE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-=F1-A=+-HIZFE

20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Cont'd)

The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group's share of the amounts

of all associates that are accounted for using the equity method.

20.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REBERRNRE(E)

TRELBTRAEBEEGAEREARNTAE
BENFNEHE -

2022
—TF
RMB'000
ARETTT
At 31 December: R+=—HA=+—8:
Carrying amounts of interests T AREE 62909
Year ended 3| December: BE+-A=t—HLEE:
Profit for the year FRE A 4,129
Other comprehensive income Hh A -
Total comprehensive income 2 H WA 4,129
2l. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 2I1. BAFEFAHEMEEKSZHNRE
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2023 2022
—E-=HF T F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBETT
Equity securities, at fair value BEES  BATE
Unlisted securities (Note) Ik EaE S (B EE) 81,902 28,223
Debits instruments, at fair value BELIA - BATE
Over-the-counter debt securities BN BIEFEEH 22,600 64317
104,502 92,540
Analysed as: DR
Non-current assets ERBEE 91,048 73975
Current assets MENEEE 13,454 18,565
104,502 92,540
Note: MFEE -
Designation of these investments as equity investments at fair value through other Wiy S B e T AR AT EE AR MR ER SR ERS &
comprehensive income can avoid the volatility of the fair value changes of these & AR ZEREN AT EESHERN RS
investments to the profit or loss. 2 .
174  FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2023 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OB B ERAR M AL

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE

INVENTORIES 22. ®BE
2023 2022
—E-=F B F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETT
Finished goods X m 16,245 35,396
TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. BESEWRIE

Credit sales are mainly derived from the electronic device and
semiconductor business and the normal credit term was from |5 to 90

days from respective transaction dates.

ERARETEREETFRERFERBER ' E
B EAPAEESRZHEREISENH -

2023 2022
—E-=F =T —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TF T ARET T
Trade receivables E 5 REUWGRIA
— Supporting solution of Electronic Device and ~— — & F &l R FEBEEKRE
Semiconductor Business fif Ry % 63,650 73,458
— Game Business i 16,611 18,142
— Trade of Electronic Device and Semiconductor — & T 581 N FEEEE 5 275
Business 798 552
81,059 92,152
Provision for loss allowance HRE RS (14,707) (15,091)
Carrying amount BRMEE 66,352 77,061
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Notes to the Consolidated Finanl Statements
SOt SRR M BT

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-=F1-A=+-HIZFE

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Contd) 23. EZEWREE)
EREBZRWFIERABBHTENMKREENE

The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on recognition date of the

trade receivables and net of allowance is as follows:

S RM TR R AITIT :

176

2023 2022

—EC-=F B F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBETTT

0-30 days 0-30H 30,177 60,811
31-60 days 31-60H 35,673 14,011
61-90 days 61-90H 154 I, 114
91-180 days 91-180H 176 907
[81-365 days 181-365H 172 218
66,352 77,06

Reconciliation of loss allowance for trade receivables: B S W FUREE R EHR

2023 2022

—EC-=5F —E-—4F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AREETTT

At | January R—HA—H 15,091 15078
Increase in loss allowance for the year FAEEREE N 176 316
Reversal el (570) (232)
Currency translation differences HNE ST 10 71
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 14,707 15,091

The provision and reversal of allowance for impaired receivables have
been included in “Reversal of financial assets measured at amortised
cost-net” in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other
comprehensive income. Amounts charged to the allowance account
are generally written off, when there is no expectation of recovering

additional cash.

FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2023 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Cont'd)

The Group applies the simplified approach under IFRS 9 to provide
for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected loss provision
for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. The expected credit losses also incorporate

forward looking information.

23.

B OB B ERAR M AL

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE

B2 RWREGE)
ANEEERBERMEREEREIRE T L
% ERFENENERREITEE S RK
REFREBERAER - RFAERBEAE
B BHSRUSAEREAREERBREE R
BHBEENE - FHEREBERTMANELE
£t o

Less than
| year (include More than
| year) | year
Current past due past due Total
A
DR—EF eIt
BE (BE—F) BiE—F At
At 31 December 2023 R=ZB=-=F+t=-A=1+—H
Expected loss rate EHEBEE 0.00% 12.17% 100.00%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) BREIZAE (AR T T) 66,085 304 14,670 81,059
Loss allowance provision (RMB'000) EiE#E KB E(ARE T T) - 37 14,670 14,707
At 31 December 2022 R-E-——F+-_H=+—8H
Expected loss rate TEHAES AR 0.00% 14.27% 100.00%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)  BREIABE(ARETIT) 74989 2417 14,746 92,152
Loss allowance provision (RMB'000) E5tE B (A REFIT) - 345 14,746 15,091
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_Z_=F+_A=+-HLEE
24. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

178

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

24, ERNRERAEMERTE

2023 2022
—E-=F —F-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AREBFT
Included in non-current assets STAEREBEE
Prepayments TERTEIE 8,007 =
Receivable from disposal of investments (Note i) 2K B & 1% & #) e U R IE (BT 5E1) 2,077 14,821
Others Hitp 595 470
10,679 15291
Included in current assets STARBEE
Prepayments TR FRIR 18,818 864
Receivable from disposal of investments (Note i) 3R B H & 1% & #)FE YRR (i) 9,933 3,022
Deductible value-added tax AIRHISER 5,284 9,603
Loan receivables (Note ii) FEUCE R (M=) - —
Others Hity 3,408 2,870
37,443 16,359
Notes: BiaE -
@) The Group and the buyers of subsidiaries disposed of in 2020 entered into 0) REBE_ZT_ZFHENNBARNE S

a supplemental agreement, the remaining amount of proceeds receivable
amounting to RMB17,500,000 will be settled by 3 years installments.

(ii) As at 3| December 2023, the Group has outstanding loan receivables (i)
with net book value equals to nil (2022: nil). During the year ended 3l
December 2023, the Group collected several previous impaired loan
receivables through legal procedure and reversed RMBI5,050,000 (2022:

RMB21,335,000) impairment losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SOt SRR MR

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE 25.
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

BAVEGABRSNEREERAE

2023 2022
—E-=F - —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AREFT
Financial assets at fair value through profit or AP EF ABEZNERMEE
loss
Equity securities TR 5
Listed in US X £ 53,762 23216
Listed in Hong Kong BB LM - 13910
Listed in PRC R ET - 16,034
53,762 53,160
Derivatives — fixed coupon note TTHETARE-—EREE 68,622 27,098
Options Hite 2,615 3,391
Securities lending BHEE - 77
Total financial assets at fair value through profit or iz A T EFF ABEN SR EE
loss, analysed as current assets 1w SMEARBEE 124,999 83,726
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or AP EF ABENEREE
loss
Options, analysed as current liabilities HiiE - SMRRHEE 1,938 848
EEERERAT FEHSs2023 179
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Notes to the Consolidated Financal Statements
SOt SRR M BT

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-=F1-A=+-HIZFE

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH 260 BERRELEBYRIRHERE

(@)  Cash and cash equivalents () BHERREZEY
2023 2022
—EB_=HF T —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREETTT
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFERE 114,054 154,862
Cash at other financial institutions REAM S BB S 81,895 69,761
195,949 224,623
(b)  Restricted cash (b) ERHERE
As at 31 December 2023, no restricted deposit held at bank. As at RZBZ=F+"A=+—0 - EXR
31 December 2022, RMB94,000 were restricted deposits held at FIIREFERRET R B - —F+—
bank as collateral for credit card and RMB926,000 were frozen for A=+—H ' AR¥94000tXRHEE
legal dispute. FERRIRT ERERATEREARE

926,000 T FVARAL M WR & o

27. TRADE PAYABLES 27. ESENNE
The aging analysis of trade payables, based on recognition date of trade RIEEZENFIBERABDMME S EIHIBE
payables, is as follows: HERRER DT

2023 2022

—EC=F T —F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBF T ARETT

0-30 days 0-30H 2,854 1,977

31-60 days 31-60H 1,369 1,025

61-90 days 61-90H 819 620

91-180 days 91-180H 1,590 2,246

[81-365 days 181-365H 695 888

Over | year —FPAE 4,638 4643

11,965 [1,399
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SOt SRR MR

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

28. HAiENREARETEM

2023 2022
—E-=F —F-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARBETTT
Payments received on behalf of business partners X3& Z 755 (- IWEH 58 32,070 38,820
Services fee received B AR E A - 5994
Professional service fees payable ENEEREER 4,109 4,247
Staff costs and welfare accruals FEET B TR AR 2,031 3,86
Advertising expenses accruals EEtESERE 1,275 926
Others Hity 5,396 4978
44,881 58,826
BANK BORROWINGS 29. RITER
2023 2022
—EB-=F T F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARBETTT
Bank loans IRITER - 3,850
The borrowings are repayable as follows: EEENT
On demand or within one year BRERFN—FR - 3,850
Less: Amount due for repayment on demand W RE KRB ERIE IS
(shown under current liabilities) GIRRBEEET) - (3,850)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 12{E B & 2 HAfE E /O 58 - -

The average interest rates at 3|1 December 2022 was 4.35%

4.35% °
The bank loans are secured by personal guarantees given by a subsidiary’s BEZT-_—_F+A=1+—HLEFE ' R
director and his wife for the year ended 3| December 2022. EFA—UMBARIEEREEZEFRHENE

AFERIEEA -

RZBEZZF+_A=+—BZEBRFNXAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-=F1-A=+-HIZFE

30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

30. BHEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

As at As at As at
3| December 3| December | January
2023 2022 2022
R=ZBZ=F i S—s M-T——4
t=A=+—-B +Z-A=+—H —H—A8
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFTT ARETTT
Contract liabilities BHEE 3,017 2,148 28,882
Contract receivables AR FEWFRIR
(included in trade receivables) (Gt AB ZRKEFIE) 66,352 77,06 58517
2023 2022
—EC=F T CF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMEF 7T ARBFT
Transaction prices allocated to performance AEERFRRBITHBHEED
obligations unsatisfied at end of year and RS EWTEEERIA T EE
expected to be recognised as revenue in: HERBIA
—2023 ——E_=F N/A
THER 2,148
— 2024 ——E N 3,017 =
3,017 2,148
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OB B ERAR M AL '

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Cont'd) aRaEE)
Year ended 3| December BZt+t-BA=1+—HLEE
2023 2022
—E-=F T F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARMET T
Revenue recognised in the year that was included 5T AFH1& LI B ERFA
in contract liabilities at beginning of year U 2,148 28,882
Significant changes in contract liabilities during FRESHNEBNEKREE) :
the year:
Increase due to operations in the year EF A ERS L EL N 8,672 1,152
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue HEHaEEEEIRA (7,803) (27,866)
A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer products SRNEBEAKRBEEEERNT P EEE IR
or services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration % MASEEKRZEPRE(KI B MAR
&) -

(or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-=F1-A=+-HIZFE

31

184

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LEASE LIABILITIES 3. HEAE
Lease payments Present value of Lease payments
HEMNRK HEMNRBRE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=F T F —EC-=F T —F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARBFT ARBTT ARETT
Within one year —F A 2,523 1,392 2,408 1,241
Over one year but within five years ~ HB#B—FERAFA 1,323 2,631 1,282 2,498
3,846 4,023 3,690 3,739
Less: Future finance charge B ARREE X (156) (284)
Present value of lease liabilities HEABERE 3,690 3,739
Less: Amount due for settlement within &% = 72 1218 A A EI A4S
|2 months (shown under EH)FIE
current liabilities) (RRBEE
H TR (2,408) (1241)
Amount due for settlement after 1218 A& 2| B4 E
12 months X HIFIR 1,282 2498
At 31 December 2023, the average effective borrowing rate was 3.45% RZEZ=F+-_A=+—H - ERTHERK

— 4.65% (2023: 4.65%) per annum. Interest rates are fixed at the contract

dates and thus expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2023 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DEFERRED TAX
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised

by the Group.

B OB B ERAR M AL

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE

32. EIERIE

AEEBEIANEIRDEEHBREMEENT -

Fair value
change of equity
investments

at fair value
through other

comprehensive

Tax losses income Total

BRATEIA
B 2EEN
M RE

BEER DHERD et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFT ARBTT

At | January 2022 R-ZTE-__%—H—H
Charge to profit or loss (note | ) Bz RHIBR (BN 1)
Credit to other comprehensive income — FFAZE M2 E WS

438 2.012) 2,369
4381) - 4381)
- 2012 2012

At 31 December 2022, | January 2023 R—ZE-_—_F+—_A=+—H
and 3| December 2023 —E-=F—-A—AK
—E-=F+-A=+—H

As at 31 December 2023, deferred income tax assets are recognised for
tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related tax
benefit through future taxable profits is probable. Based on management's
assessment, the Group's losses amounting to RMB160,632,000 (2022:
RMB165,490,000) is not considered probable to be utilised, therefore the
Group did not recognise relevant deferred income tax assets amounting
to RMB37,957,000 (2022: RMB39,498,000) for these losses. These tax
losses will expire from year 2024 to 2033.

RZBE_=F+ZA=+—8 ' EEMRBHRE
ERRIEEBAERER - ABTIERE S A6
FERRARERT R ZIRNERR - RIEEEE
S AEEREERARE60,632,000T(=
T —4F: ARM165490,0007T) JH1H4E AT A
AREAIRER  MASEYERZEEERER
HAELEMEHRERE AR37,957000T( =%
——F: AR#394980007T) © It EFIEEE

R T FE T ==FF(H -
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B OB SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-=F1-A=+-HIZFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. B&
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
HEREE gLl
UsD'000
TET
Authorised: JERE
Ordinary shares of USD0.000| each HRXE(E0.000 | ZETTH) B A%
At | January 2022, 31 December 2022, R=Z==f—-A—H -
| January 2023 and 3| December 2023 —E_—_f+=-HA=+—H -
—2-=F-A-HK
—Z2-=%t=-A=t-AH 500,000,000 50
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
EERHE T8
RMB'000
ARETTT
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE
Ordinary shares of USD0.0001 each IR E(E0.000| =TT E AR
At | January 2022, 31 December 2022, R-—ZE-_—F—HF—AH -
| January 2023 and 3| December 2023 —EB-—_fF+4+=-H=+—8 -
—g-=£-A—-AR
—E-=H+=ZH=+—H 143,350,090 93
Note: Mt T -
At 3| December 2023, under the Restricted Share Units Scheme, the Company RZBZ=F+ZHA=+—H0 ' XRARBEZRHIK
bought back but not vest 3,375,000 shares (2022: 3,375,000 shares). 7 B iz 5t &8 OB I R ER B 3,375,000/ (=T = =% :

186
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SOt SRR MR

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

34. ARATFHIEFEMR &K

2023 2022
—EB-=HF =T —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREETTT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets REBEE
Investments in subsidiaries FERH B AR 201,027 201,027
Right-of-use assets EREEE 816 -
Prepayments and other receivables TE RIE B H Afth JE WK IE 224 =
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEHFTE A RIFRIE 390,225 442,026
592,292 643,053
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments and other receivables TR IR K E At FE GRS - 137
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBREEEY 846 1,729
846 1,866
Total assets EEHAEE 593,138 644,919
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EnkEE
Equity Ew
Share capital A& 93 93
Reserves & 590,181 643,114
Total equity AR 590,274 643,207
Liabilities =N
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEARE 125 =
Current liabilities RBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 737 =
Other payables and accruals Hh e RRIE R BT E A 2,002 1,712
2,739 1,712
Total liabilities =Rt b 2,864 1,712
Total equity and liabilities Rk EEHE 593,138 644919
Net current (liabilities)/assets FRE(EE)BE (1,893) |54
Total assets less current liabilities EEABNBRABAS 590,399 643,207

EEZERERAF
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-=F1-A=+-HIZFE

8o

188

RESERVES

@

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and

the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC
and Articles of Association of the companies incorporated in the
PRC now comprising the Group, it is required to appropriate 10%
of the annual net profits, after offsetting any prior years' losses as
determined under the PRC accounting standards, to the statutory
surplus reserve fund before distributing any net profit. When the
balance of the statutory surplus reserve fund reaches 50% of the
registered capital of the companies incorporated in the PRC, any
further appropriation is at the discretion of shareholders. The
statutory surplus reserve fund can be used to offset prior years'
losses, if any, and may be capitalised as capital, provided that the
remaining balance of the statutory surplus reserve fund after such

issue is no less than 25% of registered capital.

In addition, in accordance with the Law of the PRC on Enterprises
with Foreign Investments and the stipulated provisions of the
articles of association of wholly owned foreign subsidiaries in the
PRC, appropriation from net profits (after offsetting accumulated
losses brought forward from prior years) should be made by these
companies to their respective reserve funds. The percentage of net
profit to be appropriated to the reserve fund is not less than 0%
of the net profit. When the balance of the reserve fund reaches

50% of the registered capital, such transfer needs not be made.

FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2023 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rEE
AEERAFERBEFRENRKEBRES
PN EBECRAFER AR E RS

AN
£ RADERBBEELT -

RIEE B BUE R RER KRB REKRASE
) 3 7 R B Al B S RO A B 4 A R A
8« REEARE T E s R EE 6O EA
BEFEBIER  HERS RETARFFE
HARRFERIFEN 0% AT B
NS - BEEERBHABENEHETRN
B RE A B A SR E AR R S0%8F - E A
E—PHBRTDEAREREZSRE - &€
BHABSAAREEBTFEEEE(W
B) RAGEEREABRAN  HRBGHE
TRATRHBAESNERTE LR EM
BEANKI25% °

gEoh - R B INE 1 50K & B SN B
BB AR MAEZZERZMAEE
AIEHFEESENABREL RFFED
R(ERHBEFEN RFTEER) - AF
e MFBOE B D L NMER BN FEED
10% ° & Aia® A eRE S T & AR50% -
BITNFZEL A RAER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SOt SRR MR

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE

RESERVES (Cont'd)

(b)

Company

35. f##E(E)
(b) ZARF

Shares held
for Restricted

Share Share Units

Accumulated

premium Scheme Reserves losses Total
RZ R
R4 B
AR
RE(E KR ikt RitBER st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTFT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT
At | January 2022 R=ZZE-_—F—HF—H 2,146,603 (28,900) (132810) (1,348,330) 636,563
Loss for the year FREE - - - (30,836) (30,836)
Currency translation differences ~ INEHT & Z 58 = = 37,387 37,387
At 3| December 2022 and i
| January 2023 +ZA=+—-8k
—T-=-%—H—H 2,146,603 (28,900) (95,423) (1,379,166) 643,114
Loss for the year FREER - - - (60,487) (60,487)
Currency translation differences SN & £ 58 - - 7,554 - 7,554
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=F
+=A=+—H 2,146,603 (28,900) (87,869) (1,439,653) 590,181
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-=F1-A=+-HIZFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 36. &ftRE&ERERME

FLOWS
The following table shows the Group's changes in liabilities arising from

financing activities during the year:

TRINFRALAEEREEHELNRES

Bank borrowings Lease liabilities Total
RITER HERE L5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARET T AREET T ARBETIT

At | January 2022 R-ZE—_—_F—HA—H 4,000 4,901 8,901
Changes in cash flows Rened (337) (1,370) (1,707)
Non-cash changes FHREEH
— Interest charged —BHRFE 187 208 395
At 31 December 2022 and N-EBE-_—_&F#+=-A=+—HEK

| January 2023 —E-_=%—H—H 3,850 3,739 7,589
Changes in cash flows HERESTH (3,965) (2,082) (6,047)
Non-cash changes FREEE
— Additions —hE - 1,845 1,845
— Interest charged — 2 HMIBRFIR 15 188 303
At 31 December 2023 R-ZB-_=%+=-A=+—H - 3,690 3,690

37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 37. RAREE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group and the Company did not have any
significant contingent liabilities (2022: nil).

38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 38.

As at 31 December 2023, the amount of capital expenditures contracted
but not provided is RMBI,250,000 (2022: RMBI,250,000) which was

related to investment arrangements.
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R-E-_=ZF+-_A=+—8 ' 2&£B ;AR
AT EAMERRABE( T __F : &) -

EAREE

RZBEZ=F+ZA=+—H  BiIJOERE
HHEAREZ 2B AARY 1,250,000t (=ZF =
—4F : AR,250,0007T) - EBIRELHEHR ©



39.

40.

N— _— &

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Key management personnel compensations

39.

The compensations paid or payable to key management personnel (including

directors of the Company and other senior executives) for employee

services are shown below:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RN

B OB B ERAR M AL '

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+-A=+-HIZFE

BBAERS
TEEEASWEM

HEERBENHENIEEREABS(BHEAR
AEEREMSRITBRAR)OHHMIIRET

2023 2022
—EC=F T —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETT
Fees, wages and salaries we  IEKRES 3,065 3,443
Bonuses TEAL 154 152
Pension costs — defined contribution plans RGO — e G S 38 68
Social security costs, housing benefits and other (T &REKRA ~ FEBEF &

employee benefits H b S 12 A 59 99
3316 3,762

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 40. RUEMB®RE

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2024.

AHPBRERER—_E-_mME=A =+ /\B&

EEeHERRETE -
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Definitions
E=

“Annual General Meeting”
[RBFERE]

“Articles”

N

“Audit and Compliance Committee”

[EZREHAZEE]

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

[E%g]

“BVI
[RBREZES]

“Cayman Islands”

[H2ES]

“China” or “PRC"
[ EY

“Company" or “Forgame”

[ARRw] k] =i

"“Connected Person(s)

[EEAL]

“Connected Transaction(s)”

[FER 5 |

“Contractual Arrangements”

[&#IZHE]
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the annual general meeting of the Company proposed to be held on Thursday,
|6 May 2024
RATHRZZE-MFERATSB (2B BT RRBFRE

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time

AAREBERARN B TEHERT)

the audit and compliance committee of the Board

ExgERkARZERS

the board of Directors of the Company

ARRESE

the British Virgin Islands
RBREZES

the Cayman Islands

HEHE

the People's Republic of China and, except where the context otherwise requires

and only for the purpose of this annual report, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and

Taiwan
REARKENE @ BRYXESEMEINRRAFERNE - TEEES  BFIR

Forgame Holdings Limited (& ###% ik B R A &), an exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 26 July 2011 with limited liability, whose
Shares became listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date
EEERBRAR  RNZEBE——F AT RBERSHS MR AER
RARAR - Hikf B £ B R ER AR EH

has the same meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

BB EmRAIPTE T R%ZE

has the same meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

BB EmRAIRTE T R%ZE

the Feidong Contractual Arrangements
FERN R WL HE
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“Corporate Governance Code” or “CG Code”

[ERERTA

“Corporate Governance Committee”

[bRERZEE]

"“Director(s)"”

[E%]

"

“Executive Director(s)

[AITEE]

“Family Trusts”
[ RI&(EE]

“Feidong”

[SEE) |

“Feidong Contractual Arrangements”

[SEENR KL k]

“Feidong PRC Operational Entities”

Definitions
E= ‘

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix CI to the Listing Rules

EFRAIFERCI Pty R E AT R

the corporate governance committee formed by the Board on 22 May 2020, details
of which are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 28 May 2020
EXgN T TFERATHRUMNCEELRZEE @ FBHANALQF
HBRE-_Z-_TFRA -+ \BHHAE

director(s) of the Company

RARES

executive Director(s)

WiITES

Wang Trust, Keith Huang Trust, Hao Dong Trust and Zhuangjg Trust, collectively
Wang Trust * Keith Huang Trust * Hao Dong TrustfZhuangjg TrustH) &1

Guangzhou Feidong Software Technology Co., Ltd. (also referred to as Guangzhou
Feidong Software Technology Company Limited)* (BEIMNIEENEFEHZBR A R)),
an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, established under the laws of
the PRC on I3 June 2012

BENZFERRAERKBRAF  ARANEZEEMNBAR R-FT——FKX
AtT=BREFPBEEKL

a series of contractual arrangements entered into between Feidong, the Feidong
PRC Operational Entities and their respective shareholders
JFE  SFRTRIKEERRNESAMBIRARI AN — AR HR

Feiyin, Weidong and Jieyou, whose financial results have been consolidated and
accounted for as subsidiaries of the Company by virtue of the Feidong Contractual
Arrangements, collectively

JEE  #BRENOSHE  HUBEECRBFDSNRIURRAREA
AN AR AR R EE RS AR
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BE

“Feiyin”

“Financial Statements”

[ AR5 R ]

“FITE Regulations”

[INEBERFERE]

“Foga Development”

[Foga Development ]

"“Foga Group”
[ Foga Group ]

“Foga Holdings”

[Foga Holdings ]

“Foga Intemet Development”

[Foga Internet Development |
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Definitions

Guangzhou Feiyin Information Technology Co., Ltd. (also referred to as Guangzhou
Feiyin Information Technology Company Limited)* (M 3E= {2 ERHEAR A 7)),
a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 12 April 2004

BNFESZESRRERAR - R-ZETMFI A+ BB BIEEKE
BREERT

audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 3|
December 2023
AREEBE—T_=Ft-A=1t BULFENEEZSHABRE

Regulations for the Administration of Foreign-invested Telecommunications
Enterprises promulgated by the State Council on || December 2001 and
subsequently amended on |0 September 2008 and 6 February 2016, respectively
BBER_EE—F+ A+ HEMALERIINR_ZZENFAATAER
“EREZARBEITNOIEREEEEEEERE)

Foga Development Co. Ltd, a company incorporated in the BVI on 25 July 201 |
Foga Development Co. Ltd. * RZZE——F+ A -+ A B ERBR LS
DA UG

Foga Group Ltd, a company incorporated in the BVI on 25 July 201 |
Foga Group Ltd. ' RZFE——F+t A -+ A HEREBERZHEFMKIAR
Al

Foga Holdings Ltd, a company incorporated in the BVI on 25 July 2011, which was
established by Mr. Liao and is one of the Holding Companies. The entire issued
share capital is held by Managecorp Limited acting as the trustee of the Hao Dong
Trust

Foga Holdings Ltd. ' R=Z——F+ A -+ ABERBRERESEMAL
AR RARARBAEERY » WARERARZ— - H2MPEHTRAH
Managecorp Limited#%  fMManagecorp LimitedAHao Dong TrustA) 25 A

Foga Internet Development Ltd, a company incorporated in the BVI on 25 July
201 I, which was established and wholly-owned by Mr. Yang and is one of the
Holding Companies

Foga Intemet Development Ltd. * R=ZZE——F AT HABTERBREZHS
MM RR]  RARBBEERIEEEER - WAERARZ—



= N~

“Foga Networks”

[Foga Networks |

“Foga Tech”

[Foga Tech]

“Founder(s)"”

E-FN

“Group” or “we" or “us”

SN

“Hao Dong Trust”

[Hao Dong Trust |

“HKS”

[T

“Holding Companies”

SNl

Definitions
E=

Foga Networks Development Ltd., a company incorporated in the BVI on 25 July
2011, which was established by Mr. Huang and is one of the Holding Companies.
The entire issued share capital is held by Managecorp Limited acting as the trustee
of the Keith Huang Trust

Foga Networks Development Ltd. * R=Z——F -t A -+ A HERBE LA
SEMBZEAR - ZARBRTAERYL - WAKERARZ— - A2EE %
7787 fAManagecorp Limited# A * iMManagecorp LimitedZKeith Huang Trust&)
HEEA

Foga Tech Limited, a limited company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong
on 9 August 201 | and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

Foga Tech Limited * R=E——F N\ AN ABRBEESZEZTMKINERA
A - RARRNEZENB AR

Mr. Wang, Mr. Huang, Mr. Liao, Mr. Yang and Mr. Zhuang, who are the founder(s)

of the Company, collectively

ARBEIMAELE  |BELE - BEE  BEEREEENGTE

the Company and its subsidiaries, collectively

AR REKBRRR S

a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Liao of which Managecorp Limited acts as the
trustee and the discretionary beneficiary of which is Mr. Liao

BB ERH2REEE + X5EARManagecorp Limited * MEEXmARE
yvla

Ve

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BT BEREEEE

Foga Group, Foga Networks, Foga Holdings, Foga Internet Development and
Foga Development, which are the immediate holding companies of the Company
established by Mr. Wang, Mr. Huang, Mr. Liao, Mr. Yang and Mr. Zhuang
respectively, collectively

Foga Group * Foga Networks * Foga Holdings * Foga Internet Development }2Foga
DevelopmentHI#ttE * ZFEARIARNARDAEERE ~ EhE  BEE -
B A R e A A A B AR R
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Definitions
E=

“Hong Kong" or “HK"
(&8
“|ICP Licence”

[1CP3F Al &

“|FRSs"

[ BIBR B A e 5 2E R |

“Independent Non-executive Director(s)”

[ IEITESE
P

[ A

“IPO”
[BHRAREBE]
e

M5Bk
“Jieyou"

73l

“Keith Huang Trust”

[ Keith Huang Trust |
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The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEEERRITTHER

internet content provision licence, a value-added telecommunications business
operation licence issued by the relevant PRC government authorities with a service
scope of information services

RETBEATNFARE - AR ERARERENIEEEERBELT
FIRE - HOI A AR AR 7% #6 E

international financial reporting standards and interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Board, and includes all International Accounting
Standards and interpretations issued under the former International Accounting
Standards Committee from time to time

FH B BR 2 5T 22 BIIZE B & (International Accounting Standards Board) i@ 8 #) —
EREBRBIERER REER - BIEHEB & international Accounting Standards
Committee N T M T ACBIBR G 5T ERD R B R

independent non-executive Director(s)

BYFRITES

intellectual property

AERE

initial public offering of the Shares on the Stock Exchange
BB E R AREE

information technology

ERERHX

Guangzhou Jieyou Software Co., Ltd. (also referred to as Guangzhou Jieyou
Software Company Limited)* (M FREZEHHR A7), a limited liability company
established under the laws of the PRC on 7 June 2012

BMNEERGARAR - RZE——F ALt ARBPBIEER IHERE
/NG

a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Huang, of which Managecorp Limited acts as
the trustee and the beneficiaries of which are Mr. Huang and certain of his family
members

HRELERZAEREISET - X35 A BManagecorp Limited * M¥Xm ASEITE
REETHEKE
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"“KongZhong Corporation”

[Z=H |

"“KongZhong Group”

[ g

Ji]

J

“Latest Practicable Date"”

[ R ERRAI1THH

“Listing Date”
[ LB

“Listing Rules”

[ Er#RAl]

“Main Board”

[ £k

“Managecorp Limited”

[ Managecorp Limited |

“MIT”
[TEAE e kEs]

“Model Code”

[52E<F Al ]

“Mr. Huang”

(&Rt

Definitions .\

Bx |

KongZhong Corporation, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability
Kong Zhong Corporation * MHA A& T MK ZEIBR AR

collectively, KongZhong Corporation, its subsidiaries and companies controlled by

KongZhong Corporation
=R - HMB AR RZEPAEHIR RN E

|7 April 2024, being the latest practicable date prior to the bulk printing and

publication of this annual report

“EEFEMATER - AAFRAENR R TN KL ERAITAH

3 October 2013
—FT-=FtA=H

The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited
ERBARHABRARES LA

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock Exchange
which is independent from and operates in parallel with the GEM of the Stock
Exchange

B BENERR (T EEHETS) BN R PIGEMK BE T
BIE

Managecorp Limited, the trustee of each of the Family Trusts
Managecorp Limited * B RIEEFEZXFEA

the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the PRC
R A RAME TN S(EED

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
ETRRIMSRCIFME LM BT AESETERR HMNIRET A

Mr. Huang Weibing (1) (alias: Huang Kai (528))), one of the Founders and

the settlor of Keith Huang Trust
EELEE(XRFEY)  BIFAZ— + AKeith Huang TrustfIFER T A
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Definitions
E=

“Mr. Liao”
[BE5eA ]

“Mr. Wang"

DEFRA

“Mr. Yang”
(554 ]

“Mr. Zhuang”
[T ]

“Nomination Committee”

[fERZ e

“Non-executive Director(s)”

[IFTEE]

"“PRC Operational Entities”
[FREEER

"“Prospectus”

[k =z |

“R&D"
[H73% ]

“Remuneration Committee”

[HHEEE]

“Renminbi” or “RMB”
[ARE]
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Mr. Liao Dong (BZER), one of the Founders and the settlor of Hao Dong Trust
BREE - Bl AZ— © AHao Dong TrustFIBIER T A

Mr. Wang Dongfeng (ER[E), one of the Founders and the settlor of Wang
Trust, who resigned as the chairman of the Board, an Executive Director, the chief
executive officer of the Company, the Company's authorised representative under
Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules and the chairman of the Nomination Committee on
30 September 2019

ERESCE - BIFAZ— © BWang TrustITER T A + RZZE—NFNLA
=TAREARRAESTEEIR  WTESE  BERWTE - ETRAIFE30565K
IARAENRERREIREEZ8GLR

Mr. Yang Tao (#5%), one of the Founders

BEELE  BlRAZ—

Mr. Zhuang Jieguang (3£#fZ), one of the Founders and the settlor of Zhuangjg
Trust
HRERITE - BIAZ— + AZhuangg TrusttU B ER T A

the nomination committee of the Board

ExgRR%8TE

non-executive Director(s)

FATES

the Feidong PRC Operational Entities
FHTELEERE

the prospectus of the Company dated |9 September 2013 in relation to the IPO
ARRBHA—FT—=FNATNANBERAFRERRER

research and development

WoE K %

the remuneration committee of the Board

EXeFHE8E

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
ARE - HEEEEH
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“SFO”

[ &5 KB (5A )

“Share Times”

[ =R

“Shareholders”

[BCR

“Shares”

[Bfn |

"“Shenzhen Xingyun”

“State Council”

[ B756x |

"“Stock Exchange”
[ 52 Ffr

“Subsidiaries”

(KB AaE ]

“Substantial Shareholder(s)”

[EEER]

“United States”

ES=0

“US$" or "USD”
E

Definitions .\

Bx |

the Securities and Futures Ordinance of Hong Kong (chapter 571 of the laws of

Hong Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BREGIFEST I ECGES M EEPD (B TRHERT - AR T B

Beijing Share Times Technology Co,, Limited* (3t R ZRFREHERAR A BR A 7)),
a limited company established in the PRC
ERDZRERBERNBRARF - KR BEKZERDBRAF

shareholders of the Company

RARRE

shares of USD0.000! each in the share capital of the Company
AR BB AN & A%0.000 1 EITHO BN

Shenzhen Xingyun Data Technology Co. Ltd* (RYITHITEEIERMT AR A R)),
an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, established under the laws of
the PRC on | December 2014

RYHITEBBERMERAR - RARFRIZHZEZENBAR » R -Z—1
F+—A—BREHBEIEEKL

State Council of the PRC (1 # A R A0 B 75t )
EYNEP T I[EaE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBMARHMERAR

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

BB EMARAIFTE THORE

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

BB EMARAIRTE T HORE

the United States of America
FEFIERE RE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

XBEAEEBET
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Definitions
E=

“Wang Trust”

[Wang Trust | i
“Weidong”

[ 4% | |

""Zhuangjg Trust”

a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Wang, of which Managecorp Limited acts as
the trustee and the beneficiaries of which are Mr. Wang and certain of his family
members

RESEER N EH#ERT + XFEA BManagecorp Limited * X m A AT LA
REETHKEKE

Guangzhou Weidong Internet Technology Co., Ltd. (also referred to as Guangzhou
Weidong Internet Technology Company Limited)* (EM #ZABERHEBR A
A), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 22 January
2007

BMNEBEREHERAR - RZE22LF— A+ - ARBEHBEIAEKT
MNEREEAR

a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Zhuang, of which Managecorp Limited acts as

the trustee and the beneficiaries of which are Mr. Zhuang and certain of his family

members

[ Zhuangjg Trust | 5 FREEAERY M EEERT + X5t A BManagecorp Limited * Xz A AL E
REETHEKE

e The English name is translated for reference purpose only in this annual report

& REFHNEXELBEHRZE
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2023 Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Forgame Holdings Limited (“Forgame” or the "Company", together with
its subsidiaries, the "Group” or “we”) is pleased to present our annual
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) report (the “Report”) and
its relevant implemented policies and strategies in relation to the Group's
operational practices and environmental protection. For information
regarding corporate governance, please refer to the “Corporate Governance

Report” in the 2023 annual report of the Company.

The Report covers the period from | January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (the
“Reporting Period” or “FY2023").

REPORTING STANDARD

The Report has been prepared with reference to the ESG Reporting Guide
set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange"). To
ensure the accuracy of environmental key performance indicators (“KPIs"),
the Group engaged a professional consultancy firm to conduct the calculation

and preparation of the Report.

In preparation for this Report, due diligence has been taken by the Group
to adhere to the reporting principles of “Materiality”, “Quantitative”,
“Balance” and “Consistency”. The materiality assessment has ensured the
Report presents the most material ESG topics pertaining to our businesses.
Whenever necessary, the Report details any standards, methodologies,
assumptions and/or calculation tools used, or source of conversion factors

used, as well as explanations of any inconsistencies to previous reports.

REPORTING SCOPE

The Report covers the Group’s ESG policies and measures, and compliance
for business activities of our major revenue streams. These activities have
included developing and publishing domestic webgames, trading of electronic
devices and semiconductors, and secondary financial commodity market

investments in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

Regarding workforce-related KPIs, the reporting scope has included data
from Mainland China and Hong Kong to maintain consistency with the

annual report.

2023B1% - HERERHE

BARA®RE

EHEERBRAR(EREIKAA * [Forgame] @ E[F
HIfBARSE AEE Ik RM)2INEBEERE
FARE  HegkEa((BRE - g£BRERDGE(R
& DRVE T F 8 & EARE E X EE RIRIEREN
AR ER LK - ARCEELANER - F2H
ZEC=FARARAFERPHIEEERRE]

AFERE T _=F—A—BE-_T_=F+_A
=t+—H(REEE | ZB==0F]) -

HEER

ABERREBBERSMAERAR ([ EHBBRAR])
TREMRAMBRC2AFNNRE - HERERRERE
SRS - RERRFEMREBIFTENERE
AEBEEESE - RIXBEAAFBERENENTE
RiRE °

ERSAHMER  AEERAZBASUNET EE
tE] - TE(E]  [FE I —BE NBRERR - ARE
EEEUREF  BRTHRMAFFERE  HalkE
AHEREENTIE - T2 - AMEFHARB T
ERMERE - 7705 - RBMAE T RALPIERAER
RBHR - ARGAERS AT RE E A — 225 -

HEEE

AHERETAEENRE 4G REAREME
it ARBEMEBBARBHBENEBERER - &
TERERFEARAMBE(NHEDEEEARMEEEE
RESBERNOAERETUAREFRER L EREY
WES o

ANEERBNBERERESR  REBERFERAF
BAt R EENER - ARREFR I -
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BOARD APPROVAL

The Report has been approved by the board (the “Board”) of directors (the

“Directors”) of the Company before publication.

BOARD STATEMENT — ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board understands its overall responsibility for overseeing and
implementing the Group's ESG strategy, and will integrate sustainable
development into the Group's specific business in accordance with the
company’s business development. The Group has formed a top-down ESG
structure in adhering to its sustainable development philosophy. The Board
is responsible for overseeing the ESG issues of the Group, formulating
ESG strategies and assessing and determining the risks associated with
ESG, in order to ensure the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control of the Group. The Office of The President is responsible for the
job allocation based on the ESG strategies and reporting to the Board
about the progress of ESG tasks and the Group's annual ESG Report. The
Secretary Compliance Department, Human Resources and Administration
Department, Financial Department are responsible for performing ESG
tasks, including collection of stakeholders’ opinions, performing internal and
external materiality assessment, preparing the ESG Report, and reporting
to the senior management about the progress of ESG tasks and the
preparation of the ESG Report. The Board of Directors will also regularly
check the implementation and changes of various ESG indicators, and
optimize ESG targets when appropriate and feasible, so as to ensure that
the Group's corporate development will minimize the negative impact on
the environment and society. The diagram below shows the Group's ESG

structure:
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ExenmE
AHENEMACKARANER(EENS(ES
g -

EEERH-RE  HEREANAERE

B EEEEREAKEESGRETHNERR
T BEREBEAFRNEHERSIFEZRBAZE
BHWAREET  REBRAKENASERRER -

RNEBES T B LM NHESGEEE - %% HALER
ESGEEREEEERM - AEHIFIESGREE - YA ST
EREEAEENESGRER - BIREBE ME&W%&%

MBI - AP EBERIBESGRELZ BB IIE © [
EEGERSCILIEER RASENFEESGRE - &
MERE - ANBIREITEHE - B EEFRRESGT
15 PREEROHEER  BEITRBRINDEZ T
i BERESCHESE - MEREEABERESGIEM
ESCHRERBNER - EF SR TEHREESGEIEIE
BHPEEREEEN - NEE RAITHER TE(LESG
B UHERASENCEZEURERMENAR
HEBRERE o THEANEBESGESRS :
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20235 - HERERRSE |

{ A
The Bcla\rd Formulating ESG strategies, action plans and goals
EFE HIEESGERRE - (TBYET EITIA 12
\ | S/
{ 3\ 4 N\ . .
Internal Audit and Allocating works based on the ESG strategies,
Compliance Ofﬁcevof action plans and goals formulated by the Board
Department [ ||  Thefresident | iRinader i ESGHS - (78EH BIFE I
EINH mEN | ikt
. \. J
]
| | |
{ 3\ 4 N\
Secretary Human Resources . .
. R Financial
Compliance and Administration D
epartment
Department Department B 56
BEWAET ANEREITHED e
. J \. J/
{ N\ { 3\ { N\
| | Human Resources | Accounting
Legal Department Department Group
e ANERE s
. J/ \. J . J/
( A { )\ ( A
- Board Secretarial L Administration | Reporting
Department Department Group
EExeNER TTEED HxA
| J/ \ J | J/

Implement specified ESG tasks and report to the senior management about ESG performance and
the progress of tasks contained in the ESG Report
PR ALBEMESCTF - AR E R EERESCRINMESGHE H) TIFER

While promoting the stable an growth of business, the Group is also EHBEBREFIERENRE @ NEBNRNETIRR
committed to the establishment of an environmentally friendly enterprise and 1% * MAEFHMESMEMNRSE K& EIRE - XEE
the maintenance of our high-quality services and operating standards. The K8 ERBEEFRAEHEENZLEBL— I
Group regards social and environmental responsibility as one of the core HANREAFEMRERE @ UREHAT AT KT
values of business operations and is committed to improving sustainability & R FFEEIRIRAARTS ©

and transparency and providing services that can create a sustainable

environment for the next generation.
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VISION AND MISSION

Vision To become a global leading Fintech and game company.

Mission

To provide inclusive financial services and fun playing games to

everyone at any time and at any place.

VALUE——TO BE A SUSTAINABLE VALUE CREATOR

. To enhance employees' individual value.
. To create value for customers.

o To realize enterprise value.

. To maximize investor value.

. To practice social value.

COMMENTS AND FEEDBACK

We make every effort to ensure consistency between the Chinese and
English versions of this Report. However, in the event of any inconsistency,

the English version shall prevail.

The progress of the Group depends in part on valuable comments from
stakeholders. For any clarifications or advice regarding the content of this ESG

Report, please forward your comments and suggestions to IR@forgame.com.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group believes that the feedback from the stakeholders not only
facilitates a comprehensive and pertinent assessment of its ESG performance,
but also helps improve our performance accordingly. Engaging with our
key stakeholders (including our shareholders, business partners, employees,
suppliers, service providers and the community) on an ongoing basis
provides an opportunity for the Group to listen to their concerns and build
up common goals. This will drive our business development initiatives in the
right direction and make our operations sustainable. Accordingly, the Group
communicates with the stakeholders in an open, honest and positive manner

through various channels, including announcements and annual reports.

204

FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2023 Annual Report

2023 Environmental, Social and Governance Report

FESERE

FBF — RAZRELNESBBRNEER AR -

Bh — BESAEMEELET SROEE « 58
bR o

BEERBR —MIFAEERES

. RAEIEE

- EERPE®RE

i

LRRER

\

- EALREABE

- BiTHEeEE

REKE®

BASE— B HERNBE P ERAN K -
BRI - BIARSRARLEE -

AEBNERABNFNENEEER - WH KR
B HeRERREATHEEMBFBERESE @ 8B
TH)E R A % Z IR@forgame.com ©

FrESR

AEERE  FOENQETNEGNEEIRE £
ghEARRETE2EAMT SO E - M ABBRE
A ERMNKRR - BERMANEZFHME(BRERM
IR - RBAIERM BT - HER - RBHEER
MR FEZE  AEERETHSEEMCMHNE
EWRTHARBR - ERRARESHRMNEHER
AEMEEENTRER  WERMNHZETRHE
Hith, - AEBEBBEEAEMERELERE - UA
B BEMERR T RSN EETER ©



20233z

The operation of the Group affects a spectrum of stakeholders, such as  ANEEE ) E
our shareholders, employees, suppliers and service providers, who have {&
different expectations on the Group. The Group will continue to maintain its ~ &J
communications with them for the purpose of improving its ESG approaches. 3%

TE-RIRNHE
B -HEmkREHER
HIZ - REEASHEE R IIRFER
CHERERNITEH -

N @®>.

2023 Environmental, Social and Governance Report .\
RIE - HEBRE)

=E e |

Blang P AR

I RN EEAE TR

C ABE HBR

The below table presents key stakeholders of the Group how the Group FERNA T AEBNEERMNE - URAEEBEAS
communicate with them through variety of engagement platform and fE2 ¥ =l B0 £ AT BR
channels.
Stakeholders Engagement Platform
& 2HEYE
Government and regulatory agencies . Annual reports, interim reports, ESG reports and other public information
BT R B E S - FI - PHIRE CRE  HERERRESANREMAFRER
Investor and shareholders . Annual general meetings and other general meetings of shareholders
BEE LR - BREFAGREMEERARS

. Company website

s DA

. Announcements

VN

. Annual reports, interim reports, ESG reports and other public information

o Fi - FHIRE  RE e REAMEAREMAFER
Employees . Training
BT o ol

c Meetings

.

c Performance evaluation

. REAE

. Leisure activities

- EEHED
Customers c Fax, email and customer service hotline
BF - BE  EBREPREARES

c Product and service feedback

. Em MRS EER
Suppliers . Annual audit
HrER - FEEE

. Meetings

.

c On-site visits

. B ER

EEZERERAF

FEHE2023
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The operations of Forgame have impacts on various stakeholders, while
stakeholders have different expectations of the Group. Looking forward, the
Group will continuously strengthen its communications with its stakeholders,
and extensively collect stakeholders’ opinions on various ways that would
lead to a more comprehensive materiality analysis. Meanwhile, the Group
will also enhance the reporting principles in terms of quantitative, balance
and consistency, and define the presentation of content and information of

the report in a way which better conforms to stakeholders’ expectations.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In accordance with relevant rules and in the context of the latest
sustainability landscape, the Group has determined the following 21 ESG
Materiality topics that are deemed to have impacts on the environment and

society through our operations.

ESG Aspects
RS HERERRE

2023 Environmental, Social and Governance Report

EBENEBTEEZTAFNE  MHOHEHAEES
BETRAME - REARK  AEESES NS LR
NENEE  BRETAPAERZHBREFNENE
ROSBEUOSHERE - AR AREHLERAE
£~ FER-—HUENERRA - ARNFEFHERLE
AR - RERSHABTREBHZR -

EERMME

RBBENGIIRESFTOAIRHEERTET - K%
BEETAT -+ EXTE ELIBERILERB
HMNEEHRBITANMTEE T ERZENEE -

ESG Materiality Topics for the Group
FEEEERE  #HEREATHE

A Environmental Responsibility Al.  Emissions and Waste Generated

RIREM ELNSRREED

A2, Use of Resources
BRER
A3, The Environment and Natural Resources

BRRRRER

A4, Climate Change

FRBI
B. Social Responsibility Bl.  Employment
HERME IEfE

B2 Workplace Health and Safety
TEEMmRFEEL S

B3.  Development and Training
BRNE

B4 Labor Standards
S TR
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[ Emission Management (Air Pollutants and Greenhouse Gas)
FRER(BERLEERE)

2. Waste Management
BEEWER

3, Energy Saving
EEAIREIR

4, Water Consumption
FkER

5. Effluent Discharges
BB

6. Climate Change Strategy
S RIRE (LB

7. Employee Remuneration and Benefits
B THMEAER

8. Diversity and Equal Opportunity
S RTERE

9. Occupational Safety and Health
REZZ LR

10.  Employee Training and Development
BTHIIRER

[, Anti-child and Forced Labor
By T K35 E)
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ESG Aspects
RS HERERSE

RN

2023B1% - HERERHE '

ESG Materiality Topics for the Group
FEEERRE  HERERIHE

B5.  Supply Chain Management
fiEsEE

B6.  Product Responsibility
EmEE

B7.  Anti-Corruption
vet
B8.  Community Investment

HERE

During the Reporting Period, we obtained an update of the materiality
assessment on each aspect of ESG from internal stakeholders, including
directors, senior management and middle management through questionnaires
from the perspectives of long-term development strategies, management
enhancement, urgency of investment and competitiveness advantages
of the Group. We will also continually pay attention to all stakeholders,
constantly review and update the materiality assessment, and include external
stakeholders when the conditions are appropriate, so as to achieve a more
accurate and thorough understanding of the demands of various parties, and
to provide guidance and direction to the enterprise’s business operations and

controls over environmental and social governance.

Based on the analysis and summary of the results of the materiality
assessment from all stakeholders, we have formed the following materiality
assessment matrix, in which following substantial issues are disclosed in
the materiality assessment matrix as the major influential aspects of the
Group's sustainable development. While taking all environmental and social
responsibilities into consideration, the Group will be paying more attention

to these areas.

12,

20.

21.

Supply Chain Management
fhERER

Customer Service Quality
ZPRGEE

Product / Service Quality and Safety
En/REEENR 2

Personal Data Privacy Protection
HAEHELRE

Product Research and Development
EmfE

Intellectual Property Rights Protection
MBERFE

Data Security

gL

Operational Safety Management
EER2ER

Anti-corruption

R&[

Community Investment and Engagement
HERENSE

RBEFEN - BRIIABSHEARETEE KPR
B - BIRET RERIUERBEFEZEAERAE
NMEREST(BREE SREEABRTEEEA
BIRGBHRE HeRERSHTENRNER LT
fli - AT RERDEIMBMEEAT - HERIR
EHERENG - UERTEEHHAINEF SEE
TNEERREEMERENFR  AREEEHR

%

BRHRE RSB ANERRMFIESIRTRA -

REHAERNDEERNEFGEEROONREE - &
PISHE T ATER R HIER - PR ER M HER
RENTIEZEEDNASEIFEERNEIER
EEE  NEBMARREIMEEMER - AKEHL
HEDTUF D ®E o
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20235 - HEREBRSE

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT MATRIX
B R MR E

HEBNEFENRERE
IMPORTANCE TO STAKEHOLDERS

IMPORTANCE TO BUSINESS OF THE GROUP

HEASEERHTE
The following chart shows the level of materiality topics ranking: NTEXRBEGERRE #HENESEENETE L
BT HEE
20,11 Anti-corruption, Prevention of Anti-child and Forced Labor
RES - BIEETR#AL5E
19,3 Operational Safety Management, Energy Conservation
EEZPER - HNRR
157,18 Personal Data Privacy Protection, Employment Remuneration and Benefits, Data Security
BABHEILRE - ETHMMEN - BELE
12,13,14,17 Supply Chain Management, Customer Service Quality, Product / Service Quality and Safety,

Intellectual Property Rights Protection

HEREE  BEFRFEE  Em/RBaEMNLZE - MBEERE
4 Water Consumption

RKER

To address topics that matter most to our stakeholders, we go through in AT EHEHHEMBFMNEREINEE  AREHER
detail the topics of high materiality in the Report. SEEEERNEEET T EFANNA -

208  FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2023 Annual Report



= S "

2023 Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group acknowledges the threats of climate change and realizes that
we have responsibilities to better manage our energy use to reduce
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. As a company providing products for the
new generation, we are keenly aware that our continuing success depends
upon our generation taking responsibility for the environment seriously.
Since the Group is principally engaged in the research and development and
distribution of domestic and international web and mobile games and trading
of electronic equipment and semiconductors which have minimal direct
impact on the environment. The Group’s main contribution to the carbon
footprint comes from indirect GHG emissions. The source of these emissions
is the usage of office equipment in the workplace, including but not limited
to the lighting systems, air-conditioning and office machineries. On the other
hand, the impact of hazardous waste generated in the operation of the

Group is very minimal and therefore are not disclosed in this Report.

We are committed to reducing our impact on the environment. In response
to climate change, the Group has set a series of environmental targets,

which are set out below:

2023B1% - HERERHE

AEERARGRENEE  LTEIINRMBEETE
ZEMERERER - WRDRERBHENR - FR—
MR —RKREHREROQR - HIORED - MR
BRNERE RKBEFFHRENET - ARAE
) ) = 22 2E T 1 =5 B8 () S A L B N A B 2 B ) A 3
R#ET BEFRERFEREFIEBKES  RULHR
BMERTZEEM - NEBE MR EZR A HERHE
BEVREREE o ZRIFMK A TIESAERNRAR
BEREBETRNRBARS  ZREKERBLRE) -
A—HE ARBEETELANEEERENTEER
R AUt WA AR E A

BRBAORIERBERNTE  SEEREREL
AREHET —FIIREREET - ARABFEIKIAT

Level Targets

[ B

Government and Regulatory Agencies Maintain or reduce the 2023-based GHG emission intensity in 2024.
BERBBHEN FE20244F - MEFFSRI A LA2023F MAERR ERBEBHINEE -

Sa N\

L]

RN

Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste Control
BENEZRERYES

Energy Efficiency

BEIR{E K

Water Use Efficiency

F7K R

In 2028, office paper generates a 3% reduction in density from 2023 levels.
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In 2024, maintain or reduce the 2023-based energy intensity.

FE2024%5F » HERFSURA PA2023F RELERREREE ©

In 2028, maintain or reduce the 2023-based water consumption intensity.

FE2028%F - MERFSIUR D PA2023F REENFEKEE o

We strive to minimize our environmental footprint through energy
conservation and waste reduction. The following sections disclose the

Group’s approaches and data on energy consumption, GHG emissions data,
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and waste.
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Aspect Al: Emissions and Wastes Generated
Energy and GHG emissions:

The Group strictly follows the low-carbon development goals of China's
|4th Five-Year Plan, promotes corporate green transformation, and strives
to realize the corporate vision of carbon neutrality. In view of this, we
formulated and strictly implemented administrative policies that regulate
emissions and discharge of exhaust gas, wastewater, waste solids, and GHG
generated in office areas. In addition, we have formulated the “Forgame
Environment Protection Policy” ({Forgame&BIIRIRIEIZE ) ) to provide clear
guidelines on the daily environmental protection for our staff starting with
the details such as management of the use of electricity, water, paper and

office supplies.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not received any complaints
from its customers or any other parties in respect of any environmental
protection issues, and had not experienced any material environmental
incidents arising from its manufacturing activities. At the same time, no
material administrative sanctions or penalties were imposed upon the Group
for the violation of environment-related laws and regulations which had an

adverse impact on its operations.

The operations and activities of the Group does not directly generate any
hazardous air emissions and pollutants. The Group does not generate any
direct GHG emissions (Scope |). Energy consumption and GHG emissions
at the Group are mainly contributed by electricity consumption in offices and
thus we only report on the indirect energy use and indirect GHG emissions
(Scope 2) of the Group. The company's electricity consumption increased
because the company opened new offices in Shanghai and Hong Kong
in FY2023, so corresponding greenhouse gas carbon emissions increased
compared with FY2022.

210

FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2023 Annual Report

2023 Environmental, Social and Governance Report

AlFHE: EENBEBRYREEY

BERRBERBYNK -

AEEREERRETRN A REEKRERE
5 EHEXREEL  BHOBRCEMPMES -

BERI  BMBELREEE TITHREE - HfQ
SRELRER - BK - BEEVAZEREIET

EIR o ptoh - BPIER S T Forgame REIRRIE) « #
B K BE  RARRERSASBATF - KRB
THHBRETEREEMES -

AREFEAN  AEEALBEEEZTPREMEMA
THBEMRREENRF - TMEEEEEERBIEK
EAERREEH - A AREREELERERR
FAABDARE R ME BEATT IR BB & & &
BEEETHZENSEN -

AEBLERF I GERELEMNEEREBHMNIGR
Y AEEWRBEERERBER(HE—) - A&
BRI EEREEREIZEREAEERAE

WFEE - Fith - HAREAEENREEERER K
FIROB=EREBHR(EBE—) - ANEEE202384F -

ARIRLERBEFEIPRE -
T EUH AR
B e

BYREEAME
ERBMBEMELL20202F M F BT



= S "

2023 Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The following charts summaries the GHG emissions of the Group during the

Reporting Period.

FY2023 and FY2022 Summary of annual carbon emissions

2023B1% - HERERHE

TIEXRBAREENHREFEANREREIRE -
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Scope 2 Unit FY2023 FY2022
giE— By —E=E —EC0F
GHG Emission tonnes CO,-equivalent 105 42
R SR AR BRI AW — S tREE

Emission Density (tonnes CO, equivalent per tonnes CO,-equivalent/m? 0.0441 0.0204

square meter of total building area)
BEREBHRER (¥ RNARERE
HRME — S L EE)

Measures to reduce emission

In order to effectively reduce the emissions generated by the Group, the
Group has adopted several measures of employee travels, including but not
limited to strict approval for long-distance travel arrangements to reduce

unnecessary travel and encouraging employees to use public transportation.

Waste Management

Owing to the Group's business nature, the Group in its ordinary course of
business does not produce material hazardous wastes. The non-hazardous
wastes mainly come from various types of recyclable wastes such as paper
and non-recyclable daily office wastes such as office supplies and plastics,
generated from the offices of the Group. We encourage the recycling of
waste. For non-recyclable items, we collect and sort them to be disposed of

by recyclers with professional qualifications on a regular basis.

NS ERE R TR
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RBERBLASBELTELNHNY - ARECDK
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Environmental performance Unit FY2023 FY2022
REXRYE B —EB=MF —T-_HF
Non-hazardous waste generated Kg 4,890 4,930
PELEEREEY Niy
Density of non-hazardous waste generated Kg/m? 2.07 240
ELEEREEYNEE NI P
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Measures to reduce waste generation

The Group actively promotes green office practices, aiming to minimize
the generation of wastes and maximize the efficient use of resources. In
terms of paper consumption, the Group promotes a paperless office, office
papers were from recyclable sources. The Group focuses on purchasing
supplies manufactured from recycled materials such as tissue paper. The
Group also encourages its staff members to scale down font size and reduce
paper margins and set up double-sided printing. We continue to improve
the paperless office, start the OA electronic approval process, reduce the
number of document printing, and recommend the circulation of electronic
documents daily. By strengthening the measures to reduce waste generation,
we aim to achieve the target of maintaining or reducing the generation

density of non-hazardous wastes in the coming year based on FY2023.

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

Forgame understands that effective resource management is closely related
to environmental protection and corporate sustainability goals. Due to the
nature of offices’ operations and business, the major resources consumed
by the Group are electricity, water and paper consuming. The Green Policy

provides various energy-saving measures for office activities, including:

. Enabling the off- timer function of office equipment such as photocopiers,
printers and computer monitors in its offices, allowing such equipment

which have been idle for a long time to automatically power down;
. Setting an appropriate office temperature;

. When purchasing new office equipment, preference will be given to

those with Grade | energy label; and
. Choosing energy-efficient LED lights for lamps.

The Group incorporates environmental issues into its business plan
systematically, including formulating more detailed corporate internal
guidelines for environmental protection, as well as formulating sustainable
development policies and road maps in the long term and proactively

promoting a number of environmental protection campaigns.
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Energy

As energy consumption is closely linked to global warming, the Group
has been striving to improve energy management. Therefore, we have
implemented electricity-saving measures in the office to raise the awareness
of all our employees on environmental protection. We encourage our staff
to turn off all unnecessary lighting systems and other electronic devices,
such as printers, computers, etc., to avoid idling of electrical appliances.
Meanwhile, partial lighting of the office has been installed with light-emitting
diodes instead of compact fluorescent lamps which can reduce electricity
consumption as compared with compact fluorescent lamps. The increase in
power consumption compared to FY2022 is due to the company opening
additional offices in Shanghai and Hong Kong in FY2023. By strengthening
the measures to save electricity, we aim to achieve the target of maintaining
or reducing the generation density of energy consumption in the coming

year based on FY2023.

Energy consumption

2023RE - HERERRE

BEIR

m%&ﬁﬁﬁﬁAﬁ%Mﬁw@% REBE-EHEAN
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Environmental performance Unit FY2023 FY2022
RIEBRHE By —E-CPE —E-CE
Power consumption
FE
Electricity consumption kWh 135,804 62,235
BE TR
Electricity intensity Per Kilowatt/m? 57.11 30.28
mERE FTRE,/ Ik
EHRERERAT FE@s03 213

N @®>.



2023B1E - HERERRE

Water

The major kind of wastewater generated by the Group is domestic sewage,
which will be directly discharged to the local drainage system. Meanwhile, all
the drinking water and toilet flushing water of the Group are provided by
municipal water supplies. There are no issues in sourcing water that is fit for
the purpose. The Group has put effort into reducing water consumption,
such as posting labels to remind and encourage employees to reduce water
usage, always turn off the faucet, and report any water leakage. During the
cleaning of the office, the cleaning workers are strictly controlled for using
of water and frequency of cleaning. As a result, the consumption of water is
saved. Since the company opened new offices in Shanghai and Hong Kong
in FY2023, water consumption has increased compared with FY2022. We
aim to achieve the target of maintaining or reducing the water consumption
density in the coming year based on FY2023 by strengthening water

conservation measures.

2023 Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Environmental performance Unit FY2023 FY2022
RIEERR By —B-=MEF —T-MF
Total water consumption m? 788 312
miEKE 73K

Water consumption intensity m?/m? 0.33 0.152
XREE NI FIAK

Packaging material for finished products

Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group in its ordinary course of

business does not involve any material usage of packaging materials.
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Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group focuses on our business impact on the environment and natural
resources and pursues the best practices for environmental protection. In
addition to complying with relevant environmental laws and regulations and
international standards to properly preserve the natural environment, the
Group has integrated the concept of environmental protection and natural
resources conservation into its internal management and daily operations to

achieve environmental sustainability.

The Group is committed to providing a complete picture of our environmental
initiatives. We strive to build an eco-conscious culture that ingrains positive
lifestyles and habits among employees. We encourage the use of public
transportation. Our event management is also an avenue by which we seek
to integrate sustainability principles. Events are usually held on-site and avoid

the use of disposal utensils.

Aspect A4: Climate Change

The Group is principally engaged in the research and development and
distribution of domestic and international web and mobile games and
trading of electronic equipment and semiconductors. Meanwhile, as part of
the community, we do not live aside from the impact of climate change.
The Group manages the issue with respect to the recommendations of the
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD), which outlines
four components: Governance, Strategy, Risk Management, and Metrics
and Targets. With reference to TCFD's risk categorization, the Group has

identified climate-related risks and corresponding management measures:
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Physical Risks

Increasing frequency and severity of extreme weather events such as
extreme cold or heat, storms, heavy rainfall and typhoons globally may
increase the risk of power shortages in offices, disrupt supply chains and
damage to the Group's assets, which could disrupt the Group's operations
and lead to a reduction in revenues, increase the cost of repairing or
restoring damaged locations. These events also have the potential to put
employees' jobs and lives at risk. This may also disrupt employees’ routine

and even result in human casualties.

When coming across extreme weather conditions, the Group will implement
flexible working arrangements and preventive measures by the instructions of
the local government's emergency management authorities to safeguard the
safety of employees and the Company's property. The Group also actively
implements management policies and conservation measures on the use of
resources in its operations and improves the efficiency of its office facilities.
For example, the replacement of LED lighting systems, reduction in the use
of disposable plastic, daily use of bucket water instead of bottled water, etc,,

to minimize the risk of environmental entities.

Transformation Risks

To achieve sustainable development, the PRC government has implemented
the "2030 Carbon Peak and 2060 Carbon Neutral" targets, and the
Stock Exchange has required listed companies to enhance climate-related
disclosures in their ESG reports. Non-compliance with the disclosure
requirements may damage the Group's reputation. To comply with the
relevant disclosure requirements, the Group has strengthened the training
for the management to be aware of ESG work and has a commissioner

responsible for ESG matters.

The Group's governance is mainly driven by the Board, which sets out a
clear strategy: to achieve eco-efficiency, the delivery of satisfactory goods
and services while reducing environmental impacts and resource intensity,
according to the World Business Council for Sustainable Development. This

pushes us to consider the climate when making business decisions.

The Group commits to continue to pay close attention to the possible
impact of climate change on our business, strategy, and financial performance,

and fully support global climate-related actions.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Aspect Bl: Employment

The Group considers employees as the most valuable wealth and one of the
most important factors for sustainable development and success. The Group
also believes that they are propellent to corporate growth. Therefore, we
are committed to providing an equal, harmonious and diversified working
environment to our employees in order to attract and retain suitable talents
in the competitive labor market and for the purpose of maintaining its

competitiveness in the industry.

Our employment management policies cover resources planning,
performance evaluation, training, dismissal and compensation, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity and
anti-discrimination. The Group has also formulated human resources-related
policies such as the “Forgame Group Employee Recruitment and Entry
Management Policy” ({Forgamefs® & THREE & ABEERFIE)), “Forgame
Group Employee Attendance and Leave Management Policy” ({Forgamefs
B8 TEHHEKBREEFE)),

and Benefits Management Policy” ({Forgame®s

“Forgame Group Employee Remuneration
B8 THMEMNEERE)),

etc, to provide employees with appropriate guidelines for their work.

The Group strictly complies with all employment-related laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the Labor Contract Law of the PRC
({FhEE AR KB ENARE) ), the Labor Law of the PRC ((FFEEAR
HAMBLB)%)), the Regulations on Paid Annual Leave for Employees (B
THEFHFIREBRIERD ), the Law on the Protection of Rights and Interests of
Women ({IFZHEZIRFEIL) ), Provisions of the State Council on Working
Hours of Workers and Staff (Bl #%5 B8 70 8 T TAERERIARTE D), the Law
on the Protection of Disabled Persons (% AMRREE)) and the Social
Insurance Law of the PRC ((L&RERIE)).

The Group has adopted the Employee Handbook ({ & TFff)) to regulate
the workflow of recruiting, induction and training, employee transfers,
dismissals and promotions. The Employee Handbook is aligned with the
local labor laws of the PRC and Hong Kong and includes key corporate
policies. Newly recruited employees are provided with a softcopy of the
handbook which they are required to review during onboarding to familiarize
themselves with the Group’s operations and employment and labor
practices. In the event of changes to local labor laws, the Group will update

the handbook and issue the revised copy to all employees.
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The Group attaches great importance to talent acquisition, and we recognize
that the success of an enterprise is inseparable from its employees at all
levels. In FY2023, we looked for passionate people through a variety of
recruitment channels including internal referral, campus recruitment, social
media recruitment, online recruitment, talent market, and head hunters to
strengthen our workforce. Forgame aims to provide our employees with a
supportive workplace built with a culture of respect and dignity that enables
employees to provide excellent service to our customers.

During the year ended 3| December 2023, to the best of our Directors'
knowledge, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance or
breach of relevant laws and regulations regarding employment.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 60 employees. The data of the
Group's number of employees and turnover by type in the Reporting Period
are listed below:

2023 Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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FY2023
—E=0HF
Total workforce Total 60
BT/ B
By employment type Full time 58
ZEFEERNE D Eal
Part time 2
H
By gender Male 43
RIERIE 5 S
Female 17
7t
By age group 30 or below 15
REBRAREI D 30BREUA T
31-40 23
31 BRE408%
41-50 12
41 BRE508%
51-60 10
515X ZE605%
Above 60 0
60 A &
By employee category Management 14
ZiE B 8RIEID EHEE
General staff 46
EBET
By geographical region PRC 49
i 3R [ o HR A,
Hong Kong 9
BB
United States of America 2

=M
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Employee Turnover: ("
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BEMAE O

No. of staff
BTHAH
Total Overall number ['1(18.3%)
L ERRAABORKELE)
By gender Male ['1(25.6%)
IR B D SHEAR
Female 0(0%)
7t
By age group 30 or below 2(13.3%)
RERARIEI D 305R kA T AL
31-40 6(26.1%)
31 BRZ 40 A
41-50 2(16.7%)
41 BRZESOBRAE
51-60 [(10.0%)
51 EOBRAE
Above 60 0(0%)
6057 A £ A B
By geographical region PRC [1(22.4%)
TR S ERETIRE N
Hong Kong 0(0%)
FBAB
United States of America 0(0%)
KXEAH
Remarks: B EE -
() Turnover rate = Number of employees in the specified category leaving () AR L % =2 S 2 KR I AU BE R BUPR AR5 HA R AR R
employment/number of employees in the specified category at the end of the BEHE -
reporting period.
Employment and employees’ welfare: ERRIESHER :

Employees are one of Forgame’s most valued assets and the cornerstone

of its corporate growth. We note that employees should be respected and

we commit to providing employees with an ideal working environment. The

Group's "Employee Handbook” ({8 TFM)) clearly stipulates policies

on remuneration, recruitment and dismissal, promotion, working hours, rest

periods, equal opportunities, and other rights and benefits.
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Salary, benefits and retirement:

We offer our employees competitive remuneration based on their scope of
work, job responsibilities and individual performance, to reward employee
performance that contributes to the Group’s success. In addition to basic
salary, employees are entitled to benefits including social and medical
insurance in the PRC, medical insurance in Hong Kong, and family-friendly
policies such as marriage leave, maternity and paternity leave, compassionate

leave and funeral leave.

The Group also offers overtime pay and all perquisites and allowances
required by the government. Overtime requests are made in advance,
and eligible requests are supported with benefits such as transportation
allowance, compensated leave and overtime pay. The Group participates
in retirement benefit schemes in the PRC and Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes

Ordinance for all qualifying employees.

Equal opportunity and non-discrimination:

Equal opportunity and non-discrimination practices underscore the culture
we seek to promote in our office. Forgame welcomes candidates from
different backgrounds and adheres to the Codes of Conduct required by our

business partners by:

O Ensuring there is no discrimination directly or indirectly, in employment
decisions, including hiring, promotion, dismissal, wages and access to
benefits on ground of race, color, sex, language, religion, political or
other opinion, age, national, social or ethnic origin, property, sexual
orientation, birth health status, trade union membership, mental
or physical disability, or other status must not be engaged in or

supported;

. Guaranteeing that no employees are subjected to mandatory body

checks that have no relevance to the job function; and

. Providing equal benefits and opportunities to vulnerable groups,
such as migrant workers, which may be subject to less protection by

national law as national workers.
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Aspect B2: Workplace Health and Safety

Minimizing work-related accidents and providing a safety and secure working
environment for all employees are of paramount importance to the Group.
The safeguard for employees’ health and safety is one of the most important
parts of the Group’s corporate control management. The Group is
committed to formulating and implementing efficient safety and health rules
that focus not only on accident prevention, but also on improving employee
efficiency and morale, requiring all employees to follow workplace safety
rules, use necessary safety equipment and report actual or potential safety

hazards.

The Group strictly abides by the labor laws and regulations in PRC and Hong
Kong, including but not limited to Labor Law of the PRC ({#ZE A RHI
Bl 8)%) ), Law of the PRC on Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases (A RFEMBIBLZ R AE) ), Fire Control Law of the PRC
(PR EE AR FEFNE BB E)), Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (8%
¥ 22 RfEREHI) ), Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong (B 7S< & 1 {6

1)) and other laws and regulations.

Our administration department regularly circulates updated information
relating to health and safety practices, and places posters in common areas

to remind our staff.

The Group takes occupational health and safety seriously and will not
tolerate the flagrant disregard of safety protocols. Verbal warnings are issued
if an employee conducts unsafe working practices that pose a danger to

themselves or others. For serious violations, disciplinary action may be taken.

Due to the nature of the Group’s business, employees mainly work in the
office and the chance of encountering work-related injuries is low. The
Group did not have any serious work-related injuries and no lost day due
to work injury during the Reporting Period. There was no record of work-

related fatality in the past three reporting periods.
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Aspect B3: Development and Training

The Group acknowledges the importance of training for the development
of our employees. The professional development of our employees not
only ensures that our workforce is equipped with the skills to meet the
expectations of our customers but also demonstrates our willingness to
invest in our employees. The Group provides training on techniques and
management skills for staff at each level of our company structure and in
various departments depending on operational needs. Our employees are

also encouraged to study for professional qualifications and advanced studies.

All our employees receive induction training for their roles and ongoing on-
the-job training covering topics such as corporate governance codes and
ESG market seminars, budgeting and expense reimbursement, connected
transactions training and management systems training. To foster a
harmonious workplace for our dedicated staff, we also organize corporate
team building activities to enhance their understanding and cooperation
with the team. The following tables summarize Group training data at the
corporate level only, which includes but not limit corporate governance
codes and ESG market seminars, budgeting and expense reimbursement,

connected transactions training and management systems training.

Training Hours Completed of Employees during the Reporting Period

2023 Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B3 : R RIFI

AEBRFARBEIHEERRELRERZ - EBEM
BEXRERTEEFRRANEEKAGNRETFPHENR
Bt TRARERARMESABARRER - AEE
RBFEEFTE - BARABHREENRSEFMMET
RHERMLREERENE - RATSEREREZENRE
KEREE -

BM2RERYSRSABERE N ARSI LA
ERIEY - ERRECKES TRIRESCHIZENE
BERE  BELRBRARE  BBMIZEIRELHE
BIEERE - REE—EMENTERSE - BATA
STHEMTRAREKRREDY - UWEFTETHEBKL
RBALIEREKAE - TRBMAARBEEELEER
BEIER - BREAEEH TRIRESGHSEHRLER
W BERERRE BB S5 RE S EE
FX B -

RE & FERIES 5T 15 5 2

Total Average Training Hours Per Employee
Bt SEEETFHRIREH
Number of training hours @ 138 230
=llisE
By gender Male 76 177
IR B S
Female 62 3.65
it
By employee category Management 82 5.86
8 TR EI D EIEE
General employees 56 12
EEBET
Remarks: B EE -

2) Average Training Hours = Total training hours during the reporting period/
Total number of employees at the end of the reporting period.
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To incentivize our employees, reward excellence and enhance staff morale,
a transparent and fair appraisal system is operated by our remuneration
committee and the Group’s management. Carried out quarterly, the
employee performance evaluation process provides the basis upon which
management can decide on staff promotion and salary adjustments.
Performance management is a complete system as well as an ongoing

process, which includes the following key phases:

Year-end Performance Assessment:

F RS -

*  Appraisal of targets and
performance

HERERERNTE
Performance recognition

AR

Ongoing Coaching and Feedback:
ﬁkh%&ﬁ%

Management support

BEEEXE

Promotion of abilities and skills

RIBED R RE

Aspect B4: Labor Standards

The Group supports and abides by all regulations aimed at eradicating child
labor and forced labour. In our area of operations this includes Labor Law of
the PRC ({HFZE AR ZEFIH LB EE)), Law of the PRC on the Protection of
Minors (CHRZE A R HFIBIRA G AMRFEE)) and Employment Ordinance
of Hong Kong (BACIEEIEHI) ). Apart from that, the Group’s Employee
Handbook clearly states that any form of child labor and forced labor is
prohibited within the Group. To prevent inadvertent hiring of child labor,
age verification is conducted using official identification before confirmation

of employment.
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Target Setting:
REBR
* Based on operational objectives

EREERRE

Personal Development Setting:
BABREN
. Management support
BEEXE
Identify strengths and weaknesses
BAlREZE
Confirm development plan

BERRTE
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Moreover, the Group forbids any form of forced labor or modern forms of
slavery such as trafficking. Forcing employees to work excessive overtime,
confiscation of travel/identification documents, deposits or compensation are

subtle forms of forced labor and are against the Group's policy.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no non-compliance with laws

and regulations in relation to the prevention of child labor or forced labor.

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

Forgame adheres to the principle of transparency and implements the
values of honesty, integrity and fairess in supply chain management. When
selecting the suppliers, the Group considers factors such as quality of
services and products, past performance and reputation of the suppliers
and performance in suppliers’ environmental and social responsibility. VWhen
dealing the goods and services with suppliers, approval procedures are in
place to ensure that supplier engagements are monitored and approved by
the appropriate level of management. The Group expects major suppliers to
observe the same environmental, social, health and safety and governance

policies in their operating practices as those adopted by the Group.

Forgame shall continue to enhance its own environmental and social
performances, and continue to perfect its supply chain management. In the
long run, the Group shall cooperate with its business partners closely, and
encourage communication and exchange experiences among its partners to
achieve sustainable development, so as to facilitate the sustainable growth of
the whole industry. During the Reporting Period, the Group partnered with
a total of 45 suppliers.

Number of the suppliers by geographical region

2023 Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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REFHE X EE S

Region Unit FY2023
1 & By —EBo=HEF
Mainland China Supplier 37
A e
Hong Kong Supplier 7
BB ]
United State of America Supplier 0
EEH &
Other parts of Asia Supplier |
TMEAITT i
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Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

As a leading technology enterprise, the Group is committed to continuously
improving its quality of products and services and provides its customers
with the best experience by focusing on the management of various aspects
such as operation and customer communication. We also conduct a strict
review on the products and services provided to ensure compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations. During the Reporting Period, there was no
official record of complaint about products or services, and there were no
sold or shipped products that were subject to recalls for safety and health
reasons.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to the products and services
provided by the Group during the Reporting Period.

Intellectual property

The Group is committed to preserving the achievements of our research
and development team and avoiding infringement of the intellectual property
rights. We have established the "“Guidelines on Prevention of Legal Risks
in the Research and Development and Operations of Online Games” ({#¥
BRI R 2 N B EVA R R #4E5])) and the “Intellectual Property
Management Policy” (KEIFEEEIEHIE)) to reinforce the protection
of intellectual property right by formulating standard operating procedures.
The Group's intellectual property includes copyright, trademark, patent,
trade secret and other rights endowed by the Patent Law of the PRC ({H
ZEAREFMBEFEFE)), the Trademark Law of the PRC ({HZE AR
MEFGIZIEY ), the Copyright Law of the PRC (i EE AR MBI Z (1
7A)), the Administrative Measures on China Internet Domain Name (B4
BRI Thae S BB THEIENIE) ), the Measures for Software Products
Administration ((EXEEEMEEPIE) ), the Anti-unfair Competition Law of
the PRC ((HFZEARKEMER T EFHEFIE)) and other applicable laws and
regulations, under which games, software, artwork, new technology, skills
and other relevant rights are covered. Confidentiality is great importance in
order to protect intellectual property. All involved parties are not allowed
to disclose or deliver relevant information to others during the product
development and creation process.

The Group has already formulated the relevant quality assurance and recall
process. When the material delivery, the warehousing department receiving
clerk in accordance with the packing list as well as the order form to verify
the name of the material, specifications, quantity and so on. If the receiving
clerk of Warehousing Department finds that the quantity, variety and
specification are different, he/she should notify the Business Department
to deal with it. For the shortage of quantity, it should be indicated by
the supplier in the delivery order and confirmed by the signature of the
supplier's delivery personnel, and confirmed by the supplier's communication
with the Business Department. For cases requiring return and exchange
operations, and cases where purchases do not match arrivals, the purchasing
staff will contact the supplier for processing.
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Data protection policies

Ensuring data privacy is essential to maintain our relationships with customers
and business partners. To comprehensively manage the potential information
security risk and handle relevant emergencies, the Group established the
Information Technology Internal Control Handbook (€% B & &l :1i7 A 2P
TH|IFM) ) in accordance with the “Control Objectives for Information
and related Technology” issued by ISACA (Information Systems Audit
and Control Association) to ensure a stable, safe and efficient system that
can support the Group's long term development in internet business. The
handbook provides clear guidance on risk management in different stages of
operations to mitigate information security risk. In addition, an emergency
response system is also outlined in the handbook to enable the staff to
understand the steps to be taken when there is an issue related to the
information security found. As safeguarding the information security requires
continuous efforts, the handbook places emphasis on the importance of
regular reviews on the procedures and measures to make sure that the

solutions to be provided can efficiently mitigate the corresponding risks.

To minimize risks of data loss and leakage, extensive data security measures
are adopted including the limited and controlled access right of critical
information, encrypted password and data transmission, and back up data
at two or more different locations in our internal servers and further in
our long-distance disaster recovery system. Meanwhile, the Group has also
implemented the “Group Visitor Control Management Procedures” ({%
BFEEHE

prevent potential data losses.

EHIE)) to restrain the internet access of our visitors to

The Group believes that all staff members are the important contributors
to a safe and reliable system. Hence the handbook clearly defines the
responsibility of each department and staff on how to ensure the system
is reliable. Employees are required to sign a confidentiality agreement to
acknowledge their duties in keeping the identified information confidential,
including sales data, business plans, personal information of customers and
intellectual property. The access right control in relations to customer
personal data is set up so that our employees get limited access to sensitive
data on a need-to-know basis. In addition, the Group has also formulated
the “Software Management Policy” ((EEEFREFEAEEHIE)) and the
“Malicious Software Management Procedure” (%5 B55 2 BXBS 1L I & 12
H/E)) and other guidelines as precautionary measures to minimize the
information security risks by strengthening our staffs awareness over the

risks from external software.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material non-compliance or
violation of relevant laws and regulations in relation to intellectual property

and privacy.
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Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

To embrace business integrity for sustainable operations, the Group
promotes fairness and integrity by deterring unethical business practices,
including bribery, fraud, corruption, extortion and money laundering. The
Group also provides induction training to all new directors and employees.
The training covers areas including but not limited to, anti-corruption laws
and regulations and the company's requirements in relation thereto, as well
as the code of ethics that all directors and employees must comply with.
The code of ethics in the Employee Handbook emphasizes the importance
of abiding by statutory laws and regulations to staff and states clearly
the responsibility for violations. We will make our best effort to ensure
employees understand the code of ethics and make it a part of daily business
activities in order to create a positive corporate culture placing integrity and

honesty on a high priority.

The Group strictly abides by the relevant laws and regulations related to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, including but not limited
to the Company Law of the PRC ({H#EARLFIBIARE)), the Anti-
Money Laundering Law ({RE$%) ), the Anti-unfair Competition Law of
the PRC ((FEARKEFMBERTEEFHFIE)), the Basic Standards for
Internal Control of Enterprise (1B A EPIEHIERIRE) ) and the Interim
Provisions on Banning Commercial Bribery (AR ILREEBRITANY
fTHITE) ), Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and other laws and regulations
and has formulated the “Forgame Anti-Corruption Management Policy”
((Forgame S B R FEMEIRH|E ) ) to provide clear monitoring procedures
and reporting channels. If any employees find any violations such as bribery,
corruption and fraud, he/she can report to the head of the Group's internal
control department through the reporting email or the reporting hotline
provided by the Group. The department is responsible for investigating and
collecting evidences and submitting the same to the audit and compliance
committee. The audit and compliance committee will determine the
corresponding penalties for the violations based on the nature, severity and
evidences obtained, including but not limited to punishment, dismiss the

employees, and report to relevant regulatory authorities for such violations.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not violated any laws or
regulations in relation to corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering and there were no legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought

against the Group or its employees known to the Group.
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Aspect B8: Community Investment

As the market places focus more on corporate behaviors and social
responsibilities, the pursuit of maximizing financial returns to reward
shareholders is no longer the only goal of corporate management. Forgame
pays close attention to the community where it operates and is aware of the
importance of different stakeholders’ expectations. The Group firmly believes
that balancing the interests between shareholders and other stakeholders
is the only way to achieve long-term business development in a stable and

healthy manner.

The Group is committed to bringing enjoyment and happiness to our
users and the community which the Group belongs to. Focusing on the
next generation of our society, the Group actively supports education and
research on fintech and looks forward to more innovative research being

conducted by the younger generation in this area.
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